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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Director(s)”) of
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present to our
shareholders the annual report for the fifteen months ended 31 March
2020 (the “Period”). During the Period, the Group recorded a turnover
of approximately HK$1,091 million (for the twelve months ended 31
December 2018: approximately HK$779 million). During the Period, due
to the increase in turnover of sales of properties, increase in net gain in
fair value of investment properties, decrease in impairment of stock of
properties and loss in fair value of derivative financial instruments, as
well as decrease in administrative expenses, the Group experienced a
turnaround from loss to profit and recorded profit attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$6 million (for the twelve months
ended 31 December 2018: loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$213 million).
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Dedicated to developaing Agrrculture

Stncere an servang Agraculture

JINHE 2R

The partial share offer in respect of shares of the Company made by Wai
Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (“WYT"; stock code: 897) and
parties acting in concert with it closed in February 2020. Accordingly,
WYT is interested in 53.37% of the issued shares of the Company and
became a controlling shareholder of the Group. The completion of the
partial share offer marked the official transition of the Group to become a
member of WYT and Wang On Group Limited (“WOG”; stock code: 1222),
which not only strengthened the shareholder base of the Group, but was
also conducive to the Group in generating synergies with the controlling
shareholder in terms of assets and businesses. WYT owns a widely-
known Chinese medicine and health food brand - “Wai Yuen Tong”
and the world renowned Western medicine and health food brands —
“Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, being the industry leader in the Chinese
and Western pharmaceutical and healthcare sectors. WOG, being one
of the largest leasing operators of fresh markets in Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“Hong Kong"), operates fresh markets in Hong
Kong under the fresh market brand of the next-generation “Allmart”,
and manages fresh markets through its joint venture under the “Huimin”
brand in various districts of Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”"). As a result of the completion of the
partial share offer, the Group will be accounted for as a subsidiary in the
financial statements of WOG and WYT. Accordingly, we have aligned the
financial year end date with the holding company to save the expenses
incurred in the preparation of separate financial statements.
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

During the Period, the global economy remained volatile with various
unstable factors. According to the statistics announced by the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2019, the growth of gross domestic
product (“GDP”) decreased to 6.1%, whereas the growth of gross value
of agricultural production in China was approximately 3.1%. As a key
segment of necessities for people’s livelihood, the growth and the overall
business environment of the agricultural industry remained relatively
steady. Moving forward to the first quarter of 2020, China and global
economy was devastated amid the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(the “COVID-19") around the world. Despite the impact of the COVID-19,
the agricultural industry in China maintained relatively steady growth
momentum. The added value of agriculture (farming) grew by 3.5%
against the adverse trend and became a bright torch in the first quarter
reporting season.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has successfully built a nationwide chain of wholesale markets
and a network of modern agricultural produce logistics center, linking
the southern and northern regions and across the eastern and south-
western parts of the PRC. During the Period, the Group managed a total
of 11 agricultural produce exchange markets in the Mainland China,
covering Wuhan, Huangshi, Suizhou, Luoyang, Puyang, Kaifeng, Yulin,
Qinzhou, Xuzhou, Huai’an and Panjin, spreading across various provinces,
including Hubei Province, Henan Province, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, Jiangsu Province and Liaoning Province.

During the Period, the agricultural produce exchange markets
maintained stable operations in general and generated remarkable
results for the Group. In the first quarter of 2020, despite the outbreak of
the COVID-19 in China, the Group’s Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and
By-Product Exchange Market (“Wuhan Baisazhou Market”) in Hubei
Province maintained normal operation under the “supply guarantee”
policy. Its remarkable contributions towards “supply guarantee” in
Wuhan were recognized by the Supplies Security Section under the
Wuhan’s COVID-19 Epidemic Prevention and Control Division. Wuhan
Baisazhou Market was titled “An Outstanding Enterprise in Contributing
to the Epidemic Prevention and Control and Supply Guarantee in
Wuhan”. Most of the agricultural produce exchange markets of the Group
maintained normal operations during the COVID-19 epidemic. As a series
of agricultural policies have been introduced to safeguard food supply,
the impact on our business was relatively small. Since the outbreak of the
COVID-19, we have taken various stringent hygiene measures towards all
employees, commercial tenants and visitors, and also strengthened the
awareness of employees on anti-epidemic education.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Asset-Light Operation Model Becoming a Growth Engine

During the Period, the asset-light operation model began to bear
fruit. Since March 2018, the Group has been jointly operating Suizhou
Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Suizhou
Market”) through a joint venture established with an independent third
party. Being a benchmark project of the Group that adopts the asset-
light operation model, the operating performance of Suizhou Market
was satisfactory during the Period. It is expected that the asset-light
operation strategy will become the direction for the development of
the Company’s business. At the same time, the Group continues to
integrate resources internally and externally, strengthen cost control and
enhance operating efficiency internally, while implementing a series of
supplier management, customer relationship and product quality control
enhancement projects externally, actively diversifying its businesses so
as to increase sources of income.

Adopting Big Data Scientific Management

As a leading agricultural produce logistics and warehouse operator
in China, in recent years, the Group has actively upgraded the
environmental safety standards of the projects. In addition, to create a
safe business environment for commercial tenants and customers, it has
successively improved the strong electricity monitoring alert system for
various agricultural produce exchange markets to monitor electricity
and fire protection on a real-time basis. During the Period, in line with
the development trend of electronic operations, the Group also began
the upgrade of the lease transaction system in order to improve the
customer experience holistically. Currently, the Group has completed the
relevant set up for three of its markets and, in the future, will successively
set up the relevant system in other markets.

Launching Online and Offline Omnichannel Synergistic
Operation Model

In recent years, internet economy in China has been booming. The Group
is exploring for opportunities to build a business model combining
online and offline operations. While taking a prudent approach and
moderately allocating resources to develop e-commerce activities, we
have provided “delegated purchase and inspection, subcontracting to
point” distribution services with Wuhan Baisazhou Market as the pilot
site, thus linking online and offline customers of agricultural produce
exchange markets.
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Expanding New Business Model Integrating the Upstream,
Midstream and Downstream of the Agricultural Produce
Exchange Industry Chain

Leveraging on the business coverage of the wholesale markets and the
strengths of the upstream supply chain of agricultural products, the
Group has begun the extension of its business scope to the downstream
segment of the industry chain. During the Period, the Group planned
to establish the fresh food retail specialty store business in the areas of
agricultural produce exchange markets. We opened franchise stores on
e-commerce platform to gradually shape the retail business platform
that integrates physical and virtual businesses. We targeted to expand
the business segments in the midstream and downstream agricultural
products, and endeavored to develop the new retail business of “physical
store + e-commerce”. In addition, the Group actively tapped into the
e-commerce sector and sought other business opportunities with
partners that generate synergies.

CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs of the PRC has promulgated
the Plan for High Quality Development of New Agricultural Operators
and Service Providers (2020-2022) (the “Plan”), setting out the detailed
plan for high quality development of new agricultural operators and
service providers including family farms, agricultural cooperatives and
agricultural social service organizations. The implementation of the
Plan will certainly facilitate further development of new agricultural
operators and service providers and drive the enhancement of the level
of agricultural modernization. In addition, according to the Plan, by
2022, the level of marketization, professionalism and informatization
of agricultural operation service will be significantly improved, and the
service chain will be further extended. The government also encourages
the acceleration of rural logistics networks and the construction of
distribution centers in rural areas with certain conditions, thus providing
more favorable policy conditions for revitalizing rural industries and
promoting agricultural modernization.

In addition, according to the “No. 1 Central Document of 2020”, the
central government reiterated that the work of “Three Rural Issues”
should be strengthened and undertook to push forward the investment
in agricultural produce exchange markets, expand agricultural
produce network and build logistic infrastructure and storage facilities
of agricultural products as well as improve regional cold storage
infrastructure.

The Group is well positioned to capture the industry opportunities
arising from the above national policies while adhering to agricultural
produce exchange markets as the Group’s principal business. Within the
PRC, the Group will, leveraging on its well-established nationwide chain
of wholesale markets and a network of modern agricultural produce
logistics center network, capitalize on its supply chain strengths to
steadily expand its business. By focusing on the asset-light business
strategy, the Group can maximize the added value of the wholesale
markets through capitalizing on its modern management experience and
expertise in the operation of agricultural by-products. The Group will also
continue to optimize the assets and resources allocation while making
use of existing business layout to extend the industry chain and seeking
diversified development of related business segments with a view to
enhancing operational efficiency and flexibility.
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Due to strong market demand for food and agricultural by-products
merchandising service, the Group will also continue to engage in the
business of procurement of food and agricultural by-products. The
management will consider expanding the distribution business and bulk
trading business. On the one hand, it can supplement the development
of the agricultural by-products wholesale business. On the other
hand, it can support the Group’s business development of integrating
e-commerce.

As to business digitalization development, the Group will centralize its
resources to develop barcode tracking system for agricultural products
to optimize food safety through tracking the origin and distribution
process of agricultural products.

Outside the PRC, in response to the PRC government’s “Belt and Road
Initiative”, the Group will take a prudent approach while actively
exploring business opportunities with wholesale markets or buyers
within the ASEAN region and seeking to replicate the success of the
Group’s operation model to overseas markets.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting sustainable business development. During the Period, the
Company participated in the “Love Teeth Day” and “Green Day” organized
by The Community Chest of Hong Kong and the “Orbis World Sight Day”
organized by Orbis International. Since the outbreak of the COVID-19,
the Group’s projects in the Mainland China donated tons of supplies
of various types including surgical face masks, alcohol-based hand
sanitizers, rice, vegetables, fruits and instant noodles to government
departments, anti-epidemic frontline workers and residents in the
affected areas to contribute to daily life needs of citizens and support
the country’s efforts in fighting the COVID-19 epidemic. Shouldering
its corporate social responsibilities, the Group has for long adopted
environmental protection measures to ensure that our construction
projects and business operations comply with environmental protection
laws and regulations of the PRC, while providing support to various
education aid and poverty alleviation activities over the years.

Please refer to the environmental, social and governance report in this
annual report for details of the Group’s environmental protection, social
and governance related work during the Period.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Company’s
shareholders, bondholders, business partners and customers for their
continued trust and support over the past year. Meanwhile, | would also
like to thank my fellow board members, the management team and staff
members at all levels for their dedication and remarkable contribution to
the growth of the Group.

Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEF W R D

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

Turnover, Gross Profit and Segment Result

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, the Group recorded a
turnover of approximately HK$1,091 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$312 million as compared to that of the last financial
year. The below table summarises the key financial performance of the
Group:

For the fifteen months ended
31 March 2020
F=A=t+—-HI

HE-2-®
+EME
Agricultural
Produce

Exchange
Market
Operation
RERER
REME

BBELE
BOBEDL

HKS$ million and
approximate %

O Z=
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For the year ended
31 December 2018
BE-Z-\$+-A=t—-AIt
FE
Agricultural
Produce
Exchange
Property
Sales

MEHE

Turnover EEE 468 623 1,091 379 400 779
Gross Profit e 342 197 539 278 113 391
Segment Result HEEE 246 86 332 126 73 199
Gross Profit to Turnover EfEEEEC B 73% 32% 49% 73% 28% 50%
Segment Result to Turnover ABEEREEEIAD 53% 14% 30% 33% 18% 26%

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$1,091 million for
the Period, representing an increase of approximately 40% as compared
to approximately HK$779 million of the last financial year, which was
mainly due to the increase in property sales recognition and the extra
three months of reporting data for the Period. The Group recorded a
gross profit and a segment result of approximately HK$539 million and
approximately HK$332 million, respectively, for the Period (year ended
31 December 2018: approximately HK$391 million and approximately
HK$199 million, respectively), representing an increase of approximately
38% and an increase of approximately 67%, respectively, as compared to
that of the last financial year. The increase in gross profit and segment
result was mainly due to increase in rental income, implementation of
effective cost saving policies and the extra three months of reporting
data for the Period.

Other Revenue and Other Net Income

The Group recorded other revenue and other net income of
approximately HK$20 million for the Period (year ended 31 December
2018: approximately HK$21 million). The decrease was mainly due to
decrease in management fee income.

$%EéKﬂHFaﬁﬁd%%%%%W,091,000,000%%7‘5 '
% —BfR A & 49779,000,000% JTIE HN4)40% °
EE%EEEEAﬁEWE’J#@%%%i‘M&K%Fﬁ;ﬁ_fl
ARESEME - AEBERAPBBEBEFN RS F
#1455 549539,000,00058 7T & £7332,000, oooﬁéx
(BEZZ—)/\F+ZA=Z+—HBLFE : 3%
391,000,0007% 7T & #7199,000,00078 7T) * & £ —8F
BEED IIEIN4I38% K18 I14967% ° FEF| K2 &6
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FRANEUR AN HAR 2 ) = (8 B SR BUBRFT L -

- Y=L HEI PN
AEBRNABRHEESEMRE REMFRALY
20,000,000 L (HE2—E—N\F+=-_A=+—HI
FE ¢ 4921,000,00087T) * RO FEHNERE
ONIN: X
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General and Administrative Expenses, Selling Expenses and
Finance Costs

General and administrative expenses were approximately HK$207 million
for the Period (year ended 31 December 2018: approximately HK$235
million). The figures remained similar with that of the last financial year
notwithstanding the extra three months of reporting data. During the
Period, the Group continuously implemented cost saving policies. Selling
expenses were approximately HK$97 million for the Period (year ended
31 December 2018: approximately HK$50 million). The increase in selling
expenses was mainly due to the increase in sales and promotion activities
during the Period. Finance costs were approximately HK$227 million
for the Period (year ended 31 December 2018: approximately HK$212
million) and such increase was mainly due to the extra three months of
reporting data. During the Period, the Group continuously repaid debts
early to reduce finance costs.

Net Gain in Fair Value of Investment Properties and Written
Down of Stock of Properties

During the Period, net gain in fair value of investment properties
was approximately HK$149 million (year ended 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$S5 million). The increase in net gain was mainly due
to increase in fair value of Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market (“Luoyang Market”) and Wuhan Baisazhou Market.
Stock of properties value was written down for approximately HK$3
million for the Period (year ended 31 December 2018: approximately
HK$67 million) mainly due to written down of stock of properties of
Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Kaifeng
Market”).

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Financial Instruments

During the Period, net loss in fair value of derivative financial instruments
was approximately HK$2 million (year ended 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$18 million) due to the rise of share price of the
Company during the Period.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

The profit attributable to owners of the Company for the Period was
approximately HK$6 million as compared to the loss of approximately
HK$213 million in the last financial year. Profit from operations before
fair value changes and impairment, interest and tax was approximately
HK$255 million and the profit from operations was approximately HK$399
million for the Period (year ended 31 December 2018: approximately
HK$127 million and approximately HK$98 million, respectively). The
profit attributable to owners of the Company was mainly due to (i)
increase in turnover of sales of properties; (ii) increase in net gain in fair
value of investment properties; (iii) decrease in impairment of stock of
properties and loss in fair value of derivative financial instruments; and
(iv) decrease in administrative expenses, as compared to the financial
year ended 31 December 2018.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN WKk DM

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any payment of final dividend for
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 (year ended 31 December
2018: Nil). No interim dividend for 2019 was paid to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) during the Period (year ended 31
December 2018: Nil).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the Period, the Group was principally engaged in management
and sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets
in the PRC. In order to cope with future growth and provide more
comprehensive services to our customers, the Group strives for
diversification of income streams in order to align its corporate
mission and goals with the aim to delivering long-term benefits to
the Shareholders. From traditional operation of our wholly-owned
agricultural produce exchange markets to cooperation projects with
local partners, the Group took a further step to adopt the asset-light
model. Leveraging on our reputation in the industry, we have started
the provision of management service in recent years. In 2018, we made
small amount of investment and provided management service to a local
partner in Suizhou, the PRC, to operate an agricultural exchange market
under our brand name. With the satisfactory performance of Suizhou
Market, the Group will continue to adopt the assets-light operation
model strategy. On the other hand, notwithstanding the COVID-19
in early 2020 which affected our market operating performance, our
markets still achieved a positive result during the Period. During the
Period, the Group further extended its scope of business to provision
of food and agricultural by-products merchandising services to our
customers. Moreover, both of the operating performance and market
ranking of our markets showed steady progress.
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WUHAN BAISAZHOU Market
\ HEBDM™IE

Agricultural Produce Exchange Markets

Hubei Province

1.

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Market is one of the largest agricultural produce
exchange operators in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated
in the Hongshan District of Wuhan City, the PRC with a site area of
approximately 310,000 square metres and a total gross floor area
of approximately 190,000 square metres. In 2019, Wuhan Baisazhou
Market was awarded top 10 of agricultural produce exchange market
by China Agricultural Wholesale Market Association. The award was
a sign to the market contribution being made by the Group’s effort
and expertise as an agricultural produce exchange market operator
in the PRC.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 significantly affected the market
performance of Wuhan Baisazhou Market in early 2020. When the
epidemic began, the Wuhan local government limited the market
operation scale as a control measure which lasted until late April
2020. Afterwards, the market fully resumed normal operation.
Wuhan Baisazhou Market was titled “An Outstanding Enterprise in
Contributing to the Epidemic Prevention and Control and Supply
Guarantee in Wuhan” by the Supplies Security Section under the
Wuhan'’s COVID-19 Epidemic Prevention and Control Division for its
remarkable contributions towards “supply guarantee”.
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2. Huangshi Market 2. AN

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market EOLERBEERRSMB(ERTE]AEAE
(“Huangshi Market”) is a joint venture project of the Group ER-_T-—hAF-AKUMNELER  K&H
founded in January 2015 with an operating area of approximately TE#923,000F 75K - EATEMILENZERT -
23,000 square metres. Huangshi city is a county level city in Hubei EBERVZ R D IMNTIZLA00R E « (ERIRBREE
and around 100 kilometres away from Wuhan Baisazhou Market. mXS5ms  BATHERAEINZEADMNTHS
Huangshi Market, as a second-tier agricultural produce exchange EEBRAER  REAXRBEMRS - K=
market, created synergy effect with Wuhan Baisazhou Market by ToTFY BREGTERRAEEREXEEA
increasing vegetables and by-products trading. In early 2020, the TSGR E R -

operating performance of Huangshi Market was significantly affected
by the COVID-19 outbreak.



3. Suizhou Market

Suizhou Market is another joint venture project of the Group founded
in March 2018. It occupied approximately 240,000 square metres.
The Group pursued asset-light operation business model by taking
up the contract management rights to operate this market. In early
2020, the operation performance of Suizhou Market was moderately
affected by the COVID-19 outbreak. During the Period, the operation
performance of Suizhou Market improved and grew gradually.
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Henan Province INEEES)

4. Luoyang Market 4. B TS
Luoyang Market is the flagship project of the Group in Henan BEMIEAAREBNPENEAE < ERER -
Province, the PRC, with a site area and a gross floor area of 1R EFE S AR SR AE 5 Bl A #9255,000F 72K
approximately 255,000 square metres and approximately 223,000 K #7223,000F 5K o (LBBENEE  &i5™
square metres, respectively. After several years of operations, the SHEBRAZLIRE  PHEEXRRERES
business performance of Luoyang Market gradually improved, while LAME o AANEIE - RB IS IR SIS R
both occupancy rate and vehicles traffic were satisfactory. During HER  BAKERFSAME  EPLES
the Period, Luoyang Market began to record sales recognition and KER_Z— ) \FHREEILINEI34% °

the operation performance was satisfactory, of which the operation
turnover increased by approximately 34% as compared to that of the
last financial year of 2018.



Puyang Market

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market
(“Puyang Market”) is one of our joint venture projects in cooperation
with a local partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Period,
Puyang Market began to record sales recognition and resulted in an
increase of approximately 113% in turnover as compared to that of
the last financial year of 2018.
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6. Kaifeng Market 6. FHilm45
Kaifeng Market, with a gross floor construction area of approximately FE ™S 2 BREEmMEL 120,000 5K - A
120,000 square metres, is the third point of market operations for the BOAREBERFETEEAELREMR HTES
Group to facilitate the building of an agricultural produce exchange PEEHE=—EATISEERS - RAHHE -
market network in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Period, HRHFMSEARN  ASTHEMSNEER
the operation performance of Kaifeng Market improved due to the B e

closure of competitor’'s market.



Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region

7. Yulin Market

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin
Market”) is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange
markets in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC (“Guangxi
Region”) with a site area of approximately 415,000 square metres
and a total gross floor area of approximately 196,000 square metres.
It consists of various types of market stalls and multi-storey godowns.
As an energetic agricultural produce exchange market, Yulin Market'’s
continuously remarkable performance proved that it has become
one of the key agricultural produce exchange markets in the Guangxi
Region.

The operation performance of Yulin Market was encouraging,
achieving a revenue growth of approximately 7% for the Period as
compared to that of the last financial year of 2018.
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8. Qinzhou Market 8. #INTE
Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market PMEERBEMR S THTRMNTE]) 2 82
(“Qinzhou Market”), with a gross floor construction area of SEMETEA180,000F FK » AEMAEBERER
approximately 180,000 square metres, is the second point of market MEREVREMRIMERENE _EAmi5E
operations for the Group to facilitate the building of an agricultural BIREL o NAHIR  AEBBZITRAKMT S
produce exchange market network in the Guangxi Region. During the ZHEERE EEEERR T - \FHREF
Period, the Group focused on enhancing the operation performance S IN#I45% o

of Qinzhou Market and it resulted in an increase of approximately
45% in operation turnover as compared to that of the last financial
year of 2018.
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XUZHOU Market
ERAIN TR

Jiangsu Province

9. Xuzhou Market
Xuzhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Xuzhou
Market”) occupies approximately 200,000 square metres and is
located in the northern part of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The market
houses various market stalls, godowns and cold storage. Xuzhou
Market is a major marketplace for the supply of fruits in the city and
the northern part of Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

The operation performance of Xuzhou Market was steady. Being a
mature market of the Group, the turnover of Xuzhou Market during
the Period was approximately HK$55 million, which was more or less
the same as compared to that of the last financial year of 2018.
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10. Huai’an Market 10. EZ 5

Huai’an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market HERRERBEMR S TEH(DERTHDURE
(“Huai’an Market”), with contracted operating area of approximately BIgREKELT » Bl P4 EHEE4)100,000F
100,000 square metres, is located at Huai’an city of Jiangsu Province, FK - HELZME PR _E—RAF+AKRAE
the PRC. Phase one of Huai’an Market had been in operation since i EHELRTISMERRGHRMIZEBK AR
October 2015 and it was expected that the performance of Huai'an BHME o RAHRE  ARRIEEGERBRH
Market will gradually improve after the market has become more BHEZREMD  BEEFABREAERNGEATH
mature. During the Period, the Company is under a legal dispute with WERMIFE36IETE -

the joint venture partner, the details of which are disclosed in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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Liaoning Province EEE

11. Panjin Market 11. 88T 45
Phase one of Panjin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange BERERBEMR S TS (BEHE) —H2
Market (“Panjin Market”), with a construction area of around 50,000 EEMIEA50,000F 5K » AAEEEEEAE
square metres, is the first attempt of the Group’s investment in FRESLAIREZIEE - BEMBSERRTE
Liaoning Province, the PRC. Panjin Market focused on the trading of BEEWTEHRERITRSE - RAEIME - BHW5
river crabs and held regular market fairs. During the Period, Panjin FKIRIBRE -

Market performed steadily.



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN WKk DM

Food and Agricultural By-products Merchandising

As more and more projects had become mature with stable operation,
the Group saw robust demand for food and agricultural by-products
merchandising services in our markets. Therefore, the Group strategically
extended its footprints to the business of food and agricultural by-
products merchandising during the Period. Leveraging on the Company’s
advantages in market penetration, products knowledge, price, quality
sensitivity and suppliers’ network, the Group launched its first pilot site
in Wuhan Baisazhou Market. This new business was gradually improving.
The management will closely monitor the performance of this new
business and will launch this new service to other markets when the
business model becomes mature.

E-commerce Development

With the robust mobile network and widespread use of intelligent
mobile devices in the PRC, the Group allocated resources to e-commerce
development linking online and offline customers in our agricultural
produce exchange markets. During the Period, the management
continued to slow down the e-commerce development and strengthened
the existing resources of customer base and e-commerce business. The
Group would also explore opportunities to cooperate with other business
partners in this area.

Cyber Risk and Security

With information technology system and internet network playing a
vital role in our operation, the Group has designated professionals to
monitor and assess potential cyber risks. Both hardware and software
are kept track with appropriate Company’s policies. Potential cyber
risks and network security are the key concerns of the management,
thus the Group has formulated policies and procedures to regulate
the use of internet, physically safeguard system power supply and
regularly update internet protection system and firewall to separate the
Company’s intranet from the outside network. Designated professionals
are responsible for the day-to-day monitoring on any abnormal network
activities.

Data Fraud or Theft Risk

The Group continuously reviews and updates its internal control
system on data and information access. Appropriate policies have been
adopted to protect data, and access permissions are only granted to the
authorised personnel. The management believes effective policies and
procedures are in place to avoid data fraud or theft risk.

Environmental and Social Risk

Due to the nature of business, the Company will face a moderate
environmental risk if serious and permanent climate change happens
in the PRC. Such risk may cause an adverse impact on agricultural
production and affect the Company’s turnovers from market operation
and property sales.
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COVID-19 Outbreak

During the COVID-19 epidemic, the PRC government have imposed
various measures to constraint the spread of the virus. This included
limiting the locomotion of people and vehicles and strengthening
the markets hygiene controls. These measures lower the market
trading activities and related commission income. Since agri-products
exchange market is a critical link on daily necessaries supply chain, the
local governments closely monitored markets’ operation and assisted
the operation back to normal via different measures. These included
reducing governmental fees and taxes, and compensating business loss
during the epidemic. As the epidemic began to be under control, the
trading volume and income of our markets have been gradually restored
to normal level.

PRE-CONDITIONAL VOLUNTARY PARTIAL
CASH OFFER TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
CONVERTIBLE NOTES OF THE COMPANY

On 26 September 2019 (as supplemented by the announcement of the
Company dated 28 November 2019), Goal Success Investments Limited
(the “Offeror”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WYT, announced
that Kingston Securities Limited, on behalf of the Offeror, would make
a pre-conditional voluntary partial cash offer to acquire such number
of shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) from the Shareholders which
would result in the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it holding
a maximum of 75% of the issued share capital of the Company at the
partial share offer price of HK$0.091 per Share (the “Partial Share Offer”)
and to acquire a maximum of 46.86% of the outstanding principal
amount of the 7.5% convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes” or the
“CN") due 2021 issued by the Company on 19 October 2016 (subject to
adjustment in the event of a change in the issued share capital of the
Company) at the partial CN offer price of HK$0.2275 for each outstanding
HKS$1 face value of the CN (the “Partial CN Offer”, together with the
Partial Share Offer, collectively the “Partial Offers”).

On 29 January 2020, the Offeror announced that it had received (i) valid
acceptances in respect of 5,582,473,153 Shares from the independent
Shareholders under the Partial Share Offer, representing approximately
56.09% of the Shares in issue as at that date; and (ii) no valid acceptance
under the Partial CN Offer. The Partial Share Offer was approved by the
independent Shareholders holding 5,056,235,475 Shares, representing
approximately 70.70% of the Shares held by the independent
Shareholders as at that date. The Offeror further announced that as at 29
January 2020, all the conditions to the Partial Share Offer were fulfilled
and the Partial Share Offer became unconditional in all respects. The
Partial CN Offer, which was subject to and conditional upon the Partial
Share Offer becoming or being declared unconditional in all respects,
accordingly became and was declared unconditional in all respects.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN WKk DM

On 12 February 2020 (i.e. the final closing date of the Partial Offers), the
Offeror announced that it had received (i) valid acceptances in respect
of 5,704,449,061 Shares from the independent Shareholders under the
Partial Share Offer, representing approximately 57.31% of the Shares
in issue as at that date; and (ii) no valid acceptance under the Partial
CN Offer. According to the terms of the Partial Share Offer, the Offeror
acquired and became the owner of 5,312,395,685 Shares, representing
approximately 53.38% of the Shares in issue as at that date.

For details, please refer to the announcements dated 26 September
2019, 16 October 2019, 15 November 2019, 26 November 2019, 28
November 2019, 16 December 2019, 31 December 2019, 7 January 2020,
14 January 2020, 29 January 2020 and 12 February 2020, respectively
jointly published by the Offeror, the Company, WOG and WYT, and the
composite offer and response document dated 7 January 2020 jointly
issued by the Offeror and the Company.

CHANGE IN FINANCIAL YEAR END DATE

As detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 January
2020, the Board has resolved to change the financial year end date of the
Company from 31 December to 31 March in order to enable the Group
to rationalise and more efficiently use its resources. Accordingly, the
current financial year end date of the Company is 31 March 2020 and
these consolidated financial statements cover a 15-month period from 1
January 2019 to 31 March 2020.

The Company changed its financial year end date in order to align the
Company’s financial year end date with its ultimate holding company.

RECLASSIFICATION OF INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES TO STOCK OF PROPERTIES

During the Period, the Group has reclassified the investment properties
of Luoyang Market to stock of properties in the amount of approximately
HK$374 million due to the change of sale plan and business strategy to
increase sale of properties.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had total cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately HK$340 million (31 December 2018:
approximately HK$488 million) whilst total assets and net assets were
approximately HK$5,139 million (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$5,604 million) and approximately HK$1,485 million (31 December
2018: approximately HK$1,595 million), respectively. The Group’s gearing
ratio as at 31 March 2020 was approximately 1.0 (31 December 2018:
approximately 1.0), being a ratio of total bank and other borrowings,
bond, convertible bonds and promissory notes of approximately
HK$1,811 million (31 December 2018: approximately HK$2,085 million),
net of cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$340 million (31
December 2018: approximately HK$488 million) to shareholders’ funds
of approximately HK$1,485 million (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$ 1,595 million).

As at 31 March 2020, the ratio of total interest-bearing debts of
approximately HK$1,811 million (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$2,085 million) to total assets of approximately HK$5,139 million (31
December 2018: approximately HK$5,604 million) was approximately
35% (31 December 2018: approximately 37%).

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 19 October 2016, the Company issued the Convertible Notes with the
aggregate principal amount of HK$500 million which will mature on 18
October 2021, which entitle the holders to convert into the Shares at a
conversion price of HK$0.4 per Share. During the Period, no Convertible
Notes were converted into Shares by the Convertible Notes’ holders. As
at 31 March 2020, the Convertible Notes with the outstanding principal
amount of HK$264.8 million was in issue.

LISTED NOTES DUE IN 2024 (“LISTED NOTES")

In May 2014, the Company established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term
note program. The Listed Notes issued under the program are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
by way of debt issue to professional investors only (stock code: 5755).
As at 31 March 2020, the Listed Notes in the principal amount of
HK$290,000,000 remained outstanding.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS, PLEDGES AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2020, outstanding capital commitments, contracted
but not provided for, amounted to approximately HK$398 million
(31 December 2018: approximately HK$214 million) in relation to the
purchase of property, plant and equipment, construction contracts
and operating lease agreements. As at 31 March 2020, the Group had
significant contingent liabilities in the amount of approximately HK$0.6
million in relation to the guarantees provided by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company to our customers in favor of a bank for the
loans provided by the bank to the customers of our project (31 December
2018: approximately HK$0.2 million).

As at 31 March 2020, certain investment properties and stock of
properties with carrying amount of approximately HK$1,633 million (31
December 2018: approximately HK$1,669 million for land use right and
properties) were pledged to secure certain bank borrowings.

The Group did not have any outstanding foreign exchange contracts,
interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives as at 31 March
2020. The revenue, operating costs and bank deposits of the Group
were mainly denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and Hong Kong dollars.
The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks
mainly arising from its operations in mainland China and certain bank
deposits denominated in RMB. Currently, the Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. During the Period, due to the currency
fluctuation of RMB against Hong Kong dollars, the Group had been
considering, from time to time, alternative risk hedging tools to mitigate
RMB currency exchange risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEBT PROFILES AND FINANCIAL PLANNING

As at 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018, interest-bearing debts of
the Group were analyzed as follows:

As at 31 March 2020
R-B=-ZFF=H=+—H

Approximate

Carrying

amount

IREE

HKS$ million

BEABT

Bond Issuance BITES 177

Convertible Notes AR R 247

Financial Institution Borrowings % Bl EEE 411
Non-financial Institution FEMBEEER

Borrowings 600

Promissory Notes HH R 376

Total ok 1,811

Note:

Save as the financial institution borrowings which were made in RMB with floating
and fixed interest rates, other items as mentioned in the above table were made in
Hong Kong dollars or RMB with fixed interest rates.

As at 31 March 2020, the bonds issued by the Company will mature in
September 2024; the Convertible Notes will mature in October 2021;
the financial institution borrowings of the Company will mature during
the period from April 2020 to May 2029; the non-financial institution
borrowings of the Company will mature in September 2022; and the
holders of the promissory notes gave an undertaking not to indorse,
assign, transfer or negotiate the promissory notes and enforce payment
by presentation of the promissory notes until the final determination
of a court action or further court order. Under the said undertaking, the
promissory notes will no longer fall due for payment by the Company
on 5 December 2012. Details of the undertaking and the court case are
disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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As at 31 December 2018
RZE—-—N\F+=ZA=+—H

Approximate

effective Carrying effective

interest rate amount interest rate

B ERRFIZE BREE BAOBRFE

(per annum) HKS million (per annum)

(Z%) BEBTT (54)

12% 1,026 11%

12% 235 12%

6% 448 6%

10% - -

5% 376 5%

2,085
B3

BRARBZzSHEBESRZIHREEBETEIN  £X

R EMBIRE LB TR ARBIZEE B XHE -

RIZE-ZF=ZA=1+—RH AQAETHEHFS
REZF-OAFAARY  JRRERESR T ——
FHATNY  ARFASHBBRESR T -F

FUNAZ-Z-_NFRAHMEE KRR
BEEEER-Z-—FNARH  MANZEE
BARHTHEARZEEE D  SEEER
Tt BN BA R BRI EEERF
AR R FIREE — BT L A LE o RIR iR
#ARAITBEARZE——F+_ARBAEALE
BEHEAR - BEAREREARRGZFHBRARE
NGRS BTSRRI E36 5 FE o

33



34

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN WKk DM

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's treasury policy includes diversifying the funding sources.
Internally generated cash flows and interest-bearing bank/non-financial
institution loans were the general sources of funds to finance the
operation of the Group during the Period. The Group regularly reviews
its major funding positions to ensure that it has adequate financial
resources in meeting its financial obligations. In order to meet interest-
bearing debts and business capital expenditure, the Group is from time
to time considering various alternatives including equity and debt
financing including but not limited to new share placing, rights issues
of new shares, financial institution borrowings, non-financial institution
borrowings, bonds issuance, convertible notes, other debt financial
instruments, disposal of investment properties and sales of stock of
properties.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENT OF
E-COMMERCE BUSINESS

Shenzhen Gudeng Technology Limited (“Shenzhen Gudeng”),
established in 2015, was an indirectly-owned subsidiary of the Group
carrying out the business of e-commerce and electronic trading platform
of the Group. For the compliance of the PRC regulatory requirements,
on 11 July 2016, the Group entered into an agreement to transfer its
entire interest in Shenzhen Gudeng to a nominee shareholder and
further entered into a series of contractual arrangements after obtaining
the Internet Content Provider license issued by the Communication
Authority of Guangdong Province to enable the Group to manage and
operate the Internet Content Provider services of Shenzhen Gudeng.
During the Period, the above said contractual arrangements were
renewed for another 3 years and still valid and effective between the
nominee shareholder and the Group.

MATERIAL VALUATION METHOD OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND REVIEW OF
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The investment properties of the Group were stated at fair value as at
31 March 2020. The fair value was arrived at based on the valuations
carried out by an independent firm of qualified professional valuers.
The professional valuers are professional members of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with experience in the location of the properties
being valued. The valuations are confirmed to be in accordance with
HKIS Valuation Standards 2017, which incorporates the International
Valuation Standards (IVS). The professional valuers valued the properties
on the basis of capitalisation of the net income derived from properties
rental and made reference to the asking or transaction price of market
comparable. For inventory portions of the properties, Direct Comparison
Method is adopted based on the principle of substitution, where
comparison is made based on prices realised on actual sales and/or
asking prices of comparable properties. Comparable properties of similar
size, scale, maturity, character and location are analysed and carefully
weighed against all the respective advantages and disadvantages of
each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of market value.
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The material valuation methods of investment properties valuation have
been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) and the Board.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO OUR INDUSTRY
AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, the Group operated 11 agricultural produce
exchange markets across 5 provinces in the PRC. In view of the ever-
changing business environment in the PRC, the followings are the
principal risks, challenges and uncertainties faced by the Group,
including: (1) fluctuation in the exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars, which affects the translation of the PRC assets and liabilities from
RMB to Hong Kong dollars in the Group'’s financial reporting, in view of
which the Group periodically monitors the exchange rate fluctuation, and
prepares effective hedging mechanism to tackle when adverse condition
happens; (2) difficulty in obtaining adequate financing, including equity
and debt financing, to support our agri-products exchange markets that
are capital intensive, in view of which the Group regularly reviews the
short-term and long-term liquidity level to prepare for the future needs,
as and when appropriate; (3) preserving or enhancing our competitive
position in the agri-products exchange markets industry, in view of
which the Group has designated personnel to monitor our competitors’
activities and formulate effective strategies to preserve our competitive
position; (4) maintaining or enhancing the level of occupancy at our agri-
products exchange markets, in view of which the Group launches, from
time to time, various marketing campaigns to retain existing tenants and
to attract new tenants; (5) obtaining all necessary licenses and permits
for the development, construction, operations and acquisition of agri-
products exchange markets, in view of which the Group hires sufficient
local staff with professional qualifications to ensure all processes
comply with local laws and regulations; (6) the effect of changes and
amendments in the national and local laws and regulations, especially
the laws and regulations relating to agri-products exchange markets, on
the Group’s operations and development, in view of which the Group
maintains a relatively flat organizational structure with high autonomy
to enable fast reaction to changes; and (7) the effect of close down
agricultural produce exchange market when COVID-19 may probably
break out in our markets.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN W& DM

RABREZEG([BREERNEFEEEHM
%xﬁ%%ﬁ@ﬂ’ﬂéﬂﬁ@ﬁﬁ

BFRRMATEREBRLENRARE
E

T_TF=A=+—8 AEERFEHAEE
—(EAREMR ST - BRPREHIRR
WMEEE  ASEEHUTEZRRE - kERTHE
FHEZE B MARBEBTEREFS =Y
EAREENBREFHBARBELZBSTHHEE
ERAE  RUEAEEEHERERRKS) - WEH
AR B 81 TE A R SR AR (2) BELAER
SRAME (BEREREHRE)ALHRMER
TENREMRZ NS  REAEETHEHEH
REREIRENE SKT - B AR R T M EE
BRFHEAKRMRRERR S TIHTENRFI
i - ?%EEZIK%lE?E?TLE/\EEQ?%%?;HEE’J/E%
I 1 TE B RV R B MR AP BRI AL ¢ (4R FF Sk
ReHRMNEERRSHHHEE 7%lit$%l7
Eﬁ’ﬁﬁxﬁﬁf%’\ﬁ@] A B IRA P I3 3 E

S5
L

Fal
tomE A
W—F\I

I

K

IS BHR% - EZR - CERKBRERR ST
i%ﬁ']ﬁﬁﬁ)d\zzﬁﬁﬁp Al R AEEEREMA

,\#ﬁéﬁﬁ’]*f@ﬁl NHERABBRIETE S
ERRER I%&ﬂﬁ?‘iﬂ’]i@&&iﬁ(tﬁ%ﬁ
E%%Eu“uﬁ?%m%m/fé&/ﬂﬁ)“ EHEESS
BmeERERNTE Fmt$%lf’ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ$
EEBRERRERRN - AERLEHE(E
HRE  RORBMOEERR SIS LRI
BIARERTSNTE -

35



36

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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DEPENDENCE OF EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is adopting market remuneration practices by reference to
market terms, company performance, and individual qualifications and
performance and well-organized structure management, no key and
specific employee would materially and significantly affect the Group’s
success. Meanwhile, there were no major customers and suppliers which
accounted for over 5% of the Group’s income and no major suppliers
which cannot be replaced by other appropriate suppliers. In this
connection, no customers and suppliers would have material impact on
the success of the Group’s business performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The operations and development of agri-products exchange markets
are subject to a variety of environmental laws and regulations during
their construction and operations. Major environmental impacts are
caused by waste and wastewater generated during the construction
and operations of the markets. The Group has, in compliance with
the PRC environmental law, engaged independent environmental
consultants to conduct environmental impact assessments on all of
our construction projects in all material aspects. The environmental
investigations conducted to date have not revealed any environmental
liability that would be expected to have a material adverse effect on our
business condition. Upon completion of construction of each market,
the environmental authorities inspect the site to ensure compliance
with all applicable environmental standards. All our construction
projects comply with the “three simultaneities” principles stipulated in
the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC. For further details of the
impact of environmental laws and regulations on our operations and our
environmental policies, please refer to our Environmental, Social and
Governance Report in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Period, the Group complied in material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. The Company also complied with
the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Securities and Futures
Ordinance and the laws of Bermuda during the Period. The Group
continuously reviews newly enacted laws and regulations affecting the
operations of the Group, if any, and provides relevant trainings and
guidance to the staff.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for the subsidiaries of the Company, there was no significant
investment held, nor was there any material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries during the Period. As at 31 March 2020, the Group did
not have a concrete plan for material investments or capital assets nor
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries.

LITIGATION

References were made to the announcements of the Company dated
11 January 2011, 22 May 2012, 19 June 2014, 4 July 2014, 13 January
2015, 14 January 2015, 28 May 2015, 8 January 2016, 11 January 2016,
24 May 2016, 31 August 2016, 19 April 2017, 11 May 2017, 27 December
2018 and 11 March 2020 in relation to the civil proceedings (the “Legal
Proceedings”) in the PRC initiated by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang")
and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co., Ltd
(“Tian Jiu”) as plaintiffs against the Company as defendant and joined
Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-Product Grand Market Company
Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”) as third party.

Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu alleged that the share transfer agreements in
relation to the acquisition of an aggregate of 90% interest in Baisazhou
Agricultural by the Company from Ms. Wang as to 70% thereof and Tian
Jiu as to 20% thereof (the “Contended Agreements”) were forged. They
sought an order from the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province, the
PRC (the “Hubei Court”) that the Contended Agreements were void
and invalid from the beginning and should be terminated and claimed
against the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural all relevant profits of
Baisazhou Agricultural which were attributable to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu,
together with costs of the Legal Proceedings.

The Company received the judgment from the Hubei Court in relation to
the Legal Proceedings (the “Hubei Court Judgment”) in June 2014. By
the Hubei Court Judgment, the Hubei Court dismissed the claims of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu, and ordered Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to bear the legal
costs of the Legal Proceedings. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed an appeal
notice to the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC (the “Supreme Court”).
On 13 January 2015, the Company received the judgment (the “Beijing
Judgment”) handed down from the Supreme Court in relation to Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu’s appeal against the Hubei Court Judgment. The
Supreme Court ordered that (i) the Hubei Court Judgment be revoked; (ii)
the Contended Agreements were void; and (iii) acknowledged that the
HK$1,156 million sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”) shall be the
actual agreement being performed by the Company, Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu.
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In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu jointly commenced legal proceedings
against the Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM”) of the PRC alleging
that MOFCOM failed to discharge its statutory duties for handling their
application submitted in January 2015 for revoking the certificate of
approval and letter of approval in relation to the Contended Agreements
(the “Application”). The cases were accepted by the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court (the “Beijing Court”) in May 2015. The
Company and Baisazhou Agricultural then made an application to join
the cases as third party. On 8 January 2016, the Company received a
judgment dated 31 December 2015 issued by the Beijing Court, by which
the Beijing Court demanded MOFCOM to handle the Application again
within 30 days.

On 23 May 2016, the Company received a decision (the “Decision”)
issued by MOFCOM dated 19 May 2016 to the effect, among other things,
that its approval issued in November 2007 (the “Approval”) in relation
to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and shall remain
to be in force. In making the Decision, MOFCOM considered that the
revocation of the Approval as requested by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu may
cause serious damage to the public interest.

Upon the making of the Decision by MOFCOM that the Approval shall
not be revoked and shall remain in force in August 2016, the Company
noted that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu had brought another administrative
proceedings (the “Administrative Proceedings”) to the Beijing
Court. According to a writ dated 3 August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu requested the Beijing Court to revoke the Decision and to order
MOFCOM to make a decision to revoke the Approval. According to a
notice issued by the Beijing Court dated 26 August 2016 together with
the writ which was served to the Company on 30 August 2016, each of
the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural has been added as third party
by the Beijing Court to the Administrative Proceedings.

On 18 April 2017, the Company received the judgment of the Beijing
Court dated 31 March 2017 (the “31 March Judgment”) stating that the
request made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to revoke the Decision lacked
both legal and factual basis and was not supported by the Beijing Court.
Accordingly, the Beijing Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu.

On 10 May 2017, the Company received a notice of appeal dated 8 May
2017 (the “Notice of Appeal”). By the Notice of Appeal, Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu appealed against the 31 March Judgment and requested for an
order that (a) the 31 March Judgment be set aside and (b) MOFCOM to
make a decision to revoke the Approval.
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On 30 August 2017, the hearing for the appeal against the 31 March
Judgment took place. On 24 December 2018, the Company received the
judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated 20 December 2018
(the “20 December Judgment”). By the 20 December Judgment, the
Beijing High People’s Court dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu and upheld the ruling of the Beijing Court as set out in the 31 March
Judgment.

On 4 March 2020, the Company noted the judgment of the Supreme
Court dated 31 December 2019 (the “31 December Judgment”). By the
31 December Judgment, the Supreme Court dismissed the application
of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and for dismissal of the 31 March
Judgment and the 20 December Judgment.

In other words, the approval issued by MOFCOM in November 2007 in
relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and remain
to be in force, and the Company continues to be the legal and beneficial
owner of Baisazhou Agricultural under the PRC Laws.

Separately, in May 2015, in view of the Beijing Judgment, the Company
issued a writ against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu which was accepted by the
Hubei Court. The Company sought an order from the Hubei Court that
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge
its contractual duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM.

On 10 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the Hubei Court for
a freezing order in respect of the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou
Agricultural. According to the order of the Hubei Court dated 26 May
2017 (the “26 May Order”), the Hubei Court granted a freezing order
as against the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural. The
Company then applied for review of the 26 May Order which was
dismissed by the Hubei Court on 12 June 2017.

On 26 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to add a counterclaim for
return of the Company’s 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (70% for
Ms. Wang and 20% for Tian Jiu). On 10 April 2019, in light of the outcome
of the legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu, the
Company applied to the Hubei Court for withdrawal of the Company’s
claim. On 11 April 2019, the application of the Company was granted.
According to the order of the Hubei Court dated 23 December 2019, the
counterclaim made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed by the Hubei
Court.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN WKk DM

As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the Company, (i) the Supreme
Court only ordered the Contended Agreements void, but it did not make
any ruling regarding the acquisition; and (ii) the Beijing Judgment will
not directly lead to any immediate change of ownership of Baisazhou
Agricultural. The Company continues to be the legal owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural until and unless the revocation of: (a) the Approval; and (b)
the registration of the transfer of shareholding by the Hubei Province
Administration for Industry and Commerce. The Company will take
all necessary actions in the PRC as advised by its PRC legal advisors in

response to the Beijing Judgment.

For other detailed information of the litigation cases, please refer to note
36 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 1,171 employees (31 December
2018: 1,229), approximately 98% of whom were located in the PRC.
The Group’s remuneration policy was reviewed periodically by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board'’s remuneration
is determined by reference to market terms, company performance,
and individual qualifications and performance. The Group aimed to
recruit, retain and develop competent individuals who were committed
to the Group’s long-term success and growth. Remunerations and
other benefits of employees were reviewed annually in response to
both market conditions and trends, and were based on qualifications,
experience, responsibilities and performance. The Company has adopted
a share option scheme on 3 May 2012 for the primary purpose of
providing incentive to selected eligible persons to take up options for
their contribution to the Group. During the Period, no share option was
granted.

PROSPECTS

During the Period, the trade friction between the PRC and the United
States has slowed down the economic growth. However, such friction
has little impact on the Group’s operation which is mainly focused on
domestic market. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to build a
nationwide agricultural produce exchange network by leveraging on its
leading position in the industry, readily replicable business model, well-
advanced management system, information technology infrastructure
and quality customer services.
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Since the outbreak of the COVID-19, most of our agricultural produce
exchange markets keep operating and taking various contingency health
and hygiene measures for the sake of the health and safety of all of our
employees, tenants and visitors. The outbreak inevitably has caused
adverse impact to the performance of our markets, especially during
early 2020.

Once again, agricultural development is the PRC central government'’s
first priority policy for the next consecutive years. In 2020, the Central
Committee of Communist Party of China and the State Council of China
released the “No. 1 Central Document of 2020". The document promises
to promote investments in agricultural produce exchange markets,
expand agricultural produce network, build logistic infrastructure and
storage facilities of agricultural products and improve regional cold
storage infrastructure. On the other hand, it is expected that the “Belt and
Road Initiative” policy will drive the overall growth of the PRC economy
and provide a sustainable way for the PRC’s continuing development.

In order to capture new business opportunities, the Group has taken
further steps to expand its operations in the PRC by cooperating with
different partners with “asset-light” strategy. Taking the advantage of its
leading position in the industry, the Group is confident that this strategy
and business model will deliver long-term benefits to the Company and

the Shareholders as a whole.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Chun Hong, Thomas, aged 56, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Group in February 2009 and is the chairman, the
chief executive officer and an authorised representative of the Company.
Mr. Chan is the chairman of the executive committee and a member of
each of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. He has extensive experience in strategic planning and
day-to-day operation management. Mr. Chan is an executive director
of Wang On Group Limited, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
and Easy One Financial Group Limited, and the non-executive chairman
of Wang On Properties Limited, all of which are companies listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a degree in Accountancy and is
a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. LEUNG Sui Wah, Raymond, aged 52, joined the Group as an
executive director of the Group in June 2010. Mr. Leung is also an
authorised representative, the chief financial officer and the company
secretary of the Company, a member of each of the executive committee
and the nomination committee of the Company, and the chief
executive officer of Hongjin Agri-Products Group Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company. He is responsible for overseeing the
agricultural produce exchange market operation of the Group in the
PRC. Mr. Leung had over 27 years of experience in business operation,
business development, corporate governance, mergers and acquisitions
in Hong Kong and the PRC. He is a council member of the Chinese
Agri-products Marketing Association, which is the national leading
association of the agricultural wholesale markets in the PRC. He holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration and Master of Arts from The
University of Hong Kong and City University of Hong Kong, respectively.
He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He is also a full member of
Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply and Certified Information
Security Manager of Information Systems Audit and Control Association.
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Mr. YAU Yuk Shing, aged 56, joined the Group in April 2012 and was
appointed as an executive director of the Group in December 2012. Mr.
Yau is a member of the executive committee of the Company. He has
more than 25-year management experience in property development,
engineering and construction businesses. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Yau worked for certain companies with a wide spread of experience in

real estate industry and project management.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. NG Yat Cheung, JP, aged 64, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director in February 2009. He is a member
of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. On 16 March 2012, Mr. Ng
was also appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
of the Company. He holds an associate degree in arts in business data
processing from Chabot College in the United States. He holds offices
as a director with a number of private companies which are principally
engaged in technology, property development, insurance, finance and
property holding. Mr. Ng is an independent non-executive director of Tao
Heung Holdings Limited and was an independent non-executive director
of VSTECS Holdings Limited (formerly known as VST Holdings Limited)
(resigned in May 2016), both of which are companies listed on the main

board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LAU King Lung, aged 73, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2013. He is the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of each of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Lau has over 40
years’ experience in planning, design and contracting of civil engineering
and building works in the PRC or Hong Kong. Mr. Lau is a chartered
engineer with his profession registration both in the United Kingdom
and Hong Kong. He remains a retirement member of The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers after his retirement. He participated in the design
of the initial systems of the Mass Transit Railway in Hong Kong after
his graduation from civil engineering department of Imperial College,
University of London for 6 years with Freeman Fox and Partners, London.

Mr. WONG Ping Yuen, aged 46, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director in November 2018. He is the chairman of the
audit committee and a member of each of the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong has been a
certified public accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 2001, and obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the University of Adelaide in August 2005. Mr. Wong
was appointed as a partner of ITA & Co. in 2009 and has changed to the
sole-proprietor of ITA & Co. since 2015. He has been a partner of SRF
Partners & Co. since 2014.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHIER Ping Cheung, aged 58, joined the Group in September 2012.
He is the chief operating officer (Team One) of the Group and a director
of eight subsidiaries of the Group, namely Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural
By-Products Grand Market Company Limited, Xuzhou Yuan Yang Trading
Development Company Limited, Huai’an Hongjin Mingyuan Agricultural
By-Products Logistics Company Limited, Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-
Products Wholesale Market Limited, Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural By-
Products Wholesale Market Limited, Yulin Hongjin Logistics Development
Limited, Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural By-Products Logistics Park
Limited and Huai'an Hongyuan Agricultural By-Products Wholesale
Limited. He is responsible for project operation and management in the
PRC. Mr. Chier has over 26 years of experience in accounting in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Mr. LEUNG Wai Hong, aged 40, joined the Group in January 2015. He
is the chief operating officer (Team Two) of the Group, an executive
director of Henan Hongjin Gudeng Entrepreneurship Incubator Limited
and a director of Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale
Market Limited and Kaifeng Hongjin Zaiying Agricultural By-Products
Wholesale Market Limited, all of which are subsidiaries of the Group. He
is responsible for operation and management of the Group’s projects
in Kaifeng city, Puyang city and Luoyang city in the PRC. Mr. Leung
holds a Bachelor Degree in Accounting from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He is a member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and has over 16 years of experience in accounting in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

Mr. WONG Ka Kit, aged 48, joined the Group in August 2009. He is the
chief operating officer (Team Three) of the Group and a director of Yulin
Hongjin Agricultural By-Products Wholesale Market Limited in Guangxi
Region, a subsidiary of the Group. He is responsible for the business
operations and sales in Guangxi Region. Mr. Wong holds a Master Degree
in Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist University and a
Bachelor (Hons) Degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
and was a member of the 4th Guangxi Yulin Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Wong has over 25 years
of experience in general management and finance in the PRC and Hong
Kong.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® F1 B2 532

P L1 VNG

aREEE

BIREELLE  BES8m - N —ZFNLAMAKX
B - BRAAEELE-RERELEE  IRAE
EETNA\RMBARRZADNRIERATSE
BAR - HRINBRFEEERERAR - ELRER
REBERMABRAE  EMRELBERIE
THERAR  BEARERIERBETIHERA
Al EMREMRERERAT - BMNEDMNES
ERMEEERARRELRREEERMESR
ARAETES -HAETHZBEELEERER -8
SERFERESEEE260FSHESR

REBELEE  BF40m R_T—HF-AMA
AEE - FRAKELE_REFELR  XA/AX
SEMBARTAREATRIERLRZAERIRZ
HITES  UREERERRERBETSARA
AERHZESRRAERBETSAERARZE
= RABAKENPREMID  BEH BB
HAZEERER -REABABEPIXARENG
AREELEL - FRARAFILARSHMAGZE

8 o REENTBEREEEABI6FSIER -

ERHEE  BF48m R-TTAFENAAMA
AEE - FRAKELE=-"REFELR LA/AX
SERETBRZME AR EMEEREIERL
MEERRAZES - RAREAMEZEBEE
MEE - BEARARERGABZ IHEREL
BURBEBETRBZGFRE L (RE)BM - &
REBEHMAGNABNRHFARGINAGZE
& URSEEHEARBAHE SHEEREMNTD
FNEZEEGE - BEAERPELEEZEBE
I N AT 73 T R 25 S A BR o



—

LT —ZFEFIR o 2020 Annual Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YUNG Chi Hung, Quincy, aged 52, joined the Group in May 2018.
He is the financial controller of the Group responsible for finance
and accounting matters. Mr. Yung holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration and a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong and the University of Wisconsin-
Madison, USA respectively. He is a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yung has over 21 years of experience in
finance and accounting matters in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Mr. LEUNG Wai Kai, Ray, aged 45, joined the Group in April 2013.
He is the general manager of Human Resources Department of the
Group and is responsible for human resources management and
talent development. Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from Hong Kong
Baptist University and he is a qualified Human Resources Professional in
the PRC. Mr. Leung has over 23 years of experience in human resources
both in the PRC and Hong Kong.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
BE HEREABRS

ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the fourth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
of the Group, presenting the environmental and social impacts of our
business activities as well as efforts made for creating sustainability
values for our stakeholders during the reporting period from 1 January
2019 to 31 March 2020.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring the integrity
of this report. To the best of its knowledge, this report fairly discloses
details of topics material to the Group, their impacts and the Group'’s
performance in addressing ESG issues. This report has been reviewed and
approved by the Board.

The Chinese version of this report is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. The English version shall prevail in
case of any conflicts between the two versions.

Reporting Boundary and Scope

This report has been prepared in compliance with Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules, focusing on the environmental and social performance of the
Group’s business of management and sales of properties in agricultural
produce exchange markets. The reporting principles of “Materiality”,
“Quantitative”, “Balance” and “Consistency” underpinned the preparation
of this report. Data in this report are analysed and presented in a way
that allows for meaningful comparison.

This report discloses ESG performance of the Group’s 11 agricultural
produce exchange markets in the PRC and its two offices in Shenzhen
and Hong Kong. Since the Group’s two offices have minimal
environmental impacts, the Group focuses on its agricultural produce
exchange markets when disclosing its environmental performance. For
governance section, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 76 to 97 of this annual report.

Feedback

This report aims to be plain, clear and easy-to-read. In compilation of this
report, we take into consideration interests of our stakeholders to the
greatest extent possible. Thoughts and feedbacks are welcome. Please
do let us know what you would like to be incorporated in our future
reports. Please contact us at:

CHINA AGRI-PRODUCTS EXCHANGE LIMITED
TRERERXZAERAT
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CEO MESSAGE
Dear Valued Stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Group’s fourth ESG
report to depict its sustainable development strategy and relevant
performance during the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020.

Over the years, the Group has been devoted to establishing a nationwide
agricultural produce exchange network and propelling China’s
agricultural industrialization. With our businesses inseparably connected
to agricultural production, we recognise that the probability of climate
change may pose risks to the Group’s operations. We are, therefore,
well aware of the importance of managing ESG risks and are gradually
integrating ESG management into daily operations.

As our operations continue to expand, we are increasing the efforts we
put in for managing our operating environment. Since daily operations of
agricultural produce exchange markets generate considerable amounts
of waste, we emphasise sound waste management in our markets and
have entrusted professional environmental and sanitation companies
to timely collect and handle wastes. In terms of resources-saving, new
resource conservation initiatives such as toilet flush retrofits and LED
lighting retrofits have been implemented in our Suizhou Market during
the reporting period, resulting in saving of 50 tonnes of water and 72
kWh of electricity per day.

We spare no effort to address health and safety issues. During the
outbreak of COVID-19, the Group followed the PRC government and
imposed measures to contain the spread, including daily disinfection
in the markets and offices, and providing sufficient face masks and
disinfection supplies to employees. We have also provided training to
employees on the prevention and control of the epidemic, calling for
collective efforts from employees for safeguarding workplace health and
safety.

To ensure product safety and maintain customer satisfaction, the Group
maintains transparency in business transactions in terms of product
quality and other related aspects through a robust mobile network,
which enables customers to trace product origins and search for
merchant information. With computer systems and internet networks
playing vital roles in our operations, the Group has formulated policies
and procedures to regulate the use of internet and regularly updates the
systems to mitigate cyber risks.

Looking forward, we will continue to enhance operational efficiency
and integrate the concept of sustainable development into the Group’s
business model. | sincerely thank all stakeholders for their attention and
dedication to us and | look forward to your continued support for the
Group.

By Order of the Board

Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

The Group is principally engaged in the business of management and
sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC.
We are committed to gradually integrating principles of sustainable
development into our daily operations, shouldering our corporate social
responsibility while improving the Group’s operational efficiency and
competitiveness.

The Group’s ESG management is spearheaded by the management of
the Group, which supports the Board in overseeing our ESG policies and
performance. Members from various departments are tasked with the
responsibility for ensuring sound management on the ESG front in their
daily operations.

Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholder engagement is the key to the Group’s business development
and performance growth. Therefore, we have always maintained good
communication with stakeholders, carefully listened to and strived a
balance regarding their different opinions, and effectively considered
their concerns in the decision-making process. We continue to
communicate openly with stakeholders from different parties including
investors, customers, employees, communities and the government
through public channels including websites, annual reports, press
releases and conferences. The following table summarizes the Group’s
communication channels with each party.
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Stakeholder Groups Issues of Concern Engagement Channels
R4 &4 Bl BEEE BERARK
Investors . Corporate governance . Annual reports and interim reports
REE hEER F iR B mE
. Business operations Press releases
XGeE HER
. Information disclosure Company website
BRI R PN b
Customers . Data privacy Company website
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. Customer satisfaction Feedback from frontline employees
BEEmERE Al 471 B B [ 8
Employees . Training and development Staff meetings
B8 Bl kR BETE
. Remuneration Complaints system
el ER AT &
. Occupational health and safety
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Community . Contribution to the community Support charity organisations
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. Environmental protection
RERE
Government Legitimacy of service and business ethics Compliance with applicable laws and
24/ fRIGE A REEEE regulations
. Employee protection BSTERER RIER
RIEEE

Tax compliance
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THE ENVIRONMENT

To achieve sustainable development of our business operations, the
Group is committed to improving its environmental performance and
protecting the environment.

Environmental Management

The Group is committed to operating its business in a sustainable
manner. By implementing our internal policies, we can effectively
monitor and manage our environmental performance and strive for
continual improvement. We ensure all our daily operations, including
the 11 agricultural produce exchange markets, comply with relevant
national and local environmental laws including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the PRC, the Water Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the PRC, and the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes.

Due to the change of financial year end date of the Group, the
environmental performance data presented in this report covers a
period of 15 months. While the prolonged reporting period has led to
higher emissions and consumption figures in general, efforts to minimise
environmental impacts and protect the environment were not lacking.

To the best of its knowledge, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste during the reporting period.
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Resources Conservation

Energy

The major types of energy consumed by the Group include electricity,
petrol and diesel. During the reporting period, the Group consumed a
total of 242,948 gigajoule (“GJ") of energy, with an energy intensity of
0.22 GJ per thousand Hong Kong Dollars revenue.

Energy Saving

The Group has taken a series of energy conservation measures to reduce
energy consumption. We have simplified the public lighting system and
prioritised the use of energy-saving devices, such as timer switches, LED
lighting and solar powered streetlights in our operations. Transformers
equipped with capacitors are also used to save energy.

Energy Composition

RERARLRX
4%

96%

BRHRE

Resources Consumption

Electricity (kWh) B (TR
Petrol (Litres) R G

Diesel (Litres) 438 (F1)
Refrigerant R-22 (Tonnes) R-228L/2 7] (W)
Liquid ammonia (Tonnes) RAER (H8)

Energy intensity (GJ/'000 HKD revenue)

In Suizhou Market, we have gradually replaced public lighting in the
market shed with LED lights during the reporting period. We have also
adopted the use of time-controlled switches that turn off some lights
according to actual conditions and needs, achieving a daily reduction in
electricity consumption of 72 kWh.
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Water Resources

During the reporting period, the Group consumed 2,607,267 tonnes of
water with an intensity of 2.39 tonnes per thousand Hong Kong Dollars
revenue. The Group did not have any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
the purpose.

Water Conservation
Recognising the importance of water conservation, the Group has
implemented various measures to reduce water usage and promote
wastewater recycling.

Water Conservation Initiatives

. Water recycling and purification system

. Use recycled water for flushing and cleaning

. Install induction faucet

. Conduct water-saving education and promotion to raise the

awareness of water conservation

In our Suizhou market, besides the adjustment of automatic flush in
public toilets, we have modified flush valves of public toilets during
the reporting period and achieved a water saving of approximately 50
tonnes per day.

Emissions

Air Emissions

The Group’s air emissions are mainly due to diesel and petrol
consumption by vehicles. We strictly comply with the national standard
of the Atmospheric Pollutant Integrated Emission Standard and the
Environmental Air Quality Standard. During the reporting period, the
Group emitted 4 kg of sulphur oxides (“SOx"), 74 kg of nitrogen oxides
(“NOx”) and 6 kg of particulate matters (“PM”). The decrease in air
emissions during the reporting period as compared with that of the last
reporting period was mainly due to the reduction in vehicle usage in
some of our markets.
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GHG Emissions

Greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions from our operations include direct
emissions from fuel consumption by vehicles and use of refrigerants
(Scope 1), and indirect emissions from electricity consumption (Scope
2). During the reporting period, the Group’s total GHG emissions were
38,731 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO_e"), of which Scope
1 and Scope 2 emissions amounted to 3,176 tCO,e and 35,555 tCO.e,
respectively. The emission intensity was 0.04 tCO_e per thousand Hong
Kong Dollars revenue.

Before the construction and operation of a new market, we commission
independent environmental consultants to carry out Environmental
Impact Assessment (EIA) to assess the potential environmental impact
and ensure corresponding mitigation measures are implemented.
Whenever possible, we adopt environment-friendly measures as advised
by consultants to minimise emissions of air pollutants and generation of
effluent and waste. We have also signed the Carbon Reduction Charter
of the Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong and are
committed to adopting GHG emission reduction measures to combat
climate change. Moreover, vegetation is planted in some of our markets
to improve the surrounding environment.

Sewage Management

Sewage generated by the Group’s operations consists of domestic
sewage and floor flushing sewage. A comprehensive sewage treatment
procedure is in place to allow for proper collection, treatment and
discharge of sewage. During the process, we test and analyse water
samples, ensuring the sewage discharged meets the corresponding
sewage discharge standard. Besides, we have signed a contract with a
professional water quality monitoring and maintenance unit to ensure
normal operation of water quality monitoring equipment and facilities,
as well as the accuracy of testing data.
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Sewage Treatment Procedure
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After grease filtering,
catering sewage is collected
together with domestic and
floor cleaning sewage.
Sewage collected then goes
through the biological
treatment procedures in the
septic tank.

We ensure treated sewage
meets Level 3 of the
"Integrated Wastewater
Discharge Standard"
(GB8978-1996) before flowing
into the municipal sewage
treatment plant.
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Treated sewage is
discharged into the logistic
centre sewage pipe network
and flows along the
municipal sewage pipe
network to sewage
treatment plant.
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Sewage undergoes second
treatment at sewage
treatment plant before
discharge into the river.
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Hygiene and Waste Management

Maintaining effective hygiene and proper waste management are of
paramount importance in our operations. We have signed contracts
with professional cleaning companies, ensuring a clean and tidy market
environment. The cleaning staff cleanses the floor on a regular and
daily basis. The contracted environmental sanitation companies clear
and transport waste containers once they are full in a timely manner,
ensuring daily clearance of the waste generated.

Food waste is centrally processed and stored at designated areas, with
regulations formulated for tenants regarding food waste handling. We
regularly inspect the hygienic condition of the market to assess and
improve service quality of cleaning companies; with comprehensive
monthly assessment results linked to cleaning payment. During the
reporting period, the Group’s operations generated 82,268 tonnes of
non-hazardous waste, with a generation intensity of 0.08 tonnes per
thousand Hong Kong Dollars revenue. No hazardous waste or packaging
waste were generated from the Group's operations.

We have taken additional measures in each of our markets to maintain
a high standard of hygienic conditions, especially during the outbreak
of the COVID-19. For example, in Suizhou Market, we have purchased
vehicles with bubble sprays that enable comprehensive disinfection
of public aisles and operational aisles in the market. Key areas such as
waste transfer stations, integrated zone with fresh meat and live poultry
business are sterilised by cleaning staff using electric sprinkling cans.

Environmental Emergency Management

We have in place a set of guidelines for addressing emergency situations
in the Major Events Management Manual, which strengthens and
standardises the management of emergencies and ensures efficient and
effective response and handling. Specified departments and persons-in-
charge are designated to evaluate the impacts of potential environmental
incidents, such as flooding, which can affect our operations. Focusing
on the prevention and follow-up of emergencies, and rectification and
improvement on emergency handling, we learn from the experience of
previous emergency cases to better respond to future emergencies.

In the situation arising from outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
have launched an emergency plan for environmental disinfection
entailing large-scale and comprehensive disinfection of the markets. In
addition, we have implemented emergency measures such as closing
unnecessary entrances and exits in time and arranging special personnel
to sterilise vehicles that enter and leave the market, ensuring a clean and
safe environment and protecting the health and safety of our tenants
and customers.
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OUR PEOPLE

Focused on the idea of “people-oriented”, the Group is committed to
providing employees with a safe, equal and diversified workplace. Our
well-developed recruitment and promotion system helps promote
sustainable talent development.

Employee Profile

As at the end of March 2020, the Group employed 1,171 full-time
staff consisting of 1,147 Mainland China staff and 24 Hong Kong staff,
with a male to female ratio of approximately 59:41. In terms of age,
approximately 12% were aged below 31 and approximately 67% were
aged between 31 and 50. Among the employees, around 85% were
general staff and the rest 15% were managerial staff.

Employee Profile, by Geographic Region
RBESNESER
Hong Kong
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Employee Profile, by Age
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Employee Profile, by Gender
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Employee Profile, by Function
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During the reporting period, the overall employee turnover rate and new
hire rate of the Group were approximately 19% and approximately 12%
respectively. Detailed distributions of employee turnover and new hire
rates by age and gender are presented as below:

Turnover and New Hire Rates by Age
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S KRR

70
6% o 15%
. 11% o @ New Hire Rate
[ — $ABE
<31 31-50 >50

Employees’ Rights and Welfare

Upholding the principles of “Market-oriented, Profit sharing, Legality and
Fair”, the Group strives to take care of the wellbeing of its employees
by creating an equal and diversified working environment. We strictly
comply with relevant national laws and regulations including but not
limited to the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the
PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Disabled Persons, the
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour, the Social Insurance

Law of the PRC and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.

To the best of its knowledge, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare during the reporting
period.

Recruitment and Dismissal

The Group has in place a clear guideline to standardise recruitment and
employment process. All recruitment plans are open to the public and all
applicants are given an equal opportunity.

As stipulated in the Human Resources Management Manual, the Human
Resources (HR) Department and the recruitment team are responsible for
candidate selection and interview process. The HR Department reviews
all applications and shortlists relevant candidates for interviews with the
recruitment team. Details of working environment, employees’ welfare
benefits and career development opportunities offered by the Group are
discussed in the interview.

We treasure each of our employees. We have in place clear guidelines
stipulating that the supervisor and the HR Department should have
discussions at least once with an employee who wants to resign to
understand the reasons for resignation. Regarding employee dismissal,
employees are dismissed only in case of serious violations of the Group’s
policy or if their performance is unsatisfactory even after appropriate
training.
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Turnover and New Hire Rates by Gender
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Labour Standard

We adopt strict labour standards to prohibit all forms of child labour and
forced labour. To prevent child labour, we ensure all newly recruited
employees are over 18 years old with their identity checked during the
recruitment process. During the reporting period, the Group was not
aware of any non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to prevention of child and
forced labour. There were no reported cases of child or forced labour
during the reporting period.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Group believes that an equal and diversified workplace devoid of
any discrimination or harassment is vitally important for harmony at
the workplace. We strive to eliminate any form of discrimination such
as gender, race, age or religion. We ensure a transparent recruitment
and promotion process by following detailed guidelines to ensure equal
opportunity for all people without the consideration of gender, race, age
or religion.

Welfare and Benefits

The Group offers attractive remuneration packages to its employees
in accordance with the Human Resources Management Manual. Salary
standard is based on the operational status, price level, employees’
level, work performance and market average salary. Regular employee
performance appraisal is conducted for determining monetary bonus,
annual salary adjustment and promotion. Subsidised food at work and
shuttle bus service are provided for employees at each project site in the
Mainland China to alleviate their burden. We also organise body checks
and purchase social insurance and labour insurance for our employees in
compliance with the applicable legislation, protecting employees from
health and safety risks.

To maintain a fair working schedule, a shift schedule of each employee
working 40 hours per week is applied based on the region’s standards.
Overtime work is not encouraged. For any position requiring less or more
working hours, approval by the management office is required. For staff
who work extra hours, monetary compensation is given by the Group.

The Group upholds the principal of work-life balance and policies have
been set to ensure sufficient rest time for the employees. Employees
enjoy statutory holidays and annual leave. On top of it, employees
can take leave during periods of sickness, marriage, demise of a direct
relative or partner’s relative, injury or professional training, in which the
exact number of days of leave depends on each individual case.
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Employee Relations

Employees are viewed as the cornerstone of the Group’s development
and therefore we strive to maintain effective communication and good
relations with employees. We carry out both official and unofficial
interviews to listen to the voice of or feedback from the employees.

To strengthen the sense of belonging, the Group organised different
types of employee activities during the reporting period, including
outdoor excursions, festive events and evening parties, enabling
employees to strengthen internal communication and bonding. When
employees encounter personal or family difficulties, the HR Department
not only sends condolences and care on behalf of the Group, but also
provides employees with different degrees of material assistance based
on approval by the management.
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Evening Party Celebrating the Chinese New Year
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Health and Safety

Health and safety of employees is always the Group’s primary concern.
The Group is committed to providing a healthy and safe workplace
for employees and reducing occupational safety hazards through
implementing occupational health and safety (“OHS") policies, in
compliance with relevant national laws and regulations including but
not limited to the Fire Control Law of the PRC, the Provisions on the
Supervision and Administration of Fire Protection of Construction
Projects, the Work Safety Law of the PRC and the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases.

To the best of its knowledge, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group relating to the provision of a safe working
environment and protection of employees from occupational hazards
during the reporting period.

Safety Management

To facilitate proper OHS management, the Group has in place the Major
Events Management Manual. By including OHS issues in the manual, the
incident response process is improved and the efficiency of the incident
management is enhanced. Besides, we adopt the incident reporting
procedure which requires reporting and investigation of 19 types of
major incidents including work injuries and fire accidents. Preventive
and rectification measures are taken in response to the incidents so as to
minimise the impact and eliminate the chance of future occurrence.

In order to enhance employees’ safety awareness, the code of safety
is included in the Employee Handbook, stating clearly the information
relating to fire safety, regulations to be observed in case of fire and
emergency phone numbers. Employees who are able to identify potential
hazards at work and help prevent workplace accidents are rewarded and
recognised.
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Workplace Safety

The Group continues to improve employees’ working environment. We
adopt flexible working hours to reduce risk of heat strokes for employees
who work outdoors or under hot weather. We have also installed air-
conditioning and thermal insulation in some of the offices to provide
comfortable working conditions. Besides, personal protection equipment
(PPE) such as safety vest and waterproof boots are provided to marketing
staff to protect them from safety hazards and occupational diseases.
Employees are required to comply with relevant legislations and
standards when handling hazardous chemicals.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded 1 work-related
fatality and 6 work-related accidents. The Group continues to strive
for minimising potential OHS issues and strengthening the prevention
of safety risks. Believing safety culture comes down to individuals, we
drive improvement of our performance by carrying out site inspection
to identify potential safety hazards and implement corresponding
rectification measures, as well as providing employees with safety
trainings and seminars to raise their awareness on occupational health
and safety.

Prevention and Control of COVID-19 Pandemic
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In view of the outbreak of the COVID-19, the Group promptly set up a leading group responsible for management and

supervision of pandemic prevention and control. We also carried out inspection and paid attention to suspected cases in order

to respond to emergencies in a timely and effective manner. The Group adopted a series of pandemic preventive and control

measures, aiming to protect employees’ health and ensure environmental hygiene during the pandemic:
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Provide employees with PPE such as protective masks, gloves and disinfection supplies to protect from infection
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Disinfect and clean office and business facilities every day to maintain proper hygiene at the workplace

BREBRBRRAERAXERNE  ARFLIESMOEEHE

Organise training session through WeChat to deliver information on virus prevention and self-protection measures
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Safety Training

In pursuit of enhanced occupational health and safety awareness, the
Group has continued to strengthen employees’ knowledge of OHS
related regulations and operational procedures through organising
safety trainings during the reporting period. New staff of the cold chain
department were required to attend safety training and assessment, and
they were qualified to work only after passing the examination.

The Group organises occupational health seminars to provide employees
with OHS related knowledge and skills such as cardiopulmonary
resuscitation as well as occupational disease prevention and treatment.
Fire equipment training and fire drills are also carried out at least twice a
year for both our employees and merchants, ensuring that they acquire
necessary fire safety knowledge and skills, as well as to improve their
capabilities in handling fire incidents in a timely manner. During the
reporting period, the Group provided safety training for 2,459 person-
times with a total of 2,459 hours.

Emergency Management

The Group is targeting to create a hazard-free working environment.
With the help of the specific reporting mechanism, emergency incidents
including traffic accidents, fire accidents, water related accidents, food
poisoning and contagious diseases can be handled timely and effectively.
The Group also provides guidelines to different offices on fire prevention
and ways to respond appropriately to fire.

i = =
Fire equipment training was held in January 2019
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Safety training on cold storage operation was
held at Qinzhou Market in July 2019
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Training and Development

To meet the Group’s development goals and enable employees to realise
their potential, we provide employees with various types of training at all
levels in accordance with the Training Management System. Respecting
employees’ personality and career development requirements, we offer
diversified training programmes including commencement training,
on-the-job training and professional qualification training in the way of
internal training, external training and employee self-training. Currently,
we focus mainly on internal training supplemented by external training.

Internal Training

W I

External Training

ShERIE I

«Training courses delivered by
internal instructors from the
Group

«Including induction training,
job skill training, job transfer
training, department internal
training and sharing meeting,
etc.
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The HR Department carries out an annual survey to understand the needs
of all departments and prepare training courses accordingly. Regular
assessments are conducted to determine if the training objectives have
been achieved, ensuring the effectiveness and comprehensiveness of the
training programmes. Priority is given to existing and well-performing
employees when there are job vacancies, by internal selection or
departmental recommendation. During the reporting period, the Group
successfully conducted training on occupational health and safety,
fire equipment handling and fire safety, disease prevention, industry
development, laws and regulations related to food safety and Major
Events Management Manual etc.

+Training courses delivered by
external instructors outside

forums, invitations to external
lecturers to provide training in
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Employee Self-training

BEBREI

-We encourage employees to
read books in their spare time
and actively participate in
various training programmes
to improve their personal and
business competence
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Training Highlights
Bl s A

Functional Department Intensive Training
BEEESPIZ S A

We invited managers and directors from various departments
to give in-depth explanations on the organisational structure
and responsibilities of each department. Through the tailor-
made training content, employees in other departments
can have a clearer understanding of the department’s
organisational structure, scope of work, basic business
processes and core value etc., enabling better coordination
among departments in the future.
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Advanced Insurance Training

BEARRER I

We conducted training to improve risk prevention awareness
of employees at each project location, aiming to effectively
reduce the occurrence of safety related accidents and better
maintain the Group’s assets. We invited insurance brokerage
companies to provide training, with contents regarding
problems discovered by investigation and suggestions for
daily business risk management.
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2020 Budget Management Training
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To ensure good budget management in 2020, the Finance
Department of the Headquarters conducted two training

programmes for business departments, functional
departments and other responsible persons in each project
location with emphasis on the central idea of budget
management in 2020. Job arrangement and reporting
requirements were also explained.
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During the reporting period, the Group provided 11,710 training hours in
total, covering 8,466 person-times.

BIRE

Training Performance
(Jan 2019 — Mar 2020)

By Gender REBIE D
Male xRk
Female ZiE

By Function RBREE D
Management Executive BEAEB
General Staff EEET

OPERATING EXCELLENCE

In addition to enhancing product traceability, product quality and safety
are also key prerequisites for building customers’ trust.

Product and Service Responsibility

Ensuring product safety and quality is the top priority of the Group.
The Group has established an agricultural product quality and safety
management system, which stipulates standards for agricultural product
access, product quality safety responsibility, treatment and destruction
of unqualified products, product quality testing and an emergency plan
for addressing accidental quality and safety problems. Training relating
to food safety laws and regulations and food safety rapid test is provided
to relevant employees to enhance their knowledge.

The Group monitors product safety and quality by testing and
inspections. Quality and safety inspections are regularly conducted and
sale of spoiled products is strictly prohibited. Inspectors collect samples
in the market for rapid testing to detect the presence of pesticide
residues in agricultural products on a daily basis. Testing results are
announced on the market website of Wuhan Baisazhou Market. If
pesticide residues in the products exceed the limit, the relevant merchant
is immediately notified to halt the sales of the product, and the products
are destroyed in a harmless way according to the requirements of the
Industry and Commerce Administration and Agricultural Law-Enforcing
Authority. To guarantee the quality and safety of fresh meat, inspection
and quarantine documents of the merchants are collected and checked
daily.

The Group has been striving to increase product transparency to build
customer confidence. Apart from requesting merchants to display
quality and safety responsibility letter, business license and procurement
documents, product information including origin, species, specifications
and price are presented to customers. Offline customers can also trace
product origins and search for merchant information via an online
platform of Luoyang Market.
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The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations related to product
responsibility, including the Product Quality Law of the PRC and the Law
of the PRC on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests. To the
best of its knowledge, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, privacy issues and remedies for the
provision of products during the reporting period. Our business does
not involve advertising and product labelling activities; therefore, these

aspects have no significant impact on our operations.

Enhancing Customer Satisfaction

Striving for quality excellence and continuous improvement, the
Group attaches great importance to customers’ opinions. The business
department is responsible for collecting customer feedback on
our services and products regularly through conducting customer
satisfaction surveys. The data is then analysed and the results are
reported to the management of the Group. Based on the findings,

corrective and preventive measures will be taken when necessary.

Besides customer satisfaction surveys, the Group has formulated a
customer complaint handling procedure which standardises the way
complaints are handled. All complaints are recorded in a customer
complaint form. The customer service department is required to analyse
the rationality of the complaint and reply to the customer within 24
hours. After investigation, follow-up actions and corrective measures are
taken accordingly to maintain customer satisfaction.

Supply Chain Management

Aiming to enhance procurement efficiency, control procurement cost
and ensure supplier quality, the Group has established a tendering and
procurement management system to prescribe standard procedures
and principles of tendering and procurement. Different procurement
procedures are formulated, depending upon quantity and types of

products or services.

Suppliers are selected and evaluated according to a series of supplier
selection criteria including price, product and service quality, delivery
timeframe and volume, agility, and credibility. A list of approved
suppliers is maintained and performances are regularly evaluated
to update the list. During tender stage, tendering committee, which
comprises of chairman, vice-chairman, financial and administrative
officers of the headquarters, relevant personnel, financial, administrative
and operating officers, is established to monitor the tendering progress
and confirm tenderer qualifications. To avoid conflicts of interests, staff
involved in procurement, tenders and selection of suppliers are required
to make a declaration that they do not have any family or financial
relationships with each other.
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Product and Service Quality

EmMRIEE R

Credibility
A SEE

Price
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Since the Group’s operations involve handling of a considerable amount

Safeguarding Confidential Matters

of confidential data and information, the Group is committed to ensuring
data security and privacy of its customers, suppliers and employees.
To protect data, access permissions are only granted to authorised
personnel. Disclosing the Group's operational data and customer
information without approval is strictly prohibited.

To ensure data security, policies and procedures are in place to regulate
the use of internet and the Group’s information technology department
is responsible for managing internet security. To safeguard data and
avoid cyber risk, internet protection system and firewall are continuously
monitored and updated.

The Group’s operations strictly comply with laws and regulations relating
to data security including but not limited to the Cyber Security Law of
the PRC and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. During
the reporting period, the Group did not obtain any patents and did not
encounter any cases of infringement of laws and regulations related to
data privacy and security as well as intellectual property rights.

Anti-corruption

To protect the Group'’s interests and reputation, the Group upholds
high standards of integrity and strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations related to corruption, including but not limited to the
Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC and
the Hong Kong Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. Anti-corruption policies
and regulations are put in place to address all forms of corruption.

To maintain integrity in the workplace, the Group has formulated a Code
of Integrity, which stipulates anti-corruption regulations and measures
on corrupt behaviour. The Code of Integrity also provides employees
with advice on preventing conflicts of interest during tendering and
procurement. Employees must make a declaration to the Group when a
potential conflict of interest arises and must not accept gifts and benefits
from customers and business partners. Violation of the Code of Integrity
is subject to appropriate punishment, including dismissal.

Delivery Timeframe

A

Delivery Volume
Rt E
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¥ B Bsh AR R F At K NfE
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CBEEARRCPEARAMEAGLZ2E) R
%%(1)\%%4(%%)1\%15% cRWMEHR - AKE
I BERAS E AT B R [ I B8 K AF 132 R A B BUR L
BRZEURMBER ERRERZER -
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The Group has established a whistleblowing policy to encourage
employees to report any suspected corrupt behaviour or misconduct and
the identity of the whistle-blower is kept confidential. Comprehensive
investigations are carried out by internal audit, compliance department
or an external auditor to scrutinise the matter. The effectiveness of the

whistleblowing policy is reviewed by the audit committee regularly.

To the best of its knowledge, the Group did not contravene any relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during the reporting
period. The Group was not involved in any corruption cases in the
reporting period.

Community Care

As a community-caring enterprise, the Group has incorporated
philanthropy responsibilities into its corporate strategy in the process of
maximizing benefits, and is determined to promote sustainable business
development. We are committed to establishing long-term relationships
with business partners, investors, communities and the government.
We practice the corporate philosophy of “Gain from Society, Spend
on Society” to support the development of the community and those
in need. During the reporting period, the Group donated a total of
approximately HK$3,476,000 to communities in Hong Kong and Mainland
China, which was 9 times more than that in the twelve months ended 31
December 2018.

During the reporting period, the Group gathered employees to
participate in the “Charity Love Tooth Day” and “Charity Green
Knowledge Day” organized by the Hong Kong Community Chest and
“Orbis World Sight Day” organized by Orbis in Hong Kong. In Mainland
China, the Group has donated tonnes of different materials including
protective masks, alcohol disinfectants, rice, vegetables, fruits and instant
noodles to government units, frontline anti-epidemic personnel and
residents of affected areas since the outbreak of COVID-19. It served as a
helping hand to the daily needs of the people during this extraordinary
period of time. At the same time, the Group has supported a range of
community education and poverty alleviation activities in Mainland
China for years, sowing love and hope in poverty-stricken areas.
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Summary of Donations (Jan 2019 = Mar 2020) BOHECE-NF-—AZ-_E_FTF=H)

Operation Location

I i 2

Description

Hit

Yulin

EH

Donation for construction of viIIage public facilities in Doudong village

BBV SHE AT 2 R AT A HER

Donation of staple food in Wuhan

BYRAERTHE

Donation to GuangXi University Education Development Foundation

BYOTEARBHEHRESS

Luoyang
]

Donation to elderly living alone in Yin Zhuang and Houdong village

BB T AN RN EE RS

Donation to Subdistrict’s Administrative Agency, District Commerce Bureau and Municipal Commerce
Bureau to support frontline epidemic prevention staff

BOORTRERER BEERRTEKRE  FHIHRAEAR

Puyang
S

Fund-raising for Puyang Charity Federation
REGEZRIEN

Sponsorship for Chinese opera performance in village

BB AP ROR

Kaifeng
GiEa)

Donation for the COVID-19 disease prevention and control

B EFE A

Donation of food to fire brigade, Xiliulin village, logistics park and Yuwangtai District Health
Commission

BEMRYTHLK  AYMN DREESEeEFLEREEZES

Donation of disinfectants and food to local government

BENESE R RY T & HIRT

Xuzhou

TR

Donation of food to police and hospitals during the COVID-19 pandemic
R KR ERREBHRY TEK K

Wuhan
HZ

Donation for the 2019 National Poverty Relief Day to Department of Agriculture
BRE_Z-NFRRXKEARY TEFEE

Donation to Administration for Market Regulation in Xinzhou district

BEBHNETSEEEER

Donation of staple food during Mid-Autumn Festival to Department of Agriculture, Municipal Bureau
of Agriculture and Rural Affairs and Administration for Market Regulation

RERESHEERMEIRTRERE MEERNBERTSEEEER

Donation of staple food during Chinese New Year Festival to Department of Agriculture, Municipal
Commerce Bureau, Municipal Agriculture Committee and Administration for Market Regulation

RESHRBEBRAIRTRERE  TRKE MEXZESERTSEEEER

Donation of food to Department of Commerce and Municipal Bureau of Agriculture and Rural Affairs

BORMTEBBERTERERNB

7
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PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY BENMEEHNE

Jan 2019 -
Mar 2020

—®-h&E-AF
—g-g5=j

Workforce Demographics Total Headcount 1,171
R &S BAH
By Geographical Distribution
RIBE 5 i dl 2
Hong Kong 24
B
Mainland China 1,147
IR
By Age
RERE D
<31 147
31T
31-50 783
31E2505%
>50 241
5085 A
By Gender
R B & 2
Male 693
Elcs
Female 478
it
By Function
REGREE D
Management executive 178
EERAE
General staff 993
EHEET
Employees’ Turnover Rate 19%
EERAR
By Age
RERE D
<31 41%
31T
31-50 16%
31E505%
>50 15%
5085 A
By Gender
R B & 2
Male 20%
Elcs
Female 17%

gogid

1,229

26

1,203

213

783

233

717

512

193

1,036

32%

56%

30%

19%

29%

37%



Health and Safety
RERZ2

Training and Development

EFIRBR
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Employees’ New Hire Rate
EEMABE

By Age

RERED

<31

31T

31-50

3155058

>50

50554 £

By Gender

R RI8 5

Male

St

Female

g

Work-related injury
I

Number of injured employees
XEEEBE

Lost days due to work-related injury
AIEERNITIEEH
Work-related fatality
AT

Total safety training hours
R IE B2
Training Coverage
EIEE=E

By Gender

R BI85

Male

St

Female

g

By Function
REBEE D
Management executive
EBAR

General staff

ERET

Average Training Hour
A 3E I R B

By Gender

R RI8 5

Male (Hours)

SN

Female (Hours)

2 (/NB)
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Jan 2019 -
Mar 2020

—B-hF-AE
—g-gF=f

12%

24%

11%

5%

14%

9%

2,459

89%

88%

92%

89%

10.00

10.00

24%

38%

21%

19%

23%

25%

2,817

90%

87%

88%

89%

14.23

12.87
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Community
HE
Environment
BRI

By Function

REBEE D

Management executive (Hours)

B A B (M)

General staff (Hours)

@8 T (NE)

Donation (HKD)

BHRGET)

Resources Consumption

BIRHE

Electricity (kWh)

BAH(FRE)

Diesel (Litres)

225 ()

Petrol (Litres)

Yl )

Refrigerant R-22 (Tonnes)

R-228L2 Bl (ME)

Liquid ammonia (Tonnes)

REEE (ME)

Energy intensity (GJ/’000HKD revenue)
BERAE (FIER T T

Water (Tonnes)

7K (WE)

Water intensity (Tonne/'000 HKD revenue)

KGR E (M, F B i)

Emissions

B

GHG Emissions

BERBHER

Scope 1: direct emissions (tCO,e)

HE : RN _AtRES

Scope 2: indirect emissions (tCO,e)

E2 : EEERME_atiRg s

Total emissions (tCO,e)
BHR A tiRE =

GHG Emission Intensity (tCO,e/'000 HKD
revenue)

BERBHMAREM _S/{RES
FETWE)

P L1 VNS

Jan 2019 -
Mar 2020

_ﬁ—hﬁ—ﬁé
—7— fﬁ H

6.00

10.72

3,476,181

64,935,067.65

3,964.70

283,615.29

1.37

1.00

0.22

2,607,266.60

2.39

3,176.08

35,555.22

38,731.30

0.04

4.00

15.46

377,056

37,367,463.00

18,324.96

268,662.22

1.20

2.55

0.18

2,201,091.00

2.83

2,874.09

20,801.05

23,675.14

0.03
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Air pollutants
ZERFREY

Sulphur oxides (Kg)
maltym(F=)
Nitrogen oxides (Kg)
A& (FT=)
Particulate matters (Kg)
BOF RN (T =)

Waste Generation
BYEL

Hazardous waste (Tonnes)

BEREY (R

Non-hazardous waste (Tonnes)

B EEY) (WR)
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Jan 2019 -
Mar 2020

—B-hF-AE
—g-gF=f

4.23 4.22
73.98 124.09
5.90 10.85

The Group’s operations do not generate
hazardous waste.
AEEREBYBRELREEY -
82,267.63 60,260.10

75



76

f

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® A1 %Eﬁﬁ{%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ

h

utle .
taEage BN PP




77

F R e 2020 Annual Report

— g —
—E-F



78

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EERRE

H

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance. The Board recognises that such commitment
is essential to uphold accountability and transparency and to achieve
a balance of interests between the shareholders, customers, creditors,

employees as well as other stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Compliance with Listing Rules and CG Code

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except for the following
deviation:

Code provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas currently takes up the roles of both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer and is responsible
for the overall corporate planning, strategic policy making and
management of operations of the Group. The Company will continue to
review such deviation to enhance the best interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole. Details of such deviation are set out below
in the section headed “Roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.

The Company periodically reviewed its corporate governance practices
to ensure it continued to meet the requirements of the CG Code during
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020. The key corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company are summarised in this report.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout the period under review.

To comply with code provision A.6.4 of the CG Code, the Company
has also adopted a written code of conduct regarding securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the Model Code by the
relevant employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are
considered likely to be in possession of inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The Directors
during the period under review and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond

Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung

Mr. Lau King Lung

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 44 to 45 of
this annual report.

Responsibilities

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy and overall
strategy for the Group and to provide effective oversight of the
management of the Group’s business and affairs. It delegates day-to-day
operations of the Group to executive Directors and senior management.
Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board also approves,
among others, strategic plans, key operational issues, investments and
loans, reviews the financial performance of the Group and evaluates
the performance and compensation of senior management. These
functions are either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly
through committees established by the Board. Besides, the Board has
delegated general powers to the management to deal with day-to-day
management, administration and operations of the Group.
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The Board possesses a balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company.
None of the Directors have any financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. The opinions raised by
the independent non-executive Directors at the meetings of the Board
facilitate the maintenance of good corporate governance practices. The
Board has three independent non-executive Directors, representing
more than one-third of the Board, and at least one of the independent
non-executive Directors has the appropriate professional qualification
and accounting and related financial management expertise as required
by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors also ensures a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows for an independent and objective
decision making process for the best interests of the Company. The
Company will review the composition of the Board regularly to ensure
the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and
experience to meet the needs of the Group’s business with due regard
for the benefits of diversity, as set out in the diversity policy adopted by
the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term
of three years under respective service agreements and all Directors
(including both executive and non-executive) are subject to retirement
by rotation at the Company’s annual general meetings in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company.

All independent non-executive Directors are free from any business or
other relationship with the Company. Each independent non-executive
Director is required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change in his own personal particulars that may affect
his independence. No such notification was received during the
period under review. The Company has also received from each of the
existing independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company continues to consider the three independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board, which meets at least four times a year with additional
meetings arranged, as and when necessary, has a schedule of matters
reserved for its review and approval. The specific responsibility reserved
for the Board includes matters in relation to, among others, determining
strategies and objectives of the Group, monitoring the overall
management and operation of the Group, reviewing capital, corporate
and control structures, ensuring financial reporting, risk management
and internal control measures, determining major capital projects
and contracts, including material acquisitions, disposals and other
significant potential investments, communication with the Shareholders,
determining the Board composition, the appointment of company
secretary and auditors, evaluating the effectiveness of internal controls,
reviewing adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff,
delegation of authority to committees and reviewing the Group’s overall
corporate governance arrangements.
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Save as those matters mentioned above, the Board has delegated general
powers to the management to deal with day-to-day management,
administration and operations of the Group. At the same time, the
management will provide with the Board and its committees with
adequate information, in a timely manner, to enable it to make informed
decisions.

At least 14 days’ notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors 3 days
before the date of a regular meeting of the Board to ensure that the
Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. All minutes of
the meetings of the Board and its committee are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the period under review, the Board reviewed (i) the policies and
practices on corporate governance of the Company; (ii) the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (iii) the policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (iv) the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and (v) the compliance with the CG Code
which was disclosed in this annual report.

Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the period under review, the Company held five regular meetings
of the Board and an annual general meeting (the “2019 AGM"). The
attendance of each Director is set out as follows:

Directors

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas R4 B 50 A2

Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RIGZE S 4

Mr. Yau Yuk Shing HEA A
Independent non-executive Directors BUHBITEE
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung RAELE

Mr. Lau King Lung B

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FRIREAE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERERMSE
BLANR)  EERER-RAIRTHEE
NEEBAEERZBEE THRLEER - [

i AIEH#LEﬁ?E%@&EiA SRHEARE
B REREAEAIERANITRE °

BRETENEHN  2REZHERRI140A
BERBH MEREEMNERESEXHRENES

SERBTRMMRT TERBES  URRESH
FRNEEEN EESCRNERBEERRAZIME
CHALHIRAARR Z AAMERE - LA I
BEEEHHARBARNMEMEERHERH -

% BV ST ST RIMEX ED.3.1{F

REEHR BFEFHTOHARAZEEEEK
REER  (WEERSREERB I REER
BR G (INETEREREEREZBRERER © (iv)
HEANEEREEZITRTE - RVIRARFRAH
BET(REBERTRD ZBER

EFgemiRAE
REBEHRA - ARFCRTRRAENEEEEER
—RERAEFRe(ZB-AEFRRAFKE])
BEEEHFEBRASINMOT

Attendance/Number of meetings
HEERSRRE
Regular Board

2019 AGM
—g-ne
BREBEAE

meetings

5/5 1/1
5/5 1/1
5/5 0/1
5/5 0/1
5/5 1/1
5/5 1/1
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Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2019 AGM on each
substantive issue and the percentage of votes cast in favour of such
resolutions as disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 5
June 2019 are set out below:

Resolutions proposed at the 2019 AGM
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T-NFRRBFAS IHEZHAEELFER
£Z$ﬁ/?% BRNLREBEZRENZFERERZEHA
DEMRARBEHA T -NAFANARRZAMA
WE)HIMT

Percentage
of votes

REESL

1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated EEREEARGHE_T—\F+_A=+ 99.97%
financial statements and the reports of the —HIEFEZEEZGEMBERE  EFSR
directors and auditors of the Company for the & MAZEEM R &
year ended 31 December 2018

2.(A) Tore-elect Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas asan ~ EIERIRELEANITES 100.00%
executive Director

2.(B)  Tore-elect Mr. Lau King Lung as an independent % 2|4 [Z L £ BB IEMITES 100.00%
non-executive Director

2.(C)  Tore-elect Mr. Wong Ping Yuen as an BEETWREEABIENITES 100.00%
independent non-executive Director

2.(D) To authorise the Board to fix the remuneration FEEEe@ETES_HMe
of the Directors

3. To re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng BEREETTAIEBMARARARARZZ 100.00%
Limited as auditors of the Company and A WEREESESETANS
authorise the Board to fix their remuneration

4.(A)  To approve the grant of the new repurchase HEHESR 3 B [0 54 99.99%
mandate

4.(B) To approve the grant of the new issue mandate  #b/&E# H ¥ 317 1R1E 99.97%

4(C)  To approve the extension of the new issue BE R AT B TIR A 99.97%

mandate

Accordingly, all resolutions put to the Shareholders at the 2019 AGM
were passed. The results of the voting by poll were published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas (“Mr. Chan”), the chairman of the Board,
also assumed the role of chief executive officer, which constitutes
a deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. Mr. Chan has
extensive executive and financial management experience and is
responsible for the overall corporate planning, strategic policy making
and management of operations of the Group which is of great value in
enhancing the efficiency to cope with the dynamic business environment.
The daily business operation of the Group is delegated to various
experienced individuals under the supervision of Mr. Chan. Furthermore,
the Board believes that a balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors with a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the Group’s further development.
The Company will continue to review such deviation to enhance the best
interest of the Group as a whole.
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TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company provides a comprehensive induction package covering the
summary of the responsibilities of a director of a Hong Kong listed
company and the Guides on Directors’ Duties issued by the Companies
Registry. The Company would also arrange seminars on professional
knowledge of regulatory requirements related to director’s duties and
responsibilities for each newly appointed Director to ensure that he/she
is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, Mr. Chan Chun Hong,
Thomas, Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond, Mr. Yau Yuk Shing, Mr. Ng Yat
Cheung, Mr. Lau King Lung and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen each received
regular update on corporate governance matters or news or changes to
laws and regulations. Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, Mr. Leung Sui Wah,
Raymond and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen attended briefings or seminars on
relevant topics. All Directors are requested to provide the Company with
a record of the training they received.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), each of which has the
specific written terms of reference that will be renewed and updated,
if necessary. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its
decision and recommendations, where appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (chairman), Mr. Lau King
Lung and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles
and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure of remuneration for all Directors and senior
management of the Company and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing such policy;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
by reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;
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to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management
of the Company, including but not limited to benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments for loss or termination
of their office or appointment;

4, to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

5. to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions

elsewhere in the Group;

6. to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management of the Company for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent
with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise

reasonable and appropriate; and

8. to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved

in deciding his/her own remuneration.
During the period under review, the Remuneration Committee held

one meeting and the attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out below:

Members of the Remuneration Committee
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Attendance

8 HERER

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung (Chairman) RAEEEEFE) 1/1
Mr. Lau King Lung Bl 1/1
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FRIREE 11
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas PRR B ST A4 1/1

During the period under review, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the existing remuneration policy, assessed performance of executive
Directors and reviewed the existing remuneration packages and structure
of executive Directors and senior management of the Company and the
existing remuneration packages of independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to
discharge its major roles to, among other things, make recommendations,
if any, to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Company (i.e. the model
described in the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code is adopted)
and approve the terms of executive Director’s service contracts.
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The remuneration payable to the Directors will depend on their
respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts and the same were reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual

remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the

period under review is set out below:

Remuneration band (HKS)
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Number of
individuals

Hrf s E (8 )

1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,001% 1,500,000 1
1,500,001 to 2,000,000 1,500,001%2,000,000 1
Over 2,000,000 2,000,00004 £ 3

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lau King Lung (chairman), Mr. Ng Yat Cheung and
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Chun
Hong, Thomas and Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The duties, roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

1. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, experience, skills, knowledge,
independence and length of service) of the Board at least annually
and make recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify and nominate individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships.
In identifying suitable individuals, the Nomination Committee
shall consider individuals on merit against the objective criteria,
with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and review the independent non-executive Directors’
annual confirmations on their independence and make disclosure
of its review results in the corporate governance report of the
Company;

4, to regularly review the time required for a Director to perform his/
her responsibilities;
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10.

11.

12.

XERME

to review the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity on the Board;

to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of the
Group with a view to ensuring the long term success of the Group;

to review the Board diversity policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing
the Board diversity policy, and the progress on achieving the
objectives; and make disclosure of its review results in the
corporate governance report annually;

to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election every
three years by Shareholders;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the chairman/chairwoman and
the chief executive, taking into account the Company’s corporate
strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity
needed in the future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every Director should
receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a service
contract with the Company, as appropriate;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an independent non-executive Director at the general meeting,
the Nomination Committee should set out in the circular to
Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting why it believes the
individual should be elected and the reasons why it considers the
individual to be independent; and

the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee
shall attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be
prepared to respond to questions raised by Shareholders on the
Nomination Committee’s activities and responsibilities.
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During the period under review, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings and the attendance of each member of the Nomination

Committee is set out below:

Members of the Nomination Committee
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BeZRBZHFEBERAEINLT :

Attendance

HERER

Mr. Lau King Lung (Chairman) B pE = (£ /E) 2/2
Mr. Ng Yat Cheung REELE 2/2
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen FRIREE 2/2
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas PRIREE ST A 2/2
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RInTESLE 2/2

During the period under review, the Nomination Committee (i) reviewed,
inter alia, the policy for the nomination of Directors, the nomination
procedures and the process and criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship and the Board diversity policy; and (ii)
recommended the re-elections of Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, Mr.
Lau King Lung and Mr. Wong Ping Yuen in the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 5 June 2019. The nominations of re-election
were made in accordance with the objective criteria (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length of
service), with due regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out in the
Board diversity policy adopted by the Company. As a good governance
practice, Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas, Mr. Lau King Lung and Mr. Wong
Ping Yuen had abstained from voting at the Nomination Committee and/
or Board meeting on their nominations for election by the Shareholders.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to diversify the Board and for which the Nomination
Committee has reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee reviewed
and assessed the Board composition and made recommendations (if any)
to the Board pursuant to the Board diversity policy and the nomination
policy.

The Nomination Committee will consider, when designing and reviewing
the Board’s composition, from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence and length
of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider candidates on
merit against the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

During the period under review, the Board comprises six Directors,
including three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of
the management process. The Board is also characterised by significant
diversity, whether in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge.
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Having reviewed the Board diversity policy and the Board’s composition,
the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in
the Board diversity policy had been met. The Nomination Committee
considers that the current Board composition has provided the Company
with a good balance and diversity of skills and experience appropriate for
the business of the Company. The Nomination Committee will review the
implementation of the Board diversity policy from time to time to ensure
its effectiveness on determining the optimum composition of the Board.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
guidelines for the Nomination Committee to nominate suitable
candidate(s) to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations
to the Shareholders for election or re-election as Director(s) at a
general meeting of the Company or recommendations to the Board for
appointment or re-election as Director(s).

1. Selection Criteria

1.1 In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the factors
(as reference), including but not limited to reputation,
integrity, accomplishment and relevant experience in
relation to the principal businesses of the Company from
time to time, commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. These factors are
for reference only, and are not meant to be exhaustive and
decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

1.2 Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those
serving as independent non-executive Directors for a
period of 9 years (or above), the Nomination Committee will
consider the independence of such Director for nomination
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting and
state the reason in a circular to the Shareholders for the re-
election. For those serving as independent non-executive
directors for 7 (or more) listed companies, the Nomination
Committee will consider why they would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board for nomination by
the Board to stand for appointment or re-election at a
general meeting and state the reason in a circular to the
Shareholders for election or re-election.
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Candidate(s) is required to submit the necessary personal
information pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations, together with their written consent to be
appointed as Director(s) and to the public disclosure of their
personal data on any documents or the relevant websites
for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for
election as Director(s).

The Nomination Committee may request the candidate(s) to
provide additional information and documents, if necessary.

Nomination Procedures

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

25

2.6

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call
a meeting of the Nomination Committee and invite
nominations of candidate(s) from members of the Board, if
any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee may nominate candidate(s) without
nomination by a member of the Board.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall
make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidate(s) to stand for election
at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall
make nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation.

Information (including names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
proposed remuneration and any other information,
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and
regulations) of the candidate(s) nominated by the Board to
stand for election at a general meeting will be stated in a
circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

The Shareholder can serve a notice to the Company’s
company secretary to propose a resolution to elect a person
as Director, without the Board’s recommendation or the
Nomination Committee’s nomination pursuant to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. The particulars of
the candidate(s) so proposed as required pursuant to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations will be stated in a
circular to be sent to the Shareholders.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature at any
time before the general meeting by serving a notice in
writing to the Company’s company secretary.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for
election at any general meeting.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee pursuant to Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules with specific terms of reference, which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee consists of all of the independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (chairman), Mr. Ng Yat Cheung and Mr. Lau
King Lung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for, inter alia, reviewing the
interim and annual financial statements and making recommendation
to the Board, reviewing the terms of engagement and making
recommendation to the Board regarding the appointment of external
auditors of the Company, monitoring and assessing the independence
of external auditors and effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems and oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting, controlling, accounting policies and practices (with external
auditors and the management of the Company) and risk management
and internal control issues.

During the period under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and the attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is

set out below:

O Z=
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Attendance

Members of the Audit Committee HEBR

Mr. Wong Ping Yuen (Chairman) FRREEEE) 3/3

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung REELEE 3/3

Mr. Lau King Lung AP S A 3/3
During the period under review, the Audit Committee reviewed and  REIEHN - EZZECFHTHFRERER
discussed with the senior management and the external auditors of AAAINEZEMANEZ_Z—-—NFE+_A=+
the Company the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2018, —HIFFEZFEXEE HE-_ZT—NFA=T
the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2019, the second HIFXNEAZHF S HE_ZT—hNF+_/A=

interim results for the twelve months ended 31 December 2019 and
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company. In
addition, the Audit Committee also, among other things, considered and
approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, reviewed with the senior management and/or professional
advisers of the Company, the internal control and risk management
systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function,
the continuing connected transactions of the Group and the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions as well as their training
programmes and budget.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and timely
publication of the financial statements and ensure that they are prepared
in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. In preparing the financial statements for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2020, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting
policies which are pertinent to the Group’s operations and relevant to the
financial statements and have presented an understandable assessment
of the Group'’s position and prospects.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the independent auditor’s report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, the remuneration
paid/payable to the Company’s external auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (“HLB"), in respect of audit services and other services is
set out as follows which had been reviewed and approved by the Audit
Committee based on the scopes of their works:

Services rendered for the Group

RETFAEE 2R
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Approximate fees
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to HLB
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REZHMAER
HK$’000
FET

Audit services ZE R 2,600
Non-audit services IEZEARTS 660
Total Bt 3,260
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems during the period under
review. Regular review is set to be conducted once per year. While
the management of the Group is responsible for implementing and
maintaining sound risk management and internal control systems
that safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’ interest in aspects
including operation, financial and compliance, the systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management Process

The Group has established risk management manual to formulate the risk
management process and the management is committed to fostering
a risk aware and control conscious environment. The staff in all levels
within the Group are also required to take the relevant responsibility on
the risk management process. The structure and procedures for the risk
management are as follows:

Risk \
management
review
BB EER
Risk Risk
monitoring identification
L]
ARER Business BB >
objectives
¥BER
Control Risk
activities assessment
EES) BraT i /
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Risk identification Both internal and external factors
including economic, political, social,
technology and environmental factors,
laws and regulations, business objectives
and stakeholders’ expectation would be
considered.

Risk assessment The risk identified would be assessed
and rated based on the likelihood and
impact to the achievement of the Group’s
objectives.

Control activities The internal control procedures have been
designed and implemented to address the
risks.

Risk monitoring Risk register has been maintained and
updated regularly to monitor risks on an
ongoing basis.

The Board and the Audit Committee
would perform a review on any change of

Risk management
review
significant risks of the Group.

Internal Audit Function

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, the Company appointed
external advisers to perform the ongoing monitoring of the systems
of internal control of the Group and report their findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee and follow up the status of
implementation of the recommendations to ensure all significant control
activities are properly in place within the Group.

The Group has adopted a risk-based approach in developing the annual
audit plan to cover business activities with material risks across the
Group. The rotation basis would be applied to operations with similar
risk associated so as to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness of the
internal audit.

All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies for the
period under review have been communicated to the management, who
are required to establish remedial plans to correct those internal control
deficiencies within a reasonable time period.

Based on the audit result, the advisers reported that no significant
deficiency on the internal control system of the Group for the period
under review had been noted.
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Review on Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Board conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2020 and confirmed that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems in respect of financial,
operational, compliance controls, risk management functions and
adequacy of resources, were effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has
established policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside
information to the public when available. The senior management of
the Group will take all reasonable measures from time to time to ensure
that the disclosure of inside information is in compliance with the
requirements of all applicable laws and regulations.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the
achieving of highest possible standards of openness, probity and
accountability. Procedures are formulated to assist individual employee
to disclose internally and at a high level, information which the individual
believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety within the Group. Such
policy is made available on the website of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that
Board procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence
to proper Board processes and timely preparation of and dissemination
to the Directors comprehensive Board meeting agendas and papers.
Minutes of all meetings of the Board and Board committees are prepared
and maintained by the company secretary to record in sufficient details
the matters considered and decisions reached by the Board or Board
committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting views voiced
by any Director. All draft and finalised minutes of the Board meetings
and meetings of the Board committees are sent to Directors or Board
committee members as appropriate for comments, approval and records.
All records are available for inspection by any Director upon request.
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Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus (“Mr. Cheung”) resigned as the company
secretary of the Company with effect from 3 May 2019. After the
resignation of Mr. Cheung, Mr. Yung Chi Hung, Quincy (“Mr. Yung”) was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company on the same date.
Mr. Yung resigned as the company secretary of the Company with effect
from 10 May 2019. After the resignation of Mr. Yung, Mr. Leung Sui Wah,
Raymond (“Mr. Leung”), an executive Director, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on the same date. Mr. Leung reports
directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter alia, providing updated
information to all Directors from time to time.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, Mr. Leung complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is conscious of its role as an environmentally and socially
responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community
wellbeing from time to time and has environmental friendly policies in
place. We support the communities and encourage our employees to
participate in charitable events and environmental protection activities.
Details of the environmental and social responsibility matters of the
Group were disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company on pages 48 to 75 of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Special General Meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require a special general meeting (the
“SGM") to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to bye-law 62 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM shall
be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), and, in default, may be convened by
the requisitionist(s).

Pursuant to bye-law 63 of the bye-laws of the Company, a SGM may be
called by notice in writing of not less than fourteen clear days and not
less than ten clear business days.
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The Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements, and the Shareholders concerned would be responsible
for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto in accordance with
the requirements under Section 74 of the Companies Act once a valid
requisition is received.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-twentieth of the
total voting rights at the date of the requisition or not less than 100
Shareholders may put forward a proposal at a Shareholders’ meeting,
pursuant to the Companies Act, by sending a written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong. The proposal should be
stated in the written requisition and such written requisition should
be submitted as early as practicable to enable the Company to make
necessary arrangement (in case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six weeks before the meeting; and in case of any
other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting).

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must provide their full
name, contact details and identification, in the originally signed written
requisition, notice or statement (as the case may be), in order to give
effect thereto. Information of Shareholder(s) may be disclosed as
required by law.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board and/or the
secretary of the Company, either by post, by facsimiles or by email,
together with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax
number, via the following channels:

For corporate affairs:
Address: China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
Suite 3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon
Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2312 8329
Fax: (852) 2312 8148
Email: pr@cnagri-products.com

For shareholding or entitlement affairs:

Address: Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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The Company encourages the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s annual general meetings and/or other general meetings,
at which the Directors are on hand to answer questions raised by the
Shareholders on the Company’s business operations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There was no change in the memorandum of association and bye-laws of
the Company during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020.

The memorandum of association and bye-laws of the Company are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Board will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency to ensure
its sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the
stakeholders of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of management and
sales of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC.
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are
set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including a fair review of the business and a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the period under review, an analysis of the Group’s performance
using financial key performance indicators, an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business and a discussion on the Group's
environmental policies and performance and compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group, can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. In addition,
a discussion on relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
of this annual report. These discussions form part of this report of the
directors.

Structured Contracts

Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment
(2015 version), value-added telecommunications services are subject to
foreign investment restriction in which a foreign investor shall hold no
more than 50% equity interest in a value-added telecommunications

services provider (excluding e-commerce) in the PRC.

The Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) services belong to a sub-
category of value-added telecommunications services. According to
the Administrative Rules for Foreign Investment in Telecommunications
Enterprises, foreign investors shall contribute to no more than 50% of the
registered capital of a value-added telecommunications services provider
(excluding e-commerce) and any such foreign investor shall maintain
a good track record and possess relevant operational experience in
the value-added telecommunications services industry (the “Foreign
Shareholding Restrictions”).
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Shenzhen Gudeng, the then direct wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of
Shenzhen Zhibo Tianyu Trading Development Limited (“Shenzhen
Zhibo”), an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the Company,
was incorporated in September 2015 and received the ICP license on 7
September 2016. It holds one website and two mobile applications for
the Group and is principally engaged in online provision of agricultural
products in the PRC.

On 19 June 2015, the Circular on Removing the Restrictions on
Shareholding Ratio Held by Foreign Investors in Online Data Processing
and Transaction Processing (Operating E-commerce) Business (the
“E-commerce Circular”) was issued, which allows the foreign ownership
in online data processing and transaction processing (operating
e-commerce) business up to 100%. However, since the E-commerce
Circular does not provide any clear legal definition of “e-commerce”,
it is unclear as to whether the business to be conducted by Shenzhen
Gudeng would fall within the scope of the E-commerce Circular to
benefit from the loosened restrictions on the Foreign Shareholding
Restrictions.

As such, Shenzhen Zhibo (i) entered into a disposal agreement on
11 July 2016 with Yu Hui Jun (the “Nominee Shareholder”) and (ii)
further entered into the exclusive business cooperation agreement, the
exclusive call option agreement, the equity pledge agreement, the power
of attorney and the ancillary documents (collectively the “Structured
Contracts”) with the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng on 9
October 2016 (other than the exclusive business cooperation agreement
which was entered into by and between Shenzhen Zhibo and Shenzhen
Gudeng only and the power of attorney which was executed by the
Nominee Shareholder in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo) such that the Group
is entitled to acquire the rights and ability to control the business of
Shenzhen Gudeng and to obtain the economic benefit (the “Contractual
Arrangements”).

The exclusive business cooperation agreement and the exclusive call
option agreement had an initial term of 3 years commencing from the
date of the relevant agreements which were renewed for another 3 years
on 8 October 2019. As security for the payment of service fees under the
exclusive business cooperation agreement and the performance of the
exclusive call option agreement and the power of attorney, the equity
pledge agreement executed in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will only be
terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee Shareholder
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements are fulfilled. Similarly,
for protection of the Group, the power of attorney executed in favour of
Shenzhen Zhibo will be valid so long as the Contractual Arrangements
are in place. The Company will keep exploring various opportunities in
building up its ICP services operations for the purposes of being qualified
as early as possible, to acquire the entire equity interest of Shenzhen
Gudeng if and when the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions are lifted. For
details of the Structured Contracts, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 11 July 2016 and 11 October 2016, respectively.
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Save for the exclusive business cooperation agreement which involves
the payment of a service fee by Shenzhen Gudeng to Shenzhen Zhibo on
a monthly basis, and the nominal consideration paid by Shenzhen Zhibo
to the Nominee Shareholder under the exclusive call option agreement,
each of the Structured Contracts does not involve payment of any
consideration.

The Structured Contracts, taken as a whole, permit the results and
financial operations of Shenzhen Gudeng to be consolidated in
the Company, as if it was the Company’s subsidiary resulting in all
economic benefits of its business flowing to the Company. Through the
appointment by Shenzhen Zhibo of all directors and senior management
of Shenzhen Gudeng, the Directors believe that Shenzhen Zhibo is able
to effectively supervise, manage and operate the business operations,
expansion plans, financial policies and assets of Shenzhen Gudeng,
and at the same time, ensure due implementation of the Structured
Contracts. According to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, a
subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by another entity (known as the
parent). An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the

ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Although the Company does not directly or indirectly own Shenzhen
Gudeng, the Structured Contracts enable the Company to exercise
control over and receive economic benefits generated from the business
operation of Shenzhen Gudeng and the validity and legality of the
Structured Contracts have been confirmed by the Company’s PRC legal
adviser. The Group derives economic benefits from the ICP services
provided by Shenzhen Gudeng. Under such circumstances, the Directors
are of the view that it is fair and reasonable for Shenzhen Zhibo to be
entitled to all the economic benefits generated from Shenzhen Gudeng.
The Structured Contracts also permit Shenzhen Zhibo to exclusively
acquire all or part of the equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng, if and when
permitted by PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the Group’s lack
of equity ownership in Shenzhen Gudeng, the Group is able to control
the business and financial position of Shenzhen Gudeng in substance
through the Structured Contracts. As a result of the Structured Contracts,
Shenzhen Gudeng is accounted for as the Company’s subsidiary, and
its financial position and operating results are consolidated in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The revenue, net loss and total asset value subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to nil and approximately HK$1.8 million for the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 and approximately HK$0.5 million
as of 31 March 2020, respectively.
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Manner of Settlement of Disputes which may Arise from the
Contractual Arrangements

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, any dispute arising from the
interpretation and performance of the Structured Contracts between
the parties thereto should first be resolved through negotiation,
failing which any party may submit the said dispute to the South China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission (or Shenzhen
Court of International Arbitration) with a view to resolving the dispute
through arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules thereof.

Arrangements in the Event of Death, Bankruptcy or Divorce of
the Nominee Shareholder

The Nominee Shareholder has undertaken in the exclusive call option
agreement and the equity pledge agreement that she shall make all
appropriate arrangements and execute all necessary documents to
ensure that, in the event of death, loss of capacity, bankruptcy, divorce
(or other circumstances) of herself, there would be no adverse effect or
obstacle in enforcing the exclusive call option agreement and the equity
pledge agreement by her successors.

Undertaking to Mitigate any Potential Conflict of Interests
between Shenzhen Zhibo and the Nominee Shareholder

The Nominee Shareholder may have potential conflicts with Shenzhen
Zhibo and the Company. To mitigate any potential conflict of interests,
the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng have undertaken in
the exclusive call option agreement that, during the period the exclusive
call option agreement remains effective, unless otherwise agreed by
Shenzhen Zhibo, the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng (i)
would not participate in any business which may be in competition with
the business of Shenzhen Zhibo or its related companies; and (ii) would
appoint nominees nominated by Shenzhen Zhibo as Shenzhen Gudeng’s
director(s) or executive director(s).

Risk Factors

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements: (1) the PRC Government may determine that the
documents for the Contractual Arrangements do not comply with
applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangements may not
provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the Contractual
Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and
additional tax may be imposed.

Furthermore, the Group conducts its business operation in the PRC
through Shenzhen Gudeng by way of the Contractual Arrangements,
but certain of the terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws. As advised by the Company’s PRC
legal advisers, the Contractual Arrangements were narrowly tailored to
minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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Internal Control Measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of Shenzhen
Gudeng, the Contractual Arrangements have provided, without having
obtained the consent of Shenzhen Zhibo, the Nominee Shareholder
and Shenzhen Gudeng (i) shall not sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose
of in any manner any material assets, legitimate interest or revenue of
Shenzhen Gudeng, or allow any encumbrance thereon of any security
interest; and (ii) shall always operate Shenzhen Gudeng'’s business in the
ordinary and usual course of business and shall maintain the asset value
of Shenzhen Gudeng and refrain from any action/omission that may
adversely affect Shenzhen Gudeng’s operating status and asset value.

No Material Change in the Contractual Arrangements

The Board confirmed that there is no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted, and its impact on the Group, and the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements and the financial assistance are on normal commercial
terms.

No Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

The Board also confirmed that there is no unwinding of the Structured
Contracts or failure to unwind when the restrictions that led to the
adopted Structured Contracts are removed.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 123 to 276 of this
annual report.

The Board adopted a dividend policy in order to promote greater
dividend policy transparency. In deciding whether to recommend
the payment of dividend to the Shareholders, the Board will take
into account of a number of factors, including but not limited to the
Company’s operation and financial performance, liquidity condition,
capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate, subject to the
applicable rules of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company. Based on
these factors, the determination of dividend distribution, the amount
and frequency, will be made at the discretion of the Board.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 (for the year ended 31
December 2018: Nil). No interim dividend was paid to the Shareholders
during the period under review (for the year ended 31 December 2018:
Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options of the
Company during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, together with
the reasons therefor, are set out in notes 32 and 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the period under review, other than the Convertible Notes as set
out in the paragraph headed “Convertible Notes” in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and the share option scheme as
set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme’ and notes 30 and 34
to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 280 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Details of movements in the financial assets of the Group during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 are set out in notes 23 and 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES
During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, neither the Company

nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2020, the Company had no reserves available for distribution
to equity holders of the Company calculated in accordance with the
Companies Act.

PROMISSORY NOTES

Details of movements in the promissory notes of the Company during
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the period under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
Mr. Yau Yuk Shing

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ng Yat Cheung
Mr. Lau King Lung
Mr. Wong Ping Yuen

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Yau
Yuk Shing and Mr. Ng Yat Cheung will retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

All of the independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term
of three years and are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Company’s bye-laws. The Company has received from each of
the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the existing independent non-executive Directors to be
independent as at the date of this annual report.

O Z=

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® F1 B2 532

P L1 VNG

it

RARIRAGKEZ FEREE_E-_EF=-A=+
—AIt+ABARNZEEHFEE  DRIERGEATE
WMEMI R RIGAESEBRA -

Ao R

TECBF=A=+—H  ARFLEREAF
ERHEAIHRD IR T AR AR A ANRE

-

A RE

AEBZARRBEREEC 77$ R=+—H
L+HRBEARZESHFBERNESHBMRME
29 ¢

S

REBERAREEAFREAPZERTMNT :

P

HITESE -
BRIRERSE 4
(FEEFRITEAAE)
BH S
BBEWELE

B FEHITES -
RHERE
BIE R e
TR E

BRBARNRZ ARIMAIFEIE  HEMEERRHE
BSREBNEERRBEF KNG LHERE  XAF
SERBMEEERET -

2EBIUYFNTESAHA=F  LAEEAREZ
AR B ERT - ARG EESBEILIENITE
$$E?FL$%EE'J%3 131!%%E2%i%@ﬁﬁ?‘ﬁj2¢
EHRABH - ARBRRBMARTBELIENTES
EG‘ZIKE#&EI,HHEEE%iAj: o



—Z TR o 2020 Annual Report

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 44 to 45 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with any company in the Group which is
not determinable by such company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him/her had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at
the end of the period under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is
currently in force and was in force throughout the period under review.
The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance
coverage in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 3 May 2012, the Company terminated the old share option scheme
adopted on 4 June 2002 and adopted a new share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentive to selected
eligible persons (the “Participants”) to take up options for their
contribution to the Group. Participants include directors, including
independent non-executive directors, employees, individuals who work
for any member of the Group or any substantial Shareholder or any
company controlled by a substantial Shareholder, holders of securities
issued by any member of the Group or any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Group.
The Scheme became effective on 3 May 2012 and will remain in force for
a period of 10 years. The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 2
years.

Under the Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the Participants
to subscribe for the shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”). The offer of
a grant of share options must be accepted by the relevant Participants
within 30 days after the date of grant upon payment of a consideration
of HK$1 for each lot of share options granted. The exercise price is to be
determined by the Board and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
official closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average of the official closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.

The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the Shareholders. Options granted to substantial
Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors, or any of their
respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an
aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance
by the Shareholders. There is no specific requirement that an option
must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but
the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum
period at the time of grant of any particular option. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised for a period of
more than 10 years from the date of grant.
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Subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general meeting, the
Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of approval by the Shareholders at general
meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
at any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
Other details of the Scheme are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Since the adoption of the Scheme and up to 31 March 2020, no option
had been granted. As at the date of this annual report, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme is 995,306,782,
representing 10% of the existing issued share capital of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” as set
out above and in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, at
no time during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures
of, the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouses or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 March 2020, the
following corporations or persons (other than the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed or taken to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

FERRRBRRAS LH/ER  EFSREREHRL
RERRAXBERASHEEACETROARZ
10% ° BEA LXZ2HE - HEMREETERE
ER B %A B AR B 2z R A E A B U A B3R
BRARITERZBREMAEETZED - BB
BB EITID 230% © Zat 8 2 R IRH RN
AV MAMTE3S -

BZT8l W EEE S - TF = =+— El E}E
EEHERE  NAFHRAE - BIBZTEI]

2 B 17 48 205995,306,782 % - 1£$@ETIE7EE€§%?
f&Z<10% ©

ESRBEROEEE ZER

B X[ Re st Bl —En R AR & B TS SR I RE 34 P

BEEN RBE_Z-_ZTF=A=+—Hit+A
EARNERERE  AARBRERNEAESIEES
BRI F ) F LR L ERERN - MR ES
W REREN T NESHE - W EMET

SRR BRIRER - SA B o K AR AP 8 2 AL A
RIS AR R EE E R B E M EmEA B
HIRZ SRR o

FERRARORAEBERG 2R
/ﬂ %

R-ZZ_FTF=ZA=+—H BEZMZ
FEBS AL (BERAR TIE?"’JE&/\E[‘?M\)%
B HEEFEAGRRFAARARE(EZRAEHF
BI)F336 AT E 2 &M AT 2 Bt KRB
D2 RERRBIKR ©

109



China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® B EZERR S HR AR

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

PR 28R

Long positions in the Shares:

Approximate
Total number

percentage of

of Shares and the Company'’s

Name of Shareholders

REREM

Easy One Financial Group Limited
(“Easy One”)

52EeHEBRERAR(ZEE])

Goal Success Investments Limited

Biomore Investments Limited

Total Smart Investments Limited

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

T EERITRABR AR

Wang On Group Limited

REEBRRAF

Mr. Tang Ching Ho

BB A

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin

Capacity

E-gv)

Interest of controlled corporation

SR EE RS

Beneficial owner

E=RfEAA

Interest of controlled corporation

S EE RS

Interest of controlled corporation

S EE RS

Interest of controlled corporation

SR EE RS

Interest of controlled corporation

SR EE RS

Interest of controlled corporation

SEHDEE RS

Family interest

BX

ENiY

underlying

Shares involved

B R4 &
HHE R B2

2,265,200,062
(Note b)
(B 3ED)

5,312,395,685
(Note ¢)
(Fff3EC)

5,312,395,685
(Note ¢)
(Fff3EC)

5,312,395,685
(Note c)
(Fff3EC)

5,312,395,685
(Note c)
(Fff3EC)

5,312,395,685
(Note c)
(Fff3EC)

5,312,395,685
(Note ¢)
(Fff3EC)

5,312,395,685
(Note d)
(P 3Ed)

total issued
Shares
HARATE BT
RGBS 2
BRBEDE
(Note a)

(Pff&Ea)

%

22.75

53.37

53.37

53.37

53.37

53.37

53.37

53.37



Notes:

(b)

(d)

— =

The percentages stated represented the number of ordinary Shares involved
divided by the number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2020.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, Onger Investments Limited and Peony Finance Limited
were wholly-owned by Loyal Fame International Limited which was in turn
wholly-owned by Easy One. By virtue of the SFO, Easy One was deemed to
be interested in 2,007,700,062 Shares and 257,500,000 underlying Shares
which were held by Onger Investments Limited and Peony Finance Limited,
respectively.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests forms published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, the 5,312,395,685 Shares were held by Goal Success
Investments Limited, which was directly wholly owned by Biomore
Investments Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart
Investments Limited which was directly wholly owned by Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited). Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited was
owned as to 58.08% by Wang On Group Limited which was owned as to
57.39% by Mr. Tang Ching Ho, together with his associates. By virtue of the
SFO, each of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Wang On Group Limited, Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited, Total Smart Investments Limited and Biomore
Investments Limited were deemed to be interested in those 5,312,395,685

Shares which were held by Goal Success Investments Limited.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin was taken to be interested in 5,312,395,685
Shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, was deemed to be
interested under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, there were no other

persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company)

who had any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying

Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

All of the Group’s subsidiaries are equal opportunity employers, with
the selection and promotion of individuals based on suitability for the
position offered. The salary and benefit levels of the Group’s employees
are kept at a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance related basis within the general framework of the Group’s
emolument policies.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and the Directors
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The Company has adopted the Scheme
as an incentive to the Directors and eligible participants. Details of the
Scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group pays retirement contributions in accordance with the
statutory requirements for our PRC staff and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for our Hong Kong staff. Particulars of these
retirement schemes are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020, the percentages of sales
and purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest customers and five
largest suppliers, respectively, were both less than 5%.

At no time during the period under review have the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the issued Shares) had any interests
in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the period under review, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$3,476,000 (for the year ended 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$377,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 39(c) to the
consolidated financial statements, no controlling Shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries has any contract of significance with the Company or its
subsidiaries during the period under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the period under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on corporate governance principles
and practices adopted by the Company and any deviation to the code
provisions of the CG Code during the period under review is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 76 to 97 of this annual
report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Contractual Arrangements

Upon signing of the Structured Contracts, the details of which are set
out in the section headed “Principal Activities and Business Review -
Structured Contracts” above, Shenzhen Gudeng was treated as a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhibo and the accounts of which are
consolidated with those of the Company. Notwithstanding that Shenzhen
Gudeng will be treated as the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, it
is, at the same time, treated as the Company’s connected person as it is
wholly owned by the Nominee Shareholder, a director of certain wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, for the purposes of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
Structured Contracts constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange
has granted a wavier from strict compliance with Rule 14A.53 of the
Listing Rules to set a cap in respect of the Contractual Arrangements and
the financial assistance (provided that Shenzhen Gudeng remains to be
regarded as a subsidiary of the Company).
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The amount of financial assistance (including: capital injections) made by
the Group to Shenzhen Gudeng was approximately RMB1,492,687 for the
period from 1 January 2019 to 8 October 2019.

The independent non-executive Directors have confirmed to the Board
that they have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and are
of the view that:

(a) those transactions were conducted in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group;

(b) those transactions were entered into on normal commercial terms,
or if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they are on normal commercial terms, then in relation
to the Group, those transactions were on terms no less favorable
than the terms available from or no more favorable than the terms

available to (as the case may be) independent third parties; and

(c) those transactions were conducted in accordance with the
relevant agreement governing them on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditors of the Company were engaged to report on the Company’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagement Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditors have issued their unqualified letter containing their conclusions
in respect of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, indicating that:

(a) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group; and

(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions.
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Since the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from strict compliance
with Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, the review of annual cap
requirement is not applicable in these transactions. Other than that, the
Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the requirements
of Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules in respect of continuing connected

transactions.

The transactions relating to the remuneration of the Directors took
place during the period under review as set out in note 39(a) to the
consolidated financial statements under the heading of “Material Related
Party Transactions” were the service contracts entered into between
the Directors which were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The remaining
transactions which took place during the period under review as set
out under the heading of “Material Related Party Transactions” did not
constitute connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total issued Shares as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the fifteen months ended 31
March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting period are
set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITORS

The financial statements for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020
were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, whose term of
office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
as the external auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

In the last three years preceding 31 March 2020, there has been no
change in the external auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

B &3 m FE A R E
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA AGRI-PRODUCTS EXCHANGE LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Agri-
Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 123 to 276,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fifteen
months ended from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the fifteen months ended from 1
January 2019 to 31 March 2020 in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
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opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

HRELSR

Valuation of investment properties
REYFEZ1EE

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements

Management has estimated the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties to be approximately HK$2,839,091,000
as at 31 March 2020, with net gain in fair value for the period
ended 31 March 2020 recorded in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$148,801,000. Independent external valuations were obtained
in order to support management’s estimates. The valuations are
dependent on certain key assumptions that require significant
management judgement, including market selling price, market
rental and plot ratio of land use right.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMEELTNEES E

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of

investment properties included:

Evaluation of the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the property industry and using our

valuation experts; and

Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found the key assumptions were supported by the
available evidence.
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Key audit matter

HREXEE

Carrying value of stock of properties
WFEFEZREE

Refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 3% BURD

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRMESRTHNERESZ

Our procedures in relation to management’s determination

of the carrying values of stock of properties included:

The carrying values of stock of properties was approximately
HK$1,611,442,000 as at 31 March 2020, with written down of
approximately HK$2,969,000 for the period ended 31 March
2020 recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. The management estimated
the net realisable values of the stock of properties by reference
to sale proceeds received after the end of reporting period less
selling expenses, which involve management estimates.

Assessing the appropriateness of the methodologies
used by management for the assessments of the net
realisable value of stock of properties; and

Comparing the management’s estimates of selling
prices for similar properties to market data.

We found the carrying values of the stock of properties were
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we concluded that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 3% BURD
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
R

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun

Practicing Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 0F PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= N2

E/\

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 &%= —

Fifteen

months from

1 January 2019 to
31 March 2020

HttZmWaE R

EoRF=RA=+—HIETHER

Year from
1 January 2018 to
31 December 2018

B=Z—-h#%F B-Z—\F
—ﬁ —HZE —HA—H=%
—ECEE —ZE-N\F
=ZA=t+—-B | +=ZA=+—H
IE+H{EA IFFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B3 FET FAET
Turnover e 5 1,091,437 778,857
Cost of operation LN (552,483) (387,962)
Gross profit EF 538,954 390,895
Other revenue and other net income H b as R B FUA 6 19,587 21,313
General and administrative expenses ~ —RRITHFISL (206,847) (234,876)
Selling expenses HEMRY (97,187) (50,356)
Profit from operations before fair AT ESBREEN SRR
value changes and impairment 254,507 126,976
Net gain in fair value of investment TEMERNTFEFRE
properties 148,801 4,507
Change in fair value of derivative MESBIAZATEEZS
financial instruments (1,787) (17,687)
Written down of stock of properties YT EMR (2,969) (66,371)
Share of profit on joint venture BEEEERT = 10,352
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB A 7 Mk 37 = 39,846
Profit from operations REEA 398,552 97,623
Finance costs AE A 7(a) (226,752) (211,702)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BBLAIRR(E8) 7 171,800 (114,079)
Income tax FriSHt 8 (138,475) (65,240)
Profit/(loss) for the period/year RERRFERF (EBR) 33,325 (179,319)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income, Hft2E (&) WA
net of income tax (MBRATEBL)
Items that may be reclassified HensioEsEas
subsequently to profit or loss: BH -
Release of exchange differences upon & I /& A RIRFARERIE H £ 58
disposal of subsidiaries - 1,353
Exchange differences on translating REIRINERS S| B E R Z5
foreign operations (136,612) (184,698)
Other comprehensive loss for the AR, ANFEHMEEEE
period/year, net of income tax (F0BR A5 R (136,612) (183,345)
Total comprehensive loss for the AR AEFEELABEEE
period/year, net of income tax (MBRATEBE) (103,287) (362,664)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeBmRkRAtEZERER

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019to | 1January 2018 to
31 March 2020 |31 December 2018
BE=Z—h& BT N\F
—A—HZE —A—H=E
—B-EF —ZT—N\F
=A=+—H +=-A=+—8©
IE+HMEA IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FERT FHET
Profit/(loss) attributable to: BT AL EEZRER(BE) :
Owners of the Company PINNETE YN 5,880 (212,596)
Non-controlling interests JEFERR HE =S 27,445 33,277
33,325 (179,319)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income  BLF A LG 2E(EE),
attributable to: A%
Owners of the Company KAREA A (117,331) (378,013)
Non-controlling interests IEFE AR R A 14,044 15,349
(103,287) (362,664)
Earnings/(loss) per share BREF(&8)
- Basic (HK cents) - EAREA) 13(a) 0.06 (2.14)
- Diluted (HK cents) - EE OB 13(b) 0.06 (2.14)

The notes on pages 130 to 276 form part of these consolidated financial ~ £130%276 8 2 i sE K I F47 & M 5 R« 2 485K
statements. IS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R e B855I 0 AR

Asat31 March2020 A —ZE-ZFF=HA=+—H

As at As at
31 March 31 December
2020 2018
R-B-ZF RZT—N\F
=A=+—H +=-—A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B EE FERT FHET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B R 15 45,759 52,768
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16(a) 18,802 =
Investment properties LEME 17 2,839,091 3,165,921
Intangible assets B EE 18 = 6,061
2,903,652 3,224,750
Current assets REBEE
Stock of properties MERFE 20 1,611,442 1,597,574
Trade and other receivables 5 & H K GRIE 21 233,817 250,431
Loan receivables ERE R 22 49,769 40,327
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEIEREBRRER
profit or loss ZEREE 23 394 2,175
Bank and cash balances SRITRIR S 45k 24 339,599 488,415
2,235,021 2,378,922
Current liabilities REBEE
Deposits and other payables e R E M RER T8 25 683,044 776,193
Contract liabilities GHEE 26 464,983 476,774
Receipts in advance B R IE 160,237 175,588
Bonds &% 28 = 844,055
Bank and other borrowings FBITREMES 27 231,820 328,036
Lease liabilities HEBaRE 16(b) 3,590 =
Promissory notes AR 29 376,000 376,000
Income tax payable FEFTISHL 31(a) 25,899 73,639
1,945,573 3,050,285
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE(BE)FHE 289,448 (671,363)
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERABEE 3,193,100 2,553,387
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e AR R

Asat31March2020 RZE-_ZTF=A=+—H

As at As at
31 March 31 December
2020 2018
R-ZZB-THF R=ZF—\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—-H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FTHET FAET
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Bonds &% 28 176,998 182,192
Bank and other borrowings SBITREMEE 27 779,669 120,003
Convertible bonds AR (E 5 30 246,894 234,747
Lease liabilities HEBE 16(b) 20,653 =
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEEE 31(b) 483,521 421,081
1,707,735 958,023
Net assets FBEE 1,485,365 1,595,364
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital %N 32(a) 99,531 99,531
Reserves G 32(b) 992,109 1,109,440
Total equity attributable to owners QA RHEH AEGEREE
of the Company 1,091,640 1,208,971
Non-controlling interests JEVERR R 2 393,725 386,393
Total equity R 1,485,365 1,595,364

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 29 June RZZT_ZTFXA- TN BEESSHERTET

2020. B o
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas Leung Sui Wah, Raymond
R % R R
Director Director
EFE BFE

The notes on pages 130 to 276 form part of these consolidated financial  2130%276 8 2 i@ It Z 454 B 15z 2 K
statements. 2D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= N7/
Z N \ n\I:Iln
n‘/T\ 1: E.b %

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 Eﬁziisﬁiiﬁ A= Jr Alt+HR@EA

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTREAELR
Capital Convertible Non-
Share  Share redemption Contribution Shareholders’  Other Exchange bonds  Statutory Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve surplus ~ contribution  reserve  reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests equity
Rkt ExEE B4 BR At EX TRRES gt FER 3
Bx & 1 1] 18 &R e i EEERE | gt i) &%
HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TEn  ThEn TER TER TEn TEr  TEn ThR TEn TER TEr  TEr  TEn
Asat 1 January 2018 RIB-NE
-A-A 99531 3923470 945 2215409 664 (15021)  (34406) 79541 - (4682832) 1587307 369111 1956418
Release of exchange HERBAAE
differences upon disposal BRERZE
of subsidiaries - - - - - - 1353 - - - 1353 - 1353
Exchange differences on BERZRERL
translation into EiEE
presentation currency - - - - - - (166,770) - - - (166770)  (17,928) (184698
Other comprehensiveloss ~ AEEEM2EHE
for the year - - - - - - (165417) - - - (165417 (17.928)  (183,345)
(Loss)/profit for the year KER(FE) /57 - - - - - - - - - (12%%)  (125%) 33277 (179319)
Total comprehensive RERRENA/
income(loss) for the year (BiR)EE - - - - - - (165417) = - (25%)  (378013) 15349 (362,664)
Transaction costrelatingto ~ BEER TS
right issue A -6y - - - = = - - - (323) = (333)
Acquisition of non-wholly W2 ERA
owned subsidiaries HEAR ° = = = = ° = = = = = 1933 1933
Asat31 December 2018and ~ HZF )\
1 January 2019 +-A=1+-A
R=Z-nE
-R-A 99,531 3,923,147 945 2,215,409 664  (15021) (199,823 79,547 - (4,895428) 1,208971 386,393 1,595,364
Exchange differences on BRER2HERL
translation into EXER
presentation currency - - - - - - (123211) - - - (123211)  (13,401)  (136,612)
Other comprehensive loss AERE2EEE
for the period - - - - - - (3m) - - - (123211)  (13,401)  (136,612)
Profitfor the period AR < = - - - = = = = 5,880 5880 27445 33325
Total comprehensive (loss)/  ZEIRZE (&)
income for the period LN - - = = = - (man) = = 5880  (117,331) 14,044 (103,287)
Transferto statutory reserve ~ EAZATERE - - & C & < = = 15094 (15,094) = s =
Dividend paid to non- BT ERER
controlling interests Ra < S S S S < = S S S - (612 (6712
As at 31 March 2020
99,531 3,923,147 945 2,215,409 664  (15,021) (323,034) 79,547 15094  (4,904,642) 1,091,640 393,725 1,485,365

The notes on pages 130 to 276 form part of these consolidated financial £

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\/-_l_\

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 & %=

EEERB &

TECRFE=A=t+—HILt+HE

Fifteen

months from

1 January 2019 to
31 March 2020

Year from
1 January 2018 to
31 December 2018

BE=ZE—h&F BZZ—N\F
—RB—HZ =F=[Ez=
—E-EH —T—N\F
=A=+—H +-A=+—8©
I+ HEA IEFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FERT FHET
Operating activities R
Profit/(loss) for the period/year ANER, AEERF (E5i8) 33,325 (179,319)
Adjustments for: MAUTEEZRE :
Income tax expenses recognised in R R E M2 E W R ER
statement of profit or loss and other ZIBHAX
comprehensive income 138,475 65,240
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BERZENE
equipment 7(c) 16,232 13,808
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7(c) 3,729 =
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESRS 7(c) 6,061 6,061
Allowance for expected credit losses on & 5 K £ fth JiE U 2038 K2 g U
trade and other receivables and loan BERzEHEEBBRE
receivables 7(c) 6,617 1,642
Unrealised (gain)/loss on financial BAFEIRERRER KRR
assets at fair value through ZEMBEZABIR M),
profit or loss B8 7(c) (6) 213
Change in fair value of derivative MESMIT A AT EEZES
financial instruments 7(c) 1,787 17,687
Net gain in fair value on investment KEME RN TEFR S
properties 17 (148,801) (4,507)
Written down on stock of properties L EXENE V1 20 2,969 66,371
Written off of investment properties s e IES 6 17 1,451 1,991
Loss on early redemption of bonds RRERESZEE 560 3,776
Finance costs BE A 7(a) 226,752 211,702
Bank and other interest income RITREAMF S M A 6 (10,102) (7,243)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB ARz WS 37 = (39,846)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HE&E¥E - BE & &iE 2 E1E
equipment 7(c) 575 410
Operating profit before changesin B EE LB BT 2 K& BRI
working capital 279,624 157,986
Increase in trade and other receivables 2 5 [ £ b B U FRIE A1 (6,867) (68,185)
Increase in loan receivables FE U B FRIE hN (5,030) (2,101)
Decrease in stock of properties MEGFERD 305,611 99,997
Decrease in deposit receipts in advance TEYUIZ E % 2> (10,433) -
Increase in contract liabilities BB EEM 6,501 274,760
(Decrease)/increase in deposits and R REMEMREBECD),
other payables #n (158,961) 20,839
Cash generated from operations REEKMEBZREE 410,445 483,296
Tax paid [=ENEiAE
PRC enterprise income tax paid BT BB (102,963) (32,212)
Net cash generated from operating EEEBHEZRESTE
activities 307,482 451,084
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERBR

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019 to | 1January 2018 to
31 March 2020 |31 December 2018
B=ZE—h&F BEZZ—N\F
—RB—HZ —F—B%
—E-EF —ZT—N\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—H
I+ HEA IEFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE FERT FET
Investing activities REXEWK
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BEREEZ
plant and equipment Fr8sIE 160 347
(Payments for)/proceeds from BEMER), B RIEFE
investment properties, net (14,657) 46,630
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERAFENR RN ESRE
assets at fair value through profit or R SRMEEFTSHRIE
loss - 3,385
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries  H & B A Z ATEHIE = 82,432
Payments for purchases of property, BEYE  BEMREZ
plant and equipment, net NRERR 15 (11,954) (11,072)
Bank and other interest received B UERTT R E A F 8 10,102 7,500
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEK(FTA),/ gz
investing activities HEFEHE (16,349) 129,222
Financing activities R
Proceeds from new bank borrowings FERITRE R Z TSR 283,407 151,440
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITHER (301,601) (340,873)
Repayment of other borrowings BB EMER = (22,773)
Repayment of bonds redemption BEEFERR
settlement (275,999) (256,337)
Net proceeds from rights issue HARFT1SFIE 5 58 - (323)
Net cash flows from acquisition of non- WiEIEEEHEFHI B A RIS
wholly owned subsidiaries ZIREMFE = 1,933
Dividend paid to non-controlling SIS R 2 R R
interests (6,712) -
Repayments of leases BEHEE (5,799) -
Interest paid EAHLE (120,883) (161,524)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEKTAZEEFHE (427,587) (628,457)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRBRESEHELFE
equivalents (136,454) (48,151)
Cash and cash equivalents at the RE ENzRERRLEE
beginning of the period/year 24 488,415 513,827
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExgHTE
changes (12,362) 22,739
Cash and cash equivalents attheend R, " EXCZEHERBELSE
of the period/year 24 339,599 488,415
The notes on pages 130 to 276 form part of these consolidated financial ~ £51302276 B 2 M iE 18 It 4R & M IS RR 2 426K

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P

nvj\

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 & %=

CREE Y

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries the “Group”) is incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and
the principal place of business is Suite 3202, 32/F, Skyline Tower,
39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The
immediate holding company of the Company is Goal Success
Investments Limited and the intermediate holding company is
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (“WYT") (Stock code:
897). In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited
(Stock code: 1222).

The Group is principally engaged in the management and sales
of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which
is also the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000") except otherwise
indicated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CO").

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to the
periods presented, unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 &%= —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b)

Change of financial year end date

On 29 January 2020, the Group announced to change its
financial year end date from 31 December to 31 March.
Accordingly, the current financial period will cover a fifteen
months period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020. This
consolidated financial information now presented covers a
fifteen-month period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2020,
and the comparative figures in this consolidated financial
information cover a twelve-month period from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2018. Consequently, the comparative
amounts for the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and related notes are not
directly comparable with those of the current period.

The Company changed its financial year end date in order
to align the Company’s financial year end date with its
ultimate holding company.

Basis of preparation of financial statements

(i) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Basis of preparation of financial statements
(Continued)

()

Basis of measurement (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

For financial instruments and investment properties
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c) Basis of preparation of financial statements
(Continued)

()

(ii)

Basis of measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s subsidiaries are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is HKS. For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted
HKS as its presentation currency for the convenience
of the readers. The directors consider HKS, being an
internationally well-recognised currency, can provide
more meaningful information to the Company’s
investors.

All values are rounded to the nearest thousand unless
otherwise stated.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 H & — &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Basis of preparation of financial statements
(Continued)

(i) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying value of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements and estimates with
a significant risk of material adjustment in the next
year are discussed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
where the Company:

has power over the investees;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with investees; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the period/year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

(i) Business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at
their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related
to share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance
with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with
that Standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 H & — &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that does
not qualified as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is
classified. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS
39, or HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in
the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination
is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period
(see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected
the amounts recognised at that date.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purposes).

Effective 1 January 2019, investment properties also include
leased properties which are being recognised as right-of-
use assets upon application of HKFRS 16 and subleased by
the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Investment properties under construction are accounted
for in the same way as completed investment properties.
Specifically, construction costs incurred for investment
properties under construction are capitalised as part of
the carrying amount of the investment properties under
construction. Investment properties under construction are
measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
Any difference between the fair value of the investment
properties under construction and their carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
property) is included in profit or loss in the period which the
property is derecognised.

If an investment property becomes a stock of property
because its use has been changed as evidenced by the
commencement of development with a view to sale, any
difference of the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer is recognised in profit or
loss. Subsequent to the changes, the property is stated at
lower of deemed cost, equivalent to the fair value at the
date of transfer, and net realisable value.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any (see note 2(h)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceed and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their

estimated useful lives are as follows:

. Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than 30
years after the date of completion.

. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 5 years
after the date of completion.

. Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles are
depreciated over 5-10 years.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the items is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16

in accordance with transitions in note 3)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a leasee (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transactions in note 3)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of staff quarter and office premises
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful live. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful live and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property and inventory are presented within
investment properties and stock of properties respectively.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured
at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modification
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a leasee (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 3) (continued)

Lease modification (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to adoption of HKFRS 16
on 1 January 2019)

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor
is included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the
lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they
are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case
they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general
policy on borrowing costs (see note 2(k)). Contingent rentals
are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are
incurred. Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except
where another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period
in which they are incurred. In the event that lease incentives
are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives
are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 3)

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the commencement date at
amounts equal to the Group’s net investment in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective
lease. Initial direct costs (other than those incurred by
manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the initial
measurement of the net investments in the leases. Interest
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect
a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value
model. Upon application of HKFRS 16 on 1 January 2019,
variable lease payments for operating leases that depend
on an index or a rate are estimated and included in the
total lease payments to be recognised on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income
when they arise.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 3) (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component. Non-
lease components are separated from lease component on
the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.

The Group as a lessor (prior to adoption of HKFRS 16
on 1 January 2019)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment;
right-of-use assets;
. intangible assets with finite useful lives;
. investments in subsidiaries (except for those

classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale)).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

In any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets with finite useful lives, the recoverable amount if
estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

. Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit).

. Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generated unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying amount of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs to sell, or value-in-use, if determinable.

. Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if these has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in
respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

0]

Stock of properties

Stock of properties, which are held for trading, is stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to sale proceeds received
after the end of reporting period less selling expense, or
by management estimate based on the prevailing market
conditions.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are measured subsequently at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling
the financial assets; and

the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application
of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that is required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other revenue and other net income” line
item.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amounts of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency are determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate
at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

for financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss; and

for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and loan
receivables and bank balances) which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group

recognises lifetime ECL when there has been

a significant increase in credit risk since initial

recognition. However, if the credit risk on the

financial instrument has not increased significantly

since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss

allowance for that financial instrument at an amount

equal to 12-month ECL.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information
that are reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that are available without undue
cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of
the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental
bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar
organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the
Group’s core operations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk for a
particular financial instrument, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor, or the length of time or
the extent to which the fair value of a
financial asset has been less than its
amortised cost;

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the same
debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if:

(1) The financial instrument has a low risk of
default;

(2) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term; and

3) Adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset which
has low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating
of ‘performing’. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position
and there is no past due amounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as
constituting an event of default for internal
credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that financial assets
that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the debtor; or

information developed internally
or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one

or more events that have a detrimental impact

on the estimated future cash flows of that

financial asset have occurred. Evidence that

a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event (see (ii) above);

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when

there is information indicating that the debtor

is in severe financial difficulty and there is no

realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the

debtor has been placed under liquidation or

has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,

or in the case of trade receivables, when

the amounts are over two years past due,

whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets

written off may still be subject to enforcement

activities under the Group’s recovery

procedures, taking into account legal advice

where appropriate. Any recoveries made are

recognised in profit or loss.

The measurement of ECL is a function of the

probability of default, loss given default (i.e.

the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)

and the exposure at default. The assessment

of the probability of default and loss given

default is based on historical data adjusted by

forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL

reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted

amount that is determined with the respective

risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between

all contractual cash flows that are due to the

Group in accordance with the contract and

the cash flows that the Group expects to

receive, discounted at the effective interest

rate determined at initial recognition. For

a lease receivable, the cash flows used for

determining the ECL is consistent with the cash

flows used in measuring the lease receivable

in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January
2019) or HKAS 17 (prior to 1 January 2019).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities measured subsequently at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination, (ii) held-for-trading, or (iii) designated
as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including borrowings, deposits
and other payables and contract liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 &%= —

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Compound instruments

The component parts of convertible notes issued
by the Group are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. A conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for a similar non-convertible instrument.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised
cost basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and
is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of
the convertible loan note, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to accumulated losses.
No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability
and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs
relating to the equity component are recognised
directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability component and are amortised
over the lives of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.

ﬁAMFﬁ%WH

“EF=A=+—HI-+hfEA

2. FESFHBE®

() =RIA®
(i) ZEERELERE)

#waTA
REBFITH A MRZIRNARK
MOBRBENLFZEEARER
BERRATAZEZEMER S
BATRAGNRER - MiRkE
BEBNBEEERRALHS A
SREERDRETEHRE ZARE
AEBRATABE  AIRKRAT
B .

RETEH - AEHD 22 FE
RABUNTERT A ZRITH
BRIRETHE - WSBEAE

R ORI BN AR B
1El P EERERERZ T A
B&ERL -

DRRER BRI EBIE
—%’EAIEZ NFEF R A E
MooEMETE - ERERT

Eﬁam FtAERE (MRS HE
2) AR TEENE - It
Sh o RS ZBEER—E
RENERA - EEHIREET
BRLE EZERT  REET
ERZ ERRERERMNEE -
T R A N AT IR i BRI 2 8
BADRETTEE - R iR
RSB E RETEE - REAR
R L BB - T e R ER
R W SR8

R BEITARRERE
PR TSI RS TRIA A E
EE§§§§1T&Hx$*B

B IR %EXZISETKJNE*
HHER DHEBEZRS
ﬁJZZlSTJaJr)\E ER D 2 RES
g ﬁ?ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%%%?ﬂ??ﬁZi,ﬁﬁ
R BRI R R -

/ ‘35‘% S
5/

2RA=R

163



164

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based on
the amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
or loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a
designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

Deposits and other payables

Deposits and other payables are initially recognised and
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m)

Bank and cash balances

Bank and cash balances comprise cash at banks and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the period in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

(i) Share-based payments
The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in share options reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees
have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the period of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share options
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the share options reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that
relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share options
reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to
accumulated losses).

(iii)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax for the period comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised directly in equity, in which case
they are recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the period, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period, and
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reserve either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition or deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 H & — &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0)

Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the excepted manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has
the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

. in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

. in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either; or

the same taxable entity; or

different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered. Intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(0)

Income tax (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities. For leasing
transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to
the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of
the initial recognition exemption.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i)  Contingent liabilities acquired in business

combinations

Contingent liabilities acquired as part of a business
combination are initially recognised at fair value,
provided the fair value can be reliably measured.
After their initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of
the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation where appropriate, and the amount
that would be determined in accordance with note
2(p)(ii). Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued are
disclosed in accordance with note 2(p)(ii).

(ii)  Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or
the Company has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliable, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or no-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 H & — &

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“"HKFRS 9”). In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer. A contract asset
and a contract liability relating to a contract are accounted
for and presented on a net basis.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

For contracts that contain more than one performance

obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to

each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone

selling price basis.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from properties leasing under
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Revenue from properties sale

For property development and sales contract for
which the control of the property is transferred at
a point in time, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment
and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Revenue from property ancillary services
Revenue from property ancillary services are
recognised when the services are rendered.

Commission income from agricultural produce
exchange market

Commission income from agricultural exchange
market are recognised when the services are
rendered in accordance with the terms of the
agreement signed.

Financial services income
Income from financial services are recognised when
the services are rendered.

Food and agricultural by-products
merchandising

Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods
are considered to have been transferred to the
customers.

Other income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(q)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(vii) Other income (Continued)
Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Government subsidies that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in
which the expenses are incurred.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the period/year
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost on a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transactions
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair

value was determined.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the results of the Group’s operations not
denominated in Hong Kong dollars are translated into
Hong Kong dollars, i.e., the presentation currency of the
Group, at the average rates for the period/year. The items
of statement of financial position, including goodwill
arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired, are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised directly in a separate
component of equity. Goodwill arising on consolidation
of a foreign operation acquired is translated at the foreign
exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the
foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences recognised in equity which
relate to that foreign operation is included in the calculation
of the profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 H & — &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t)  Related parties (Continued)

(2

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (2).

A person identified in (2)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction

when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between

related parties.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(u)

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that
is engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment), or in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment (geographical segment),
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting
system, the Group has chosen business segment information
as the primary reporting format and geographical segment
information as the secondary reporting format for the
purposes of these financial statements.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. For example, segment assets may include stock
of properties, trade receivables and other receivables and
right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment.
Segment revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities are
determined before intra-group balances and intra-group
transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation
process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances
and transactions are between group entities within a single
segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on similar terms as
those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible
and intangible) that are expected to be used for more than
one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate
assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances,
corporate and financing expenses.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 H & — &

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(v)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on a systematic basis over the periods in which
the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grants are intended to compensate. Government
grants related to depreciable assets are recognised as
deferred revenue in the statement of financial position
and transferred to statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the useful lives of the related
assets. Other government grants are recognised as
revenue over the periods necessary to match them with
the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on
a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which
they become receivable.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(x)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt

instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

. the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted into equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have a
conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the amount
initially recognised as the liability component is recognised
as the equity component. Transaction costs that relate to
the issue of a compound financial instrument are allocated
to the liability and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of proceeds.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

The liability component is subsequently carried at amortised
cost. The interest expense recognised in profit or loss on
the liability component is calculated using the effective
interest method. The equity component is recognised in the
convertible bonds reserve until either the bond is converted
or redeemed.

If the convertible bond is converted, the convertible bonds
reserve, together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred to share
capital and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the convertible bond is redeemed, the convertible
bonds reserve is released directly to retained profits.

When the convertible bond is extinguished before
maturity through an early redemption or repurchase
where the original conversion privileges are unchanged,
the consideration paid and any transaction costs for the
redemption or repurchase are allocated to the liability
component and equity component using the same
allocation basis as when the convertible bond was originally
issued. Once the allocation of consideration and transaction
costs is made, any resulting gain or loss relating to the
liability component is recognised in profit or loss and the
amount of consideration relating to equity component is
recognised in equity.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“"HKFRSs")

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to

HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA”") for the first time in the current period:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Investments in associates and joint
ventures

HK (IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over income tax

treatments

In addition the Group has early adopted the amendment to
HKFRS 16 which provides relief to lessees from having to consider
individual lease contracts to determine whether rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are
lease modifications and allows lessees to account for such rent
concessions as if they were not lease modifications. The practical
expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the
following conditions are met: (i) the change in lease payments
results in revised considered for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; (iii) there
is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the
lease. The Group elects to adopt the practical expedient to account
for the COVID-19 pandemic related rent concession as negative
variable lease payments. The early adoption of such amendment
to HKFRS 16 have no material impact to the consolidated financial
statements.

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current period has had no material
impact of the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current period and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of application
on HKFRS 16 Lease (“HKFRS 16")

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current
interim period. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases” (“HKAS
17"), and the related interpretations.

Transition and summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 16

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) = Int 4 “Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease” and not apply this standards to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease.
Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts which already
existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.

As a lessee

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised addition lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amount equal to the related
lease liabilities adjusted by any prepaid or accrued lease payments
by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the
date of initial application is recognised in the opening retained
profits and comparative information has not been restated.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

Transition and summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under

HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical

expedients to leases previously classified as operating leases

under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to

the respective lease contracts:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous by
applying HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets” as an alternative of impairment review;

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months
of the date of initial application;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use
assets at the date of initial application;

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with a
similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying assets
in similar economic environment. Specifically, discount
rate for certain leases of office premises in the PRC was
determined on a portfolio basis; and

used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at the
date of initial application in determining the lease term for
the Group's leases with extension and termination options.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERHIIEEMBEHREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG ((EBMBREER]) RIEFT
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (#)
(”H KFRSS") (Continued)
Transition and summary of effects arising from initial FER BB REERIE 165 HE]
application of HKFRS 16 (Continued) (BEBMBEHREERE165]) 2
SRR EREE)
As a lessee (Continued) TERAN (B)
On transition, the Group has made the following adjustments RBER  AEEEREREBYHHREE
upon application of HKFRS 16: BIZE165R & VEH AT A% -
The Group recognised lease liabilities of approximately RZZE-—hhF—-—A—B TEE®ER
HK$24,678,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately E\E1?!%’924,678,0005%7E&1§FH%é%%"]
HK$24,678,000 at 1 January 2019. 24,678,000/ 7T °
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously RERMDEAKEREZHEMS + RER
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental HEaER ASEEEREESEERER
borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial BREABBZEEEENE - BEEAZM
application. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate BB EEENERI% °
applied is 9%.
As at
1 January 2019
R=ZB-hF—HA—H
HK$'000
FAET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at RZZ—N\F+=ZA=+—~H
31 December 2018 EAREE 2 S S H S e 30,312
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant BB EEENERYBACHEER
incremental borrowings rates 28,041
Less: Recognition exemption W HERE
- short-term leases - 52 HAA &\ (3,363)
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 RZBE-NF-—A—BZHERE 24,678
Analysed as 2RI
- Current - 1,843
- Non-current - JERE 22,835

24,678
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERFITEAMKHREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (BB KREEL ] RIEFT
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (%)
(”H KFRSS") (Continued)
Transition and summary of effects arising from initial FER BB REERIE 165 HE]
application of HKFRS 16 (Continued) ((BEBMBHREERE165]) 2
SRTECRT E R B (#E)

As a lessee (Continued) TERBETN (8)

As at

1 January 2019
R=Z-hF—HA—H

HK$'000
FET
Right-of-use assets related to operating lease RIERE BN BREAERF 1657 1% 5
upon application of HKFRS 16 KEHEHEE EREEE 24,678
The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of EHERERAEEERNTEERERHA -
assets:
As at
1 January 2019
R=ZE—-hE—HA—H
HK$'000
FAT
Rental premises HEmE 23,374
Leasehold land EE i 1,304
24,678
The Group applies judgement to determine the lease term for RETASEEREBRABRSEREZA
lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal option. EE6HcHER - NEBAEDFIE o FTE
The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to REEERABEEKITEZ SRS EER
exercise such options impacts the lease term, which significantly BwE  BHBR2BEEERGAESR
affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets EZeBEERTE -

recognised.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3. ERHIEEBUBHREER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG (TEBUB®REER ) RIETT
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (#)

(“HKFRSs") (continued)

Transition and summary of effects arising from initial FER BB REERIE 165 HE]

application of HKFRS 16 (Continued) (BEBMBEHREERE165]) 2
BEIERTEREEH(E)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised RZZE-—NF-—A—BREEUBRREKE

in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January RZEHEEHATHAR - AIEHTE

2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not BEAREBRIEER -

been included.

Carrying
amount Carrying
previously amount under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 December 1 January
2018 Adjustments 2019
S
—B-hEF
SRR —H—H
—EB-N\F REBHG
+=A=+—8H HREEAE 165
E2HZREE RE BT ZEREE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET THET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE = 23,374 23,374
Investment properties wEME 3,165,921 1,304 3,167,225
Current liabilities RENEE
Lease liabilities HERE = 1,843 1,843
Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Lease liabilities HEaE = 22,835 22,835
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
(Amendments)

Definition of Material’

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

HKFRS 7(Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business?

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets

(Amendments) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for business combination and asset acquisition for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting” was
issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the “Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework” in HKFRS Standards,
will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
2020. The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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CHEN)
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REBGERESE  HARREZEN

FlRE AR
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CHEN) BEHEFIA
BERUBMELNE17E RRAEL?
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z — =&

A B IERRMEE
4.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumption about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made certain key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, as discussed below:

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and

right-of-use assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-
in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is
a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying amount of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods.

0 2=
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair value,
which is assessed at the end of each reporting period
by independent qualified valuers, after taking into
consideration all readily available information and current
market environment.

Net realisable value of stock of properties

Valuations of stock of properties are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value at the end of the reporting
period. Net realisable value is determined on the basis of the
estimated selling price less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale. The directors of the Company estimate the
net realisable value for stock of properties based primarily
on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions.
In addition, the directors of the Company perform an
inventory review on a product by product basis at the end
of each reporting period and assess the need for written
down of stock of properties.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables and
loan receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. The provision of ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates.

ﬁAMFﬁ%WH
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4,
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(v)  Income tax and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and certain tax losses are recognised as management
considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax
losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred tax assets and tax in the period in
which such estimate is changed.

(vi)  Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is
available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The valuation committee works closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® R B REMRZ ZHR QA

B R M

BT T EE 2 T2 RIRE)

(v)

(vi)

Fris i RAEAL IR

REBABMNNISH - EEMSHERE
- BEMERAE - R B EERRIZ
o ZIER G KA DR AR SRR
o NREIRE T HMBRIIIRZ G
it ERERHBCAE - WREEE
ZEREBBERBRNLEZEED
R BEERSTEECHEBEZM
BB RE IR -

BRETERERERETHRABRZE
EFRIBEE - DN ERER BB
B A E) AR B A I S ey 2 R e
BEEBRZBERTH TIARR - MZIER
AR R - ZEEZRBTER
WA BT RREAER EERIARE
RBIE -

AFEHERIGERF
RUBHETE - BT ARMAERA
EERATFEME -

R EERBBZATER  AKE
JRE P FTJE BN 2 T35 P B SR B  fi R e
BEFE-—REARE ~REREE=
TEERLEMETHE - HEZES
HEERINEMEMBRSE - LRZ
B EA N EETERBABIR -

AEEEANBET AR WIEENT
BEmSEENRARE - UEFET
BT AMRFE



For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 &%= —

TURNOVER

ZEZFTFFHR e 2020 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Turnover represents revenue from (i) property rental income,

(ii) property ancillary services, (iii) commission income from

agricultural produce exchange market, (iv) property sales, (v)

financial service income and (vi) food and agricultural by-products

merchandising. The amount of each significant category of

revenue recognised during the period/year, net of discount and

sales related tax, is analysed as follows:

ﬁ’f“/—\,ﬁﬁkiﬁiﬁﬁﬁi

“EF=A=+—HI-+hfEA

EEHEEODEAS KA - (VDEEER
% (IEERERRIMSZMHEEBA - (iv)
MEBE  VEBRBHBRARVIRGDRES
Euuﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzu&z/\ o AHIM S FEHER

BEEAWELER 2S5 ENRITI R EEE
Eﬁ%ﬁ)ﬂﬁﬁﬂ :

Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019to | 1January 2018 to
31 March 2020 | 31 December 2018
B=Z—N&F BE-ZE—N\F
—A—RB% —A—RA%
—E-EH — N\
=A=+—H +=—A=+—8H
I+ HEA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers: AWz
Recognised at a point in time }JL/‘}% @57/5 T R
Revenue from property ancillary services  ¥)%A0 E R 2 Wz 104,150 84,688
Commission income from agricultural KERERRHMEL
produce exchange market AL ON 97,383 94,827
Revenue from property sales YIRS 2 s 622,703 399,772
Financial service income SRR A = 24
Food and agricultural by-products RmREBEIEMEE
merchandising 30,286 4,410
854,522 583,721
Revenue from other sources: HAh 2R 2 Wz
Property rental income YIRS WA 236,915 195,136
1,091,437 778,857
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

6.

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET
INCOME

SERAT

Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019 to | 1 January 2018 to
31 March 2020 | 31 December 2018
B=-Z—-h%F B-Z—\F
—A—BZE —H—RZE
—EoEE —T—N\F
=H=t+—H +=—A=+—8
IE+HEA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Bank and other interest income SRIT R E M F B U A 10,102 7,243
PRC government grants (Note) wh B B A A (B EE) 4,919 5,310
Management fee income EEBUA = 4,250
Others Hith 4,566 4,510
19,587 21,313
Note: PRC government grants represent various form of subsidies granted BisE : R EBBERAT MR fe R B S BT S M AR E

to the Group by the local governmental authorities in the PRC for
compensation of expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are
generally made for business support and awarded to enterprises
on a discretionary basis. The Group received these government
grants in respect of its investments in the agricultural products
exchange market in the PRC. There are no unfulfilled conditions or

contingencies relating to these grants.

Bz 2B UREASRERELY
X - ZEMM—REAKRIFEBERME
# TIEBBEELEERGADLE - ARAEH
ERRREREMRS MG  HESZER
FEFERE o 3046 B8 % S5 1 BE HO R P 2 IR 1
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 7. BRBADER(EB)
Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting): BERDER] (B8) &k Gt A) ¢
(@) Finance costs (@) BEMKA
Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019to | 1 January 2018 to
31 March 2020 |31 December 2018
BE=Z=—h&F BE-ZT—N\&E
—A—RZ& —H—H=Z
—E-EHF —E-N\F
=H=+—H +=—A=+—H
IE+HMEA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHT
Interests on bank and other BERAFABHEEZRITR
borrowings wholly repayable within ~ HEE 2 |5
five years 49,994 34,085
Interests on bank and other ARAFEBEEECRITR
borrowings wholly repayable over HbEEZFE
five years 6,431 -
Interests on promissory notes & H g 7R B 29,375 23,500
Interests on convertible bonds AT E A F) B 36,944 28,317
Interests on bonds BHEF B 101,601 126,673
Interests on lease liabilities HESEF LS 2,749 -
Less: Amounts classified as capitalised 3 : D8 ADEALIEYE
into stock of properties (Note) FEz o8 (342) (873)
226,752 211,702
Note: The weight average capitalisation rate on borrowing is 7.39% iz : 2T -_TF=A=+—HI1tH
per annum for the period ended 31 March 2020 (year ended MzEBEMEFHERLERATF
31 December 2018: 7.39%). 739%(BE_Z—N\F+_A=+—
BIEFRE : 7.39%) °
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) by EBIXN(BIEEZEZINE)
Fifteen
months from Year from

1January 2019 to | 1 January 2018 to
31 March 2020 |31 December 2018
B=¥-hE | A-TF

—BA—A% —A—RAZ®
—E-EH —ZT—N\F
=A=+—H +=-—A=+—H
I+ F{EA IFFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Contributions to defined contribution [ E S FUGR RFHEI 5K
retirement plans 4,591 4,017
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITERHMET 77,735 75,667

82,326 79,684
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 7. BREAER, (8@
(Continued)
Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting): BRI AR R (B HB) &Mk, (GEA) « (8)
(Continued)
(c) Otheritems (0 HfIEAE
Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019 to | 1 January 2018 to
31 March 2020 | 31 December 2018
B=Z—-h#& BE-ZT—N\F
—A—BZE —H—H=
—E-EH —ZT-N\F
=A=+—H +=-—A=+—8
I+ HEA IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Property rental income MERSWA 236,915 195,136
Less: Outgoings o X H (20,731) (13,889)
Net rental income e WA FEE 216,184 181,247
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - WE RERETE
equipment 16,232 13,808
Amortisation of intangible assets B E 6,061 6,061
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESENE 3,729 =
Loss on disposal on property, plant HEME - RE MKEE2EE
and equipment 575 410
Auditors’ remuneration ZEET N &
- audit services - B RE 2,600 2,200
~ other services - E RS 660 280
Total minimum lease payments for ERIRIBE BT ERIE 175
rental properties previously NEAKENE HE
classified as operating lease under Y2 IR ENRERE
HKAS 17 - 1,574
Short-term lease expenses CHIHE S 1,080 =
Loss on early redemption of bonds RPERERZ EE 560 3,776
Change in fair value of derivative EESMIT A AT EEZS
financial instruments 1,787 17,687
Unrealised (gain)/loss on financial BATEYEREERGRR
assets at fair value through profit or BRI SREERER
loss (W) /&1
- investment in equity security listed - ETRANFBAFRE (6) 213
Total unrealised loss on financial assets & /A FESIER M EIBZE R
at fair value through profit or loss BB eRMEERER
EiRaE 1,781 17,900
Allowance for expected credit losses ‘& 5 F E th JiE U 008 A Kz
on trade and other receivables and BRERZBEEE
loan receivables EE R 6,617 1,642
Cost of stock of properties YEFEKAR 425,259 286,301
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. HEERRHMEERERZ
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND Fr{&%
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(i)  Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and (i) CEEmkEMEERERATTIARE
other comprehensive income represents:
Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019to | 1 January 2018 to
31 March 2020 |31 December 2018
BE-ZE—-h&F BT \F
—HA—RZ& —H—H=Z
—E-EHF —ZE-N\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—8
IE+FHEA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ExT FHT
Current tax BN ER B 18
PRC enterprise income tax R B 56,373 54,259
Deferred tax IEFERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary &5 2= £ 7 = £ N # [
difference (note 31(b)) (P 5E31(b)) 82,102 10,981
138,475 65,240

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as

the Group had no estimated assessable profits arising in

Hong Kong for the period/year ended 31 March 2020 and

31 December 2018. PRC Enterprise Income Tax is computed

according to the relevant legislation interpretations and

practices in respect thereof during the period/year. PRC

Enterprise Income Tax rate is 25% for the period/year ended

31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018.

AR AEEREE-_Z-_TF=A=+
—ARZE-N\FF+ZA=1+—HIH
M/ FENEREBELMTEREG
) - B I BB SRS E L B
HFNZ BB TR IEARRES
FEORERIENE - BE_ZT=TF
=A=+—Bk=ZE—NF+=A=+
—HIEHRFE - FRESEMBHZ

K A25% °

o
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RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

(i)

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting profit/

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® B2 ZE

mRXPAERRF

8. HLZEEZEKEMEZEANERZ
E&R@

(i) REABREXAEZHRERI R4

(loss) at applicable tax rates: #,/ (B18) 2 Hk -
Fifteen months from
1January 2019 to Year from 1 January 2018 to
31 March 2020 31 December 2018
HZZ-hn§-F—-HZ BE-F-\5-R—HZE
“E-EE-A=+-AL “ET-\Et+-A=t—Hit
+E@A FE
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TER % TET %
Profit/(loss) before taxation BEALEF/ (B18) 171,800 (114,079)
Notional tax on profit/(loss) before ~ REFEARBEREZER
taxation calculation at the rates BB 2B R E 2 BREBAT
applicable to losses in the wH/ (B8) 2 & HE
jurisdictions concerned 42,951 25.0 (28,520) (25.0)
Effect of different tax rates in other tax  E 575 Al AR TR
jurisdiction LE0ps 18,810 10.9 13,179 116
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N[ HIFE S K LEZEH
and temporary difference BBy e 76,565 44.6 45,120 396
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRRANH BT 2 (7,692) (4.5) (6,678) (5.9)
Tax effect on tax losses utilised PANBERCYE (7,761) (4.5) - -
Tax loss not recognised RERZHBEE 15,602 9.1 42,139 36.9
Income tax expense for AERE/ FEAMERAY
the period/year 138,475 80.6 65,240 57.2
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 383 of the
Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) during the reporting period
are as follows:

For the period ended 31 March 2020

9. EEM=

ER(EBRARI(HBRESMNEERD B (F
622GE)E383(EEMBRSHEESHS I
T

BE-Z-_ZF=A=1+—HLHH

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits scheme
fees inkind  contributions Total
¥e RER R
EEne BNAE SRR wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR THER TR
Executive directors: HTEE:
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas (Chairmanand ~ FRR 5
Chief Executive Officer) (ERRITHEE) 1,435 189 23 1,647
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond PinEE 2,331 3,363 23 5,717
Yau Yuk Shing HEM 375 = 19 394
Independent non-executive directors: B FEHTES :
Ng Yat Cheung REE 210 = = 210
Lau King Lung el 210 = = 210
Wong Ping Yuen (note 9(b)) TR (B 5E9(b)) 210 = = 210
4,771 3,552 65 8,388

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Executive directors: BTEE:
Chan Chun Hong, Thomas (Chairmanand ~ FRIR 5
Chief Executive Officer) (ERRITHER)
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond RlnE
Yau Yuk Shing AW

Independent non-executive directors:  BUFHTES :

Ng Yat Cheung RAE
Lau King Lung Bl S
Wong Hin Wing (note 9(a)) ECE(GETIE)
Wong Ping Yuen (note 9(b)) F R (B E9(b)

HE-ZT—)/\F+-A=1T—HLFE

Salaries,

allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits scheme Total
fees in kind contributions 2018
E A=t RIR ok
S8 BMAE HE 50 ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT T FTHT
1,116 - 18 1,134
2,205 - 18 2,223
432 - 20 452
149 - - 149
149 - - 149
137 - - 137
12 - - 12

4,200 - 56 4,256
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10.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) ok

During the period/year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 December
2018, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of
the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. No directors of the Company
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the period/
year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018.

Notes:

a) Director was resigned as an independent non-executive director on
30 November 2018.

b) Director was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on 30 November 2018.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10.
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one
(year ended 31 December 2018: one) is director whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining four (year ended 31
December 2018: four) individuals who are neither a director
or chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries, wages and other benefits e IERAMETR
Retirement schemes contributions BRIRETEI LR

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® R B REMRZ ZHR QA

BEEME

RBEE_E_TF-_A=1+t—HE=_Z—AN
F+-ZA=+—BLHHE"FE A58
B|AANBDESIAEAME - (EABEMN
B MBEAEBERZ RENEABEBREE -
RBEE_E_TF-_A=1+t—HE=_Z—AN
F+-A=+—BLHHE"FE  #BELH
AR BERHESR R BRETME -

i

a) BEER T \F+-A=THBEBILF
MITES -

b) EER - \F+-A=TAEZELSE
SFHITES -

REHMAL

() FEBSHEMALHES —Z@EE-T
~NE+=A=t+—BLEE  —B)
AESE BIrMEFBENEIR
B EBNEBME_E—N\F+=f
S+—BLLEE  mE) A+ GEBIER
AREFRTETHAR) 2 HEBE
o -

Fifteen

months from Year from
1January 2019to | 1January 2018 to
31 March 2020 | 31 December 2018
B=2—h#F BT —N\%F

—HA—R=Z —HA—H=Z=
—EEH —T-N\F
=A=t+—-8| +=A=+—8
It+HEA HFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
12,332 5,330

20 68

12,422 5,398
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10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)  The emoluments of four (year ended 31 December 2018:

four) individuals with the highest emoluments are within

the following bands:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
Over HK$2,000,000

Z 21,000,000/ 7T

1,000,001/ 7L £ 1,500,000/ 7T -
1,500,001/ 7L 22,000,000/ 7T -

iB352,000,00078 7T

. BREHFMA L@

b) WEBE=T-N\F+=A=+—8
L MA)BEFHALZBHEN
A THE :

Fifteen

months from Year from
1January 2019to | 1January 2018 to
31 March 2020 | 31 December 2018
B=Z—-h#F BEZZT—N\F

—A—BE%E —HA—H=E
=B —EN\F
=R=t+—-R | +=HA=+—H
E+HEA IEFE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TR FTAET

3

1

4 -
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RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10. ZEHMA L@

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(0 The emoluments paid or payable to member of senior (0 BffkENTFSREEEXKE(TEE
management (excluding the directors as disclosed in note 9) ORI R EH) 2 HMN FLATE
are within the following bands: :

Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019 to | 1 January 2018 to
31 March 2020 | 31 December 2018
B=-Z—-h%F B-Z—\F
—A—BZE —H—H=Z%
—EoEE —T—N\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—H
Lt+EEA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L 21,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T, 22,000,000/ 7T 1 1
Over HK$2,000,000 iB352,000,00078 7T 3 -
5 6
The remuneration shown above represents remuneration EXREMNERZE—S_TF=HA=
received and receivable from the Group by these directors T-BARZZE-N\F+ZA=+—HI
in their capacity as employees to the Group and/or in their W FEZSEEULNKERE 51D
capacity as the directors of the Company during the period/ R/ RUARDBES &) E WM
year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018. S E R E BN -
During the period/year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 BHE-_Z-_ZTF=RA=1+—RBK=Z%—
December 2018, no emoluments were paid by the Group to NE+—A=+—HBILHH FE &
any of the highest paid individual and senior management EEVERNEMNSeHFATHERER
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as B ME - ARSI EMAREESE

compensation for loss of office. RIMARE B L H) REN SR E -
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENTS BENEFITS

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities whereby the Group is required to make contributions
to the Schemes at certain percentage of the eligible employees’
salaries, pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC. The local government authorities are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

The Group has no other obligation for the payment of post-
retirement benefits beyond the contributions described above.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the period/year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 December
2018 respectively.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(@)  Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based
on the profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$5,880,000 (year ended 31 December
2018: loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$212,596,000) and the weighted average
number of 9,953,067,822 ordinary shares (year ended 31
December 2018: 9,953,067,822 ordinary shares) in issue
during the period.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the period/year ended
31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018 were the same as
basic earnings/(loss) per share because the outstanding
convertible bonds had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic
earnings/(loss) per share.

11.

12.

13.

B ERKEF

AEBE2EHBE BTREERE 2 E
HRRAGT B ([REFHE) - ik - AKBEZA
RIBEH BERSEER A FOER M S EIE
HES - HRERAEREEF 2 ZETH
D AT BFRBEARAEAEXXNERAKERZ
2EERAKE -

AEBREBES A EABSTEEN - B
REBERERAESEZZEE TIRERHIE
AEeFTE((ARETTE]) - BESFHED
HEUVZTATEZRERTIRAKTE - R
BaBELTEzZAE BEREESENHA
MErEELE T - HREREEHBERAZ
5% @ & A HEBERA _LR30,00087T  MET
EIEHERENTFRE -

B EXAal 2 RSN - AN SR B0 At 32 A
BEERKRRMZEE -

Hﬁ 4%\

EETRERNOBBE—T-_TF==
tT-ARZZE-NF+-A=+—HILLH
B,/ FRE RS

SREF (BB

BRERAEF,(EE)
BREXRREF(EE) HREARREE
B AFEAE 495,880,000/ 7T (Bl =2 —
E—NF+-_A=+—BLEEFEE K
NEEA AFEILE1E49212,596,0007%
7o) KA B BT L AR S B
9,953,067,8202k (HE—_T—/\F+=
A=+—HIEFE : 9,953,067,822f% &
BR)THE -

(a)

s RN, (EiR)

BN AREEZ TRRESHERERR
| (BR)EARBERE  HHE—
EoRF=A=+—HEZZ-N\F+
“R=t+—BIBEFESREE
B8R/ (R BERERRN,(EE)
I

G5
&

SH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z —ZFF = A=+—HIF+ A

14. SEGMENT REPORTING 14.

The Group has two reportable segments under HKFRS 8, (i)
agricultural produce exchange market operation and (ii) property
sales. The segmentations are based on the information about the
operation of the Group that management uses to make decisions
and regularly review by the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of allocating resources to segments and assessing their
performance.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues and results by
reportable segments for the current period and prior year:

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® R B REMRZ ZHR QA

H

TEHRE

BEEBHERELERFESH  NEEEEM
HERDH : WEERERRZHTHKI)ND
EHEE c Lo BHEREERERNEL R
K ARAEBEEEREE TR - A
BTFHEEDBHNERIELRELTFHER
BZAEBLEEER -

7 B R J R AR
AEBRABMEARBEFERERDHE S
ZWREREEDTMT

Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
BEBERRATS NEHE AR &4
Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen
months from Yearfrom | months from Yearfrom | months from Yearfrom | months from Year from
1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January
2019to 2018to0 2019to 2018to0 2019to 2018to 2019to 2018to
31March | 31December 31March | 31December 31March | 31December 31March | 31December
2020 2018 2020 2018 2020 2018 2020 2018
B-2-nf | E2E-\§ | B2B-AF | EC2\F | BIB-AE | B2E\E | AZE-AE | B2E)\F
-B-H% -f-R% -B-H% -A-R% -B-R% -A-R% -B-A% -A-RZ
Z%C%F | CF-\F | CBo®F | CT-\F | ZBIEE | 3\ | ZBIBE | CT\E
ZA=t+-A [ZA=t+-B | ZB=t-B [tZA=+-H | =R=t-R [tZA=t-R | =B=t+-RA [=A=1-H
E+EfEA 58 | LttEEA 5% | Ltt+EEA IH5E | Lt+E@A 4R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tn TEn TEn TEn TEn Thr TEn T
Tumover BEE
External sales MNHE 468,734 379,085 622,703 399,772 = - 109837 778857
Results E+
Segment result AHEE 245,751 125985 86,240 73,440 = = 331,991 199425
Other revenue and other net AtlEREFRA
income 10,346 14,561 - - 9,241 6,752 19,587 21313
Net gain in fair value of RENFATER NG
investment properties 148,801 4507 - - - - 148,801 4507
Loss on fair value change of eI
derivative financial NTERBER
instruments - - - - (1,787) (17,687) (1,787) (17,687)
Written down of stock of NEFEHE
properties - - (2,969) (66,371) - - (2,969) (66,371)
Share of profiton joint venture ~ [E(EAE AT - - - - - 10352 - 10352
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries I EMBA RN = = = = = 39846 = 39846
Unallocated corporate expenses ~ RARAEFR (97,071) (93,762)
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Agricultural
produce exchange
market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
BERERRATS NEHE AR G
Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen
months from Yearfrom | months from Yearfrom | months from Yearfrom | months from Year from
1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January
2019to 2018to 2019to 2018to 2019to 2018to 2019to 2018to
31March | 31December 31March | 31December 31March | 31December 31March | 31December
2020 2018 2020 2018 2020 2018 2020 2018
B=%-0f | 825\ | B=8-NE | B23-)\F | B2%-hE | 822 \F | BZ%-MF | B2 )\F
-B-B% -A-B% -A-R% -A-B% -A-R% -F-B% -B-R% -f-B%
2RE | CE\F | ZBC®E | ZE-\F | ZBIRF | R\ | CBI2BE | R\
SA=t-8 [F=R=t-B | ZR=t-B [=A=t-B | ZA=t-B [t=R=t-B | ZA=t-B [t=A=t-H
MR I35 A I35 t+EfEA IHEE E+EfEA 5E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TiEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TiEn
Profit from operation Py 398,552 97623
Finance costs HERA (36,501) (33,204) - (190,251) (178,498) (226,752) (211,702
Profit/(loss) before taxation EiALER/ (B8 171,800 (114079)
Income tax FilsH (138,475) (65,240)
Profit/(loss) for the period/year 51 /£ iR/ (E18) 33,325 (179319)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies describe in note 2.
Business segment represents the profit from each segment
without allocation of certain other revenue and other net income,
change in fair value of derivative financial instruments, central
administrative costs and directors’ salaries, certain finance costs
and income tax expenses. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the
period/year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018.

EWA Az ST BEREM T2 2 A EE g
STRERMR - RBDAEARADEE T HEMYK
mREMFEA  TESRIAZATESE
B PRITHREAK EFZHM - B TREK
AR PS5 5 S BT B AE 0 78 2 A otk Tt
BROERDBERRFEMAERZEREK
AERZ A -

FRERBEBRINMEFPEEZ WS - B
E-RZEF=A=+-BAR-ZE-NF+
“RA=t+—HLBEFELESHHEHE
&
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Segment assets and liabilities

14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by

reportable segment:

Assets

Segment assets

Unallocated
corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated
corporate liabilities

Consolidated
total liabilities

K&
NHEE
ANELFEE

Agricultural produce exchange

market operation

RERERRSTS
As at As at
31March | 31 December
2020 2018
i #®
= =ik
=R=t-RA t=A=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T
3,334,415 3,702,285
1,448,318 1,563,833

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and

corporate assets.

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other

than bonds, promissory notes, convertible bonds, deferred

tax liabilities and corporate liabilities.

SERAT

14. DR E

Property sales

Consolidated

MERE e
As at As at As at As at
31March | 31 December 31March | 31 December
2020 2018 2020 2018
R® N S i
SBoBE | CEO0\F | ZBCRF | SRR
=A=t-B {=-A=t+-H | =A=1t-B H=A=t-AH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TET
1,611,442 1,626,386 4,945,857 5,328,671
192,816 275,001
5,138,673 5,603,672
475,800 455,921 1,924,118 2,019,754
1,729,190 1,988,554
3,653,308 4,008,308

MERSIMY ABERFARSEEREME

- BRIRAFEIRRERERERE Z S/

BERDGEREEZS

FERDHL

FAEEEHDE

- BEHR AARRE AHBEES RT
BHBEERGEABZIN  AERAEY

DET 23R

aNsvi

Ep e
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 14. DEPE®E @
Other segment information H o EE R
The following is an analysis of the Group’s other segment REBEMDHBERSTAT
information:
Agricultural produce exchange
market operation Property sales Unallocated Consolidated
FERERRS TR NERE i) B
Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen Fifteen
months from Yearfrom | months from Yearfrom | months from Yearfrom | months from Year from
1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January
2019to 2018to 2019to 2018to 2019to 2018to 2019to 2018to
31March | 31 December 31March | 31 December 31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2020 2018 2020 2018 2020 2018 2020 2018
H=%-0E | E23-/\F | B=%-0F | 623-\F | B=%-7F | 623\ | B=E-AF | B3 /F
-f-B% -A-B% -f-RZ —-f-RZ -fA-B% -A-A% -A-B% -f-RZ
k23 I\ k23 EE k3 E-\E k-3 25
=R=t-B |tZR=t+-B | =A=+-H |tZR=t+-B | =A=t+-A |tZA=+-B | =A=t-A |+ZA=t-H
t+EER i3S t+EER i3] R R R 4R
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$§'000 HKS'000
Tn T T Tér T T T T
Capital expenditure (Note) BRRx (M) 27,564 64,287 = = 2,531 2,706 30,095 66,993
Net gain in far value of RENEFATE L Fha
investment properties 148,801 4507 - - - - 148,801 4507
Loss on fair value change of fEERIAZATEED
derivative financial B&
instruments - - - - 1,781 17,687 1,781 17,687
Written down of stock of NEREHA
properties - - 2,969 66,731 - - 2,969 66,731
Unrealised gain/{loss) on BATEIIBRE BRR
financial assets at fair value REZSWEEATR
through profitor loss Y&/ (B8
- instrument in equity - FikAESRE
securities listed - - - - 6 (213) 6 (213)
Depreciation of property, 0% BERRENE
plantand equipment 13,720 12318 - - 2,512 1490 16,232 13,808
Amortisation of intangible EVAESH
assets 6,061 6,061 - - - - 6,061 6,061
Depreciation of right-of-use FREERENE
assets 3729 - - - - - 3,729 -
Allowance for expected credit 25 REMENGUENR
losses on trade and FRES BBEE
other receivables and EERE
loan receivables 5,634 1,631 = - 983 1n 6,617 1,642
Loss on early redemption of REEOESRZEE
bonds - - - - 560 3,776 560 3776
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARKE = = = = = 39,846 = 39,846
Note: Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and Mzt - EARZBEDE  BERKEHEARKREY

EIZRE -

equipment and investment properties.
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14. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the period/year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018,
no other single customers contributed 10% or more to the Group'’s
revenue.

Geographical information

As at the end of the reporting period, the entire revenue of the
Group were generated from external customers located in the PRC
and over 90% of non-current assets of the Group were located in
the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical segment analysis on the
carrying amount of segment assets or additions to property, plant
and equipment is presented.

ZERRA

A

H %B%E%#%jzi —TF=A=+—H
& —N\E+= H +—BIE8EF
B WEHME-RFEMASEE 0%k MU
t Pa

<FH

ol B

RBERR - AEBE2HRERDELALR
FEZIBER - RAKEEIONIFREE
EURPE - Bt - WHE2 5']&“%%%55
EEXRYE  BELKREBEFBEETHERDH
DT -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. 1% - BERRE

Furniture,
equipment
and motor Leasehold
Buildings vehicles improvements Total
®HE -
BF RERAE HEPERSE B
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Cost: A
At 1 January 2018 RZZT—N\F
—HA—H 7,980 106,306 5,546 119,832
Exchange adjustments I X, (413) (5,629) (384) (6,426)
Additions NE - 8,382 2,690 11,072
Written off upon disposals 7 & B 58 - (4,085) - (4,085)
At 31 December2018and ~ RZT—/\F
1 January 2019 +=—A=+—8H
RZZF—NF
—A—H 7,567 104,974 7,852 120,393
Exchange adjustments E 538 (313) (4,535) (332) (5,180)
Additions NE 115 11,514 325 11,954
Written off upon disposals & B84 (26) (3,740) - (3,766)
At 31 March 2020 R-B-FF
=A=t+—H 7,343 108,213 7,845 123,401
Accumulated depreciation: RFHiTE :
At 1 January 2018 RZZT—)\F
—H—H 1,098 55,014 4,525 60,637
Exchange adjustments ERTIEE (64) (3,184) (244) (3,492)
Charge for the year REZHBR 197 13,334 277 13,808
Written off upon disposals 7 & B 54 - (3,328) - (3,328)
At 31 December 2018 and RZZE—N\F
1 January 2019 +=-—A=+—8
R=—B—NF
—A—H 1,231 61,836 4,558 67,625
Exchange adjustments ERTIEE (62) (2,897) (225) (3,184)
Charge for the period ZRHARS 0B 366 14,707 1,159 16,232
Written off upon disposals 7 & Bl 54 (20) (3,011) - (3,031)
At 31 March 2020 R-B-FF
=A=+—H 1,515 70,635 5,492 77,642
Carrying amount: BRMEIE :
At 31 March 2020 R-B-ZTF
=A=+—H 5,828 37,578 2,353 45,759
At 31 December 2018 RZZT—N\F
+=—A=+—H 6,336 43,138 3,294 52,768
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16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

(a)

Right-of-use assets

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® Bl ZZE MR

SERAT

16. EAEEE HEAE

(a)

EREEE

Rental premise

HEWE
HK$'000
FHET

As at 1 January 2019 — adoption of HKFRS 16 RZZE—NF—A—B-EH
BB HREELE 1657 23,374
Depreciation provided during the period HRITE R (3,729)
Exchange adjustments bEE 5 A (843)
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-BF=A=+—H 18,802

The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s rights to
use underlying leased land and premises under operating
lease arrangements over the lease terms, which are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of

EREEERASEREEEEERE
RIBHAEABREE L R 2
A BEUARAR RETHITE K RETRER
1B YHERNEEREENRFIET
IAFHEE o

the lease liabilities.

Lease liabilities

As at 31 March

2020
R-Z2ZRF
=A=+—AH
HK$'000
FAET
Analysis as DT

- Current - nE 3,590
- Non-current - 3ERH 20,653
24,243

Minimum lease payment due R AR B8 2 SRR E RT3
- Within one year -—FR 3,590
- More than one year but not later than two years - —F&ERER 4,130
- More than two years but not later than five years -~ MEEZERER 13,813
- Over five years -RAFENUE 2,710
Present value of lease liabilities HEEEZRE 24,243
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

17. BEWE

As at 31 March | As at 31 December

2020 2018

R-E-ZHF RZZE—N\F

=A=+—H +=—A=+—8

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Completed investment properties EEKLEME 2,839,091 3,165,921
At the beginning of period/year REFH] 3,165,921 4,392,818
Adoption of HKFRS 16 HNE BB EERE 165 1,304 =
3,167,225 4,392,818

Additions A= 21,824 55,921
Disposal HE (3,484) (102,552)
Written off g (1,451) (1,991)
Transfer to stock of properties BEMESFE (373,125) (957,020)

Fair value gain recognised RERERZ X TERE
in profit or loss 148,801 4,507
Exchange adjustments IR (120,699) (225,762)
At the end of period/year REFR 2,839,091 3,165,921
(@) Valuation of investment properties (a) S/ E AL

The investment properties amounted of approximately
HK$2,839,091,000 of the Group were stated at fair value
as at 31 March 2020. The fair value were arrived at based
on the valuations carried out by an independent firm of
qualified professional valuer, RHL Appraisal Limited (“RHL"),
who has among their staff members of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the location
and category of the properties being valued. The valuations
conform to the Valuation Standards 2017 Edition published
by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

RHL has valued the properties on the basis of capitalisation
of the net income derived from properties rental. In the
course of their valuation, RHL has also made reference to the
comparable market transactions as available. Discussions
of valuation processes and results are held between the
Group and valuers at least once every six months, in line
with the Group's interim and annual reporting dates. As
at 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018, the fair values
of the properties have been determined by RHL. At each
financial year end, the Group (i) verifies all major inputs to
the independent valuation report; (ii) assesses property
valuations movements when compared to the prior
years valuation input; and (iii) holds discussions with the
independent valuer.

RZZE-ZTF=A=+—H " KEEH
2,839,091,000/ T 2 & EYH1E A FAE
PR - RFEETDRIERBELIEERSE
EHEMFIBET R EMAR DA (RS
THFEREMETE - FBRTHREARAT
BRAEMEeE s - WHEITHEDSE
2B RBERHEA I HELS - B4
HEFTAESHIEMB eI 2 HELE
Al (ZZ—+tFh) o

METHBREDERSFRABERER
ZEEGYEETHE - REMERZ
o FRTTE2RAFRAT SRS -
REE R AEMR D BNEA—REHw
HEBERER  BAREEHZHHRSF
EHREAM—H -R_B_TF=A=
T-BR=ZZB-N\F+-_HA=t+—H"
MEZANFED BARITEE - REE
MBRFER  ARB()VZELBEE
WEZMEEREABIE : (i) ¥4 8
BEFEHERARBRL 2WEGE
BE) ¢ (i) BB (HEEETTAR
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(a)

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

The valuation assumptions, unless otherwise stated, RHL
assumed that:

a) all necessary statutory approvals for the properties or
the subject building of which the property forms part
of their use have been obtained;

b) no deleterious or hazardous materials or techniques
have been used in the construction of the properties;

c) the properties are not subject to any unusual or
especially onerous restrictions, encumbrances or
outgoings and that good title can be shown; and

d) the properties are connected to main services and
sewers which are available on normal terms.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used in the prior years. In estimating the fair value of the
properties, the highest and best use of the properties is
their current use.

The valuation of investment properties is determined by
various major inputs:

The major key inputs applied in valuing the investment
properties were market unit rental per each square
meter per month (the “s.q.m. per month”). The ranges of
s.q.m. per month of various locations were from RMB3.7
to RMB63.1 (31 December 2018: RMB3.2 to RMB58.1). A
significant increase in the s.q.m. per month used would
result in a significant increase in fair value, and vice versa.

The term yield and reversionary yield were one of the key
inputs used in valuing the investment properties. The
ranges of term yield was from 7.0% to 8.0% (31 December
2018: 7.0% to 8.0%) while the ranges of reversionary yield
were from 7.5% to 8.5% (31 December 2018: 7.5% to 8.5%).
A slight increase in the term yield and reversionary yield
used would result in a significant decrease in fair value
measurement of the investment properties, and vice versa.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® Bl ZZE MR

SERAT

17. BEWHE»

(a)

REMEZ HEHE)

BREATAIN - FIBEITEL AT EER

B

a) EWELXZMEEK—HOAR
MAERIEFE S A B ERDE
TERLE

b) “ZEMERERZREIERAES
kR R s AT

o EEVEIARBREFMEEE
EEFNRG ERAEELX
- BRRRTEEMARE R

d ZEVEERSRRIGREHR
ZEERBITKEE °

S TR RO (A R B (T
ARB) - RIEHMEATES - D%
MBERBERRBLENME -

REVFENGERZIEE B ASEE
E

HERENENRAZ EZHASE S
BRASEFIAMHEEMNAS(SAST
FK]) - TEME 2T AT KEE
NIERAREITTEARKE63.1T(Z
T—NE+_A=+—8: AR¥3.2
TEARM58.17T) - MIRAZEAE
K HIR ARG AN - S BHAT
EREEEM - RZINA -

FHIE R REREIHRE IR EERE
MEMERA 2 EZ2HIE - FEARREN
TR7.0%E8.0%(—T—NEFE+=-A=
+—H : 7.0%%8.0%) ' MR EHRE
NFR75%E85%(—F— /\F+_A
=+—H :7.5%%8.5%) ° ATH A FH
Bl R R R B SRR HOL I - e
BYRAEYMEZ A TEAERERD -
R 2 IR -



—ZE-ZFFIR e 2020 Annual Report 209

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR WK

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 17. REWHE »

(b) The analysis of the carrying amount of investment (b) ‘EMEZEREESTHAT :
properties is as follows:

As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-B=2F RZT—\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
In the PRC =
- medium-term leases - REIFEA 2,839,091 3,165,921
(c) Details of the Group’s investment properties and () AEER-Z-ZF=A=+—HEKZ=
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March E-N\F+A=T—HAZEREMEF
2020 and 31 December 2018 are as follows: BEREBEBAFEBRCERIT
Fair value
as at
31 March
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020
R-ZB=-ZH
=Z=A=+—-RB2
£ ER e AFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET FERT FER
Investment property unit IR B Z&&
located in the PRC MEEN = - 2,839,091 2,839,091
Fair value
as at

31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018
RZT—)\F
+=—A=+—AH
B E-H FE=H AN
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET
Investment property unit I B Z &
located in the PRC 3V = = 3,165,921 3,165,921
There were no transfers into or out of level 3 during the RE/ R - SR ET M AREH o

period/year.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(d)

Investment properties leased out under operating
leases

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals are measured using the fair value
model and classified accounted for investment properties.

The Group leases out its investment properties which is
agricultural exchange markets to various tenants. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 year to 5 years, at the
end of which period all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases includes contingent rentals. For the period ended 31
March 2020, the rental income from investment properties
less direct outgoings of approximately HK$20,731,000 (year
ended 31 December 2018: approximately HK$13,889,000)
amounted to approximately HK$216,184,000 (year ended 31
December 2018: approximately HK$181,247,000).

The Group's total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® Bl ZZE MR

SERAT

17. BEWHE»

(d)

RELEHELHEZREMSE

REBEMANERGERELZHER
B UARBRERATEERGFE2ES
WAERRFFAREDE -

AEERZEHEFELHAERENE - A
BEMRZME - BH—RVLAH—
FEERE RS EFEEREEK -
RO ER RS - HEZT =T
F=A=+—HBILHHE  RKEELEWE
2 WARAE B 420,731,000
BT(EEEZE-—N\F+=_A=+—
BILFEE : 4913,889,000/87L)4 5
216,184,000 T (B E =T — \F+=
A=1+—HBIFE : 181,247,000/
TT) °

REERBETATHEEERERRRKE
FEWA S ERENT

As at 31 March | As at 31 December

2020 2018

R=-Z2Z2F RZZE—\F

=A=+—H +=-—A=+—8

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHERT FHET

Within 1 year —FR 144,595 151,376
Between 1 and 2 years —FIRERFA 49,134 45,568
Between 2 and 3 years MEREB=FA 19,515 12,777
Between 3 and 4 years =FRENFEAN 8,468 2,627
Between 4 and 5 years MFEREBRFRN 6,247 2,110
Over 5 years AFENRE 23,380 5,317
251,339 219,775

In addition, the Group has arrangements with tenants and
their suppliers which entitled it to charge commission
based on certain percentages of the transaction price
of agricultural products delivered to the tenants in the
agricultural produce exchange markets.

BEAN - REEEES RN E 2 HERE
fEHZHE - EARERNEERR ST
BRNGEHEPZRERRZENETE
D HEBWRE o
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(e)

Pledge of investment properties

As at 31 March 2020, the land use rights in respect of
investment properties with a total carrying amount of
approximately HK$1,300,879,000 (31 December 2018:
approximately HK$1,313,174,000) were pledged to banks
for the Group’s bank borrowings, details of which are set
out in note 27.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had been applying for the
relevant certificates in respect of the buildings erected on
the land included under investment properties owned by

17. BEWHE»

(e)

EYHE 2 TR
RZZT=—_ZEF=A=+—80  &E
Y ¥ BRI EX 51,300,879,0007%8
T(ZE—NF+-_A=+—8: 4
1,313,174,000/ 7T) 2 T A#EE 5t
AEE 2 RITHRMIBIATFRIT - F18
BRI 27 ©

RZZEZTF=[A=1T—H KEE—
ERBERARERERTRENEARNZ
T EEENBTHFEBES

the Group.

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

18. B EE

Operating right

HK$'000
FHET
Cost A
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 and A—E—-NFE—H—H -
31 March 2020 —Z-N\F+=-R=+—H"
—ZE-AF-A—AK
—ECFF=A=+—H 43,768
Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss Rt BHEREERSE
At 1 January 2018 R=—ZZT—N\F—HA—H 31,646
Amortisation expenses during the year FREEREZ 6,061
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—BkK
—E-hnF—A—H 37,707
Amortisation expenses during the period HAEEE 5 6,061
At 31 March 2020 R-EB-EBF=A=+—H 43,768
Carrying amount FREE
At 31 March 2020 R-EBE-BF=ZA=+—H =
At 31 December 2018 R—ZE—N\FE+=-AA=+—H 6,061

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of

amortisation:

Operating right 5 years

The license entitles a subsidiary of the Company to operate an
agricultural products exchange market in the PRC for 5 years from

the date of acquisition.

VAT AT A F RN AT S 8

54

B2 7.2 — RN 2 ) MO B e 4
RS — EAERZ ST -
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

General information of subsidiaries

Name of Company

NEEH

Novel Talent Limited

BMEEERREARAR
(note 19(a)(i))

BINEFBERRERAR
(PEE19(@)(0)

REAYNRAERATS
AIRARF] (note 19(a)(1)

READNRIERATS
BRARFE19a)0)

INCERIERMENS
BIRAE] (note 19(a)(1)

IHEERRERBETS
BRARFE19a)0)

IHEENRERERAR
(note 19(a)(ii))

IRTENAERERAA
(BFEE19a) i)

HNEERRERSETS
BRAF (note 19 (a)(ii))

PMEE

REREERHETS
ARLAE]

& (Fit3E19(a) (i)

Particulars of
Place of issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary

registration and share capital/

operation registered capital

BRTRBHMAR
HMERL/ LRRRA/
BRRBENE SRERFE
British Virgin Islands/ UsD1

Hong Kong

RBRRES/ B (Er
The PRC RMB61,220,000
HE AEH61,220,0007T
The PRC RMB88,500,000
HE K 88,500,007
The PRC RMB76,230,000
e AE76,230,0007T
The PRC RMB160,169,617
HE AEH#160,169,61770
The PRC RMB150,000,000
HE AEH150,000,0007C

19. FEHBE A F]
@ MBATZ AR

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held

BEERERREELA
Group's
effective Held by Held by
interest  the Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
RE@EZ
BN RAARE  WEARRE IEER
100% 100% = Investment holding
REER
51% - 51%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation
EERERR TS
100% 94.4% 56%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation
BERERRZ ST
65% - 65%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales
EERERRZHTHR
NRHE
100% - 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales
EERERRZHTHR
NRHE
100% - 100%  Agricultural produce

exchange market

operation and

property sales
EERERRHTHR

MEHE
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of Company

NFER

RiZERAERHEDS
BIRAF (note 19(a)(ii)

BHTERERNETS
BRAR M EE19))

RELERAERETS
BIRAF (note 19(a)(ii)

RERERIERNETS
BRAR HEE19))

BBLERRERLENS
BIRAF (note 19(a)(i)

EBRERRERETS
BRARE

5
B f15£19(a)(i)
ERTERAERETS
BIRAF (note 19(a)(ii)

BERTERIEMNETS
BIRAR M E19))
ELTTEERERNT

BB/ (note 19(a)fii))

=EERDR
&l EE19(a)(ii)

EZRER
BRAF

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation

AL/
BLREEHE

The PRC

il

The PRC

T

The PRC

e

The PRC

HE

The PRC

T

Particulars of
issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BRIRBHMR
LERRA/
EMERFE

USD23,230,000

23,230,000%7C

RMB146,200,000

AR #146,200,00070

RMB140,000,000

AR 140,000,007

RMB10,000,000

AE%10,000,0007

USD29,918,835

299188355 7L

% B 75 ¥R AR MY RE

“EF=A=+—HI-+hfEA

19. TEM B2 T @

@) MBRARZ—RER@E

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held
FREREERREELA

Group's

effective Held by

the Company

Held by

interest subsidiaries  Principal activities

rEEZ

BRE ARERE  WEAREE IERR

100% - 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BEREMRATHR
NRHE

100% - 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

RERERRITHR
MRHE

75% - 75%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

RERERRITHR
MRHE

100% - 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operations and
property sales

RERERRITHR

WEHE

100% - 100%  Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

RERERRITHER

NEHE
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of Company

NFER

EALERRERLEDS
BB (note 19()(i)

EALERRERLED S
BRARME9a)0)

ERMEERLREER
BEMSARAR
(note 19(a) (iii))

ERMEERIREER
BEMSARAR
(FrrzE19(a) i)

MAREREERAF
(note 19(a)(iii)

RNABRBERAT
(Frr&E19(a) i)

EHaYHRRERMRE
AR (note 19(a)(ii))

EHAYHERERRE
BIRAR MHE19)i)

WL EETRRAERTS
EREBRAR
(note 19(a](iii))

WL EETRRAERTS
EREBRAR
(FEE19(a)(i)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operation

AL/

BLREEHE

The PRC

T

The PRC

T

The PRC

e

The PRC

e

The PRC

e

Particulars of
issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BRETRBHMR
LERRA/
EMERFE

RMB2,000,000

ARH2,000,0007T

RMB12,680,000

AE%12,680,0007

RMB10,000,000

AE#10,0000007

RMB3,000,000

AR #3,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

ARH1,000,0007T

0 2=

[s[aS.N

SERAT

19. TEM B2 T @

(@ MBA

Proportion of ownership interest

and voting power held

RERRRRREELA
Group's
effective Held by Held by
interest  the Company subsidiaries
r&EZ
B gL ARAEE  WEARRE
80% - 80%
58.58% - 58.58%
100% - 100%
51% - 51%
100% - 100%

Az —RER &)

Principal activities

IERH

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

RERERRHTS

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

RERERRHTS

Financial service
operation

BEERRE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

BERERRHTS

Food and agricultural
by-products
merchandising

RERREIERSE
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 5 Z —ZE - EF =A=+—HIt+RAEA

19. TEHB AT

General information of subsidiaries (Continued) (a) MWEBARzZ—RERE
Notes: Mz
(i) Registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture under the (i) REBPENEEELAFINEGEEGER
laws of the PRC. Al e
(ii) Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the (ii) RBRBUEREE R AIBEERSE -
laws of the PRC.
(i)  Registered as a domestic-funded enterprise under the laws of (i) REVBEEEELANEDRZE -
the PRC.
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting BRI A RN F LA FNE
at the end of the year or at any time during the period/year. IR A B E S
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in FRIINHEEDRATEZEREFEE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results FEEZASEWBAR - ERRAW
or assets of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries EREMMBRRFBEBEFBEROHE
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of ¥ o
excessive lengths.
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HEEANFZERER ZIEZEN B
material non-controlling interests NAIZFFIE
Proportion of
ownership
Place of interests and
incorporation/ held by
registration non-controlling Profits/(loss)allocated to Accumulated
Name of Company and operation interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
MR FERER
NGRS EEREEHE FRBEERELS SEZFEREDRFN(FB) Rt FERES
Fifteen
months from Year from
1 January 1 January
2019 to 2018 to As at As at
31 March 31 December 31 March 31 December
2020 2018 2020 2018
BZZ-h# BZE-N\F
—RA—REZE —R—BZ%
b Sl 33 —E-N\EF
ZA=t-A8 |[tZA=1+—A | R=B=BF | R-T-N\F
E+EEA +H¥E | ZA=t+—-R |TZA=1—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THET TER FHBT
BMEFHEER  ThePRC 49% 18,198 (650) 155,444 149,856
BRRR FE
RERBER  ThePRC 35% 7,468 28,457 205,200 205,830
?tt?ﬁﬁ BERRE FE
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. TEMBE AR @
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HEERIFERER 2 IFDEN B
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NI =2 1E))
Summarised financial information in respect of each of BRAREEGAEAFIERER 2 S W
the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling BARMBERBERN T o X
interests is set out below. The summarized financial AR E 2 WE A E AT RE -
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.
(i) BHNRFEHEZFRERAA] (i)  BHRFEHEZFRERAA]
As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-ZEZZF RZZ—)\F
=A=+-H +=—A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHAT
Current assets mMENE EE 59,507 72,619
Non-current assets SERBEE 412,310 422,439
Current liabilities iEI=N Y 47,872 78,767
Non-current liabilities FRBAME 106,828 109,106
Equity attributable to owners of RAEHE AELER
the Company 161,673 157,329
Non-controlling interests AR 2 155,444 149,856
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. TEMBE AR @
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HEERIFERER 2 IFDEN B

material non-controlling interests (Continued)

MR+ B B %= A R 2 B] (Continued)

()

RAZFHIF#®)

() FMEFEEZERERAA]

(#)
Fifteen Year from
months from 1 January 2018
1January 2019 to to 31 December
31 March 2020 2018
B=ZE-h#%F BT N\F
—A—HBZE —H—H=Z%
—E-EH —E—)\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—H
L+E@EA IEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Turnover T 55,190 46,183
Other gain H bz 1,783 1,704
Net gain/(loss) in fair value of REMENFEWE
investment properties (E518) %58 9,323 (12,672)
Expenses FxZ (29,157) (36,541)
Profit/(loss) for the period/year 1, FREF (&) 37,139 (1,326)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners RKRBEE AFEN
of the Company wm ), (E518) 18,941 (676)
Profit/(loss) attributable to JEFEE AR R 75 PR A
non-controlling interests wm ), (E518) 18,198 (650)
Profit/(loss) for the period/year 1,/ FriET (E18) 37,139 (1,326)
Total comprehensive income/ /NG Y SN (e ]
(loss) attributable to owners WA/ (FE518) w58
of the Company 11,330 (9,698)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) IEERERELEE
attributable to non-controlling WA/ (518) 185
interests 12,300 (8,761)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) B/ FANREBAS
for the period/year (E18) s =E 23,630 (18,459)
Dividend paid to non-controlling XTI S 2 RS
interests 6,712 -
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19. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. TEMER A @
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HEERIFERER 2 IFDEN B
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NRIZFE#E)
(i) RINRF B E %R F R 2 A (Continued) (i)  HINEFHEEREGRAA
€
Fifteen Year from
months from 1 January 2018
1January 2019 to to 31 December
31 March 2020 2018
B=Z—-h#F BT —)\F
—HA—BZE —H—H=Z
—ECEH —ZE-N\F
=A=+-H +=-—A=+—8
It+H@EA IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBx FA&T
Net cash inflows from KERBRBMAFRE
operating activities 21,857 8,966
Net cash inflows from REZHRSRAFRE
investing activities 287 1,569
Net cash outflows from MEETHRS ML FHE
financing activities (25,449) (9,297)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows BeORd) RAFEE (3,305) 1,238
(i)  EMEEREEMMETSHR A E] (i)  ENEEREEmMETS
V=N |

Current assets MENVEE
Non-current assets FEMBEE
Current liabilities mEBE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE

RABHEE AEIE S

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
FEPER R 2

Non-controlling interests

As at 31 March
2020
R-Z-ZHF
=H=+-—A8
HK$’000
FHET

835,808
1,479
209,269
46,172

376,646
205,200

As at 31 December
2018
R=ZZT—N\F
+=-—A=+—A1
HK$'000

FHET

855,641
1,340
202,723
70,612

377,816
205,830
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19. TEM B AR @

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) HEERIFERER 2 IFDEN B
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NRIZFE#E)
EMEEREEmAFETSBRAE] (i)  EMEERE EmFETS
(Continued) BRAF(#E)
Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019 to | 1 January 2018 to
31 March 2020 | 31 December 2018
BE-Z—-h&F BT \F
—B—HZ& —A—AZ%
—E-EBH —ZT—N\F
=A=+—H +=ZRA=+—H
Lt+HEEA IEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Turnover S 356,482 192,708
Other gain H b Wz 12,128 5,463
Net gain in fair value of investment &Y E QA F ARG
properties pEitE] = 62,292
Expenses 53 (347,273) (179,157)
Profit for the period/year H,/F R ) 21,337 81,306
Profit attributable to owners RAE B AEERF
of the Company 13,869 52,849
Profit attributable to non-controlling  FE#2E A% 4 25 FE 1 3 7
interests 7,468 28,457
Profit for the period/year HY 4 S A 21,337 81,306
Total comprehensive (loss)/income KNEHEB AEG
attributable to owners 2HE(EEB), WA
of the Company R (1,170) 34,351
Total comprehensive (loss)/income — JEIZER s fE(R 2 HE
attributable to non-controlling G WL ON L
interests (630) 18,466
Total comprehensive (loss)/income B/ FRE2AEESER),
for the period/year L ONL- (1,800) 52,817
Net cash inflows from operating M TEENIR S WA FRE
activities 164,689 205,582
Net cash outflows from WEESHRS L FRE
investing activities (300) (8,935)
Net cash outflows from financing REEESR ML FRE
activities (175,462) (162,102)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows Be (R, RAFE (11,073) 34,545
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20. STOCK OF PROPERTIES 20. EEE
As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-B=2F RZZT—)\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Completed properties B E 1,509,032 1,533,856
Properties under development BRABY 105,379 130,089
1,614,411 1,663,945
Less: written down of stock of properties 8 : #1317 SEHUR (2,969) (66,371)
1,611,442 1,597,574
As at 31 March 2020, the stock of properties of approximately RZZE-_FTF=A=+—H0 DEFEY
HK$332,503,000 (2018: approximately HK$355,924,000) were 332,503,000/8 70 (== — \4F : 4J355,924,000
pledged to bank for the Group’s bank borrowings, details of which BT ERAEB 2 RITERERTRT - A
are set out in note 27. R IEEA M 27 -
] =+
21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. B R HAMERRKIE
As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-ZB-ZF R=ZT—N\F
=A=+—H +=-A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Trade debtors, gross B E SRR B 9,676 18,682
Allowance for expected credit losses TEAEEEIaRE (6,089) (10,327)
Trade debtors, net e E 5 ERFFER 3,587 8,355
Deposit for land acquisition T RS 53,019 55,284
Other deposits Hiviz e 9,866 13,727
Prepayments A FUR 101,399 81,910
Other receivables H b fE Y 5108 67,074 91,603
231,358 242,524
Less: allowance for expected credit losses & : TEHA{E B E518 5 (1,128) (448)
230,230 242,076
Trade and other receivables, net B M EMmEWAIEFEE 233,817 250,431
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

Ageing analysis

Included in trade and other receivables are trade debtors
with the following ageing analysis presented based on the
payment terms on the tenancy agreement, net of allowance
for expected credit losses, as of the end of the reporting

21. EZREMEWRFIE®

(a)

AR DT

B 5 REHMEWFIEREEZBERE
BB RIERE 5 2 B E 5 5E (0
REHEEBBREHE NREHERZE
BT -

period:

As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R=ZB=-ZF RZT—N\F
=BA=+—H +=A=+—AH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHAT
Less than 90 days 90H AN 2,953 1,887

More than 90 days but less than @90 HE180H AR
180 days 369 482
More than 180 days 1808 A E 265 5,986
3,587 8,355

The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30
days to its trade customers. The Group may on a case by
case basis, and after evaluation of the business relationships
and creditworthiness of its customers, extend the credit
period upon customers’ report.

AEE-—RETHEESEFI0HZY
BEEH - AEETEEERNERRE
BRHEEEE R Z FBREREEE -
REEPHBMEMEREREDS -

Ageing of past due but not impaired (b) EBEMERFE R
As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R=ZB=ZF RZT—N\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHAT
Less than 90 days past due BHAT 290H 369 482
More than 90 days past due B HARR B0 H 265 5,986
634 6,468

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to
a number of independent customers/tenants that have a
good track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance is
necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

BEEBERRMEZ BKRFRTIFENEZ B
BEEASREERFZBIES M
P REBELR hRNEEERTE
A B 2 R AR {5 4D AT 4R [ 2 0 A 3k
B MEEBREHARZEAERIEL
MERE - AEEWERZ AR
EHEIR R -
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22. LOAN RECEIVABLES 22. EWRE R

As at 31 March | As at 31 December

2020 2018

R=Z2Z2F RZZE—)\F

=A=+—H +=-A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHERT FAET

Loan receivables, gross U E R 4a%E 50,669 40,525
Less: allowance for expected credit losses & : TEHA(E B 5185 # (900) (198)
Loan receivables, net EWE R 49,769 40,327

Analysis as: DR

Current portion BREAER 5> 49,769 40,327

SR TE 3 4% 480 B O A R (B B3 MR B HE R D

The amount is neither past due nor impaired for whom there was
no recent history of default.

AEEBZRKERERFEA7.4%(ZF—N
£ 1 7.5%) °

The effective interest rates on the Group’s loan receivables are
7.4% (2018: 7.5%).

23. BAVEIBRRAERREE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

ZEMEE

As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-ZZEZZF RZT—)\F
=B=+—H +=—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAET
Listed investments: ETRE -
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong - RBEB L2 IRAFES 72 66
Derivative financial instruments: MTEEMIA -
- Redemption option derivative - BRI ERETETAESND
component (note 30) (F$7E30) 322 2,109
Fair value NEE 394 2,175

BERAFEIRENBEREEZEHE
EBRAFEINER - LHREZATFELES
ERBARERSAAEMEEAEBME
Rl o TESRMITAZ AFERBELZERMG
EMITER - BRI ET 2 hEEK -

All financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at
fair values. Fair values of the listed investments are determined
by reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the
relevant stock exchanges. Fair value of derivative financial
instruments was arrived on the basis of valuation carried out by a
firm of independent professional valuers and was valued by using
binomial model.
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24. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

Cash at banks and in hand

RITHEBRETFRAS

24. RITRBEHEER

As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R=Z2Z2F RZZE—)N\F
=A=+—H +=ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt
339,599 488,415

Notes:

(a)

Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash held by the Group and
bank balances that bear interest at prevailing market rates ranging
from approximately 0.001% to 3.05% (year ended 31 December
2018: approximately 0.001% to 3.05%) per annum and have original
maturity of three months or less.

Included in cash at banks and in hand as at 31 March 2020 is an
amount denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) of approximately
RMB283,764,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$309,870,000)
(31 December 2018: approximately RMB377,167,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$429,461,000)). Renminbi is not freely convertible
into other currencies.

Included in cash at bank and in hand as at 31 March 2020, restricted
cash of an amount of approximately RMB7,372,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$8,050,000) represents certain companies of the
Group which are required to place in designated bank accounts
certain amount of pre-sale proceeds as guarantee deposits for
the constructions of the related properties. The deposits can
only be used for payments for construction costs of the relevant
properties. Such guarantee deposits will be released after the
completion of construction of the related properties (31 December
2018: approximately RMB10,143,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,550,000)), and restricted cash of an amount of approximately
of RMB98,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$106,000) is the
restricted cash held at banks as receipt on behalf of tenant in
agricultural produce exchange market (31 December 2018:
RMB175,000 (equivalent to HK$200,000)).

Wi

(a)

BITRGBETFEE SR AEERE R
& URZEFFNT40.001%ZE3.05% (&
E-_Z-N\E+-_A=+—HLEE:#
0.001%%3.05%) 2 HITHFI = 8 B RE
BB A=@EAIA T ZRITHE -

R-ZZE-_TF=ZA=+—8 " ROTEHK
FHESBE"BUAARE(TARE]:
BEZHAXH AR 283,764,000 T (FHE R4
309,870,000 L) (ZE—\F+=A=+
— B HAR¥377,167,0007C (ABE R4
429,461,000%7C) - ARBETREEBRLIRA
HtE -

MR-ZZE-_TF=-A=+—0 RITEHETF
SRS BIE—HHARKE7,372,000T(HE
498,050,000 7T) B FR il M 17 AR R A &
EHETAREREERITIRPERE TE
ERNEEMEMSRIE  (ERIBBYEER
IRNFES - ZRESETAARINEE
MENBEETIREA - ZRESHERIERAD
TEEMERETRBRTIBERR(ZE—N
F+ZA=+—8 : HAR%10,143,0007T
(FHE R #911,550,000570) R 2R HIREE
FEH AR5 98,0007T (FH & 7 47106,0007%8 7T)
AREREEARZHHEFEARTTRF
HERCE—NFT_A=T—H: ARS
175,0007T (18 E 74 49200,0007%7T))) °
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24, SRITRBESEtR

BiRE : (&)

24, BANK AND CASH BALANCES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (b) REFIMELENEELYRE:
Bank and
Lease other Convertible Promissory
liabilities borrowings Bonds bonds notes Total
RITR
HEER HAfE R &% TRRES RRARE k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TET TET TET
(note 16(b)) (note 27) (note 28) (note 30) (note 29)

(Rt 16(b)) (FitzE27) (FitzE28) (Fit3E30) (FitzE29)

Net debt as at RZF—N\&F
1 January 2018 —R—Bi
EHFE = 696,254 1,254,581 226,279 376,000 2,553,114
Change in cash flow ReneRy - (212,206) (358,784) (19,849) - (590,839)
Foreign exchange ERER
differences - (36,009) - - - (36,009)
Other non-cash movement ~ Efti3E3H & #3) = = 130,450 28,317 = 158,767
Net debt as at RZE-N\&F
31 December 2018 +-A=1+—-8#1
ERFE = 448,039 1,026,247 234,747 376,000 2,085,033
Impact on applicationof ~ FEFBEEHFHRE
HKFRS 16 £ 165 2 24,678 = = = = 24,678
Net debt as at RZB-NE
1 January 2019 —R—B&
EHFE 24,678 448,039 1,026,247 234,747 376,000 2,109,711
Change in cash flow HERBEY (5,799) (18,194) (350,850) (24,797) - (399,640)
Foreign exchange EXERE
differences (1,033) (18,356) - - - (19,389)
Other non-cash movement {1 3F58 & # &) 6,397 600,000 (498,399) 36,944 = 144,942
Net debt as at RZZ-TF
31 March 2020 =RA=1+—H#
EHFE 24,243 1,011,489 176,998 246,894 376,000 1,835,624
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25. DEPOSITS AND OTHER PAYABLES

—T-F
=

=

F R e 2020 Annual Report

25. e R EMENSRIE

As at 31 March | As at 31 December

2020 2018

R-B=2F RZZT—)\F

=A=+—H +=-A=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Accrued charges EstER 21,726 26,811
Construction payables JEEEFUR 48,038 73,659
Deposit received 2 Wiz & 99,902 88,961
Interest payable FEATFILE 298,598 250,005
Other tax payables b fE R IR 18,463 59,859
Other payables H b JETRIE 196,317 276,898
683,044 776,193

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to:

Revenue from contracts with customers:
Contract liabilities relating to sale of
properties contracts

TP A KK
BHENEANBRENANEE

26. SNEE

REEE HRE

=A

As at 31 March

2020

R-Z-2F
=+-8

HK$'000
FTEx

464,983

TIRBRENERE :

As at 31 December
2018
RZZT—)\F
+=-—RA=+—8
HK$'000

FET

476,774

The contract liabilities relating to sale of properties contracts will

be recognised as revenue when the Group satisfies its performance

obligations by transferring the control of the properties to the

customers.

EAKEEBERNEZHRTEPRITHE
BEENEROAHNENE

BHEMER

ERSFER AR o
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 26. GHNEE®
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRETRAREGHMEREEBLEMSE
in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract AHNEEENEBEERNKRESHE -

liabilities relating to sale of properties contracts.

Fifteen
months from Year from
1January 2019 to | 1 January 2019 to
31 March 2020 | 31 December 2018
B=Z—N&F BE-ZE—N\F
—B—HZ —A—RA%
—E-EH —ZE-N\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—8H
I+ HEA IEFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Revenue recognised that was included B/ F N A N A EESRN
in the contract liability balance at the BRI E
beginning of the period/year 202,588 329,604
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations THRETALEMESADMREBITONELN
resulting from sales of properties contracts. Bff -
As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-ZB-ZHF RZT—N\F
=BA=+—H +=—A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Aggregate amount of the transaction AERELENEFRBHK
price allocated to sale of properties 2 ERTTRR YIS LK)
contracts that are partially or fully RS ERBEE
unsatisfied as at the end of period/year 749,602 718,056
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“EF=A=+—HI-+hfEA

27. RITREMERK

As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-B=2F RZZE—)\F
=A=t+-8| +-A=+-"
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Secured bank borrowings BHEMRITE R F (@) &)

(note (a) and (d)) 394,017 448,039
Unsecured bank borrowings (note (a)) SR IRIR 1T 1E (P 5T (a)) 17,472 -
Unsecured other borrowings (note (b)) S E 18 3R (T (b)) 600,000 -

1,011,489 448,039
Carrying amount repayable: EERRMEE -
Within one year —FR 231,820 328,036
More than one year, but within two —F A L ETBRMRF
years 61,733 58,277
More than two years, but within five MEA L BETBRRF
years 658,968 61,726
More than five years HEMNE 58,968 -
1,011,489 448,039
Less: amounts due within one year shown Ji : 728 IETﬁﬁ§'J—¢W
under current liabilities EIIHAFR (231,820) (328,036)
779,669 120,003

Included in the above balances are bank borrowings
of variable-rate of approximately HK$206,706,000 (31
December 2018: approximately HK$360,985,000) which
carry interest adjustable for changes of borrowing rate
offered by The People’s Bank of China. The average
rate charged by the banks during the period ranged
from approximately 3.0% to 7.1% (31 December 2018:
approximately 4.8% to 6.7%) per annum. Interest is
repriced every 30 days. Bank borrowings of fixed-
rate of approximately HK$204,783,000 (31 December
2018: approximately HK$87,054,000) carry interest
fixed from approximately 3.3% to 7.8% (31 December
2018: approximately 4.4% to 7.8%) per annum. All bank
borrowings are denominated in RMB.

@ rti#ZEHBREZERITERYD
206,706,000/ 7T (=& —

+—a
eIk
B2 FHFIEN

(ZZ—
%6.7%)

£7.8%(=F—

FAAREEHE

NE+ZA=
: #9360,985,00087T) © % E
BRZFEATZEPEARRITREZ
<FBMAE - A - RITHK
NTFBFL3.0%E7.1%
NE+=ZA=+—8”
cHEER=ZTHEHNTEE

—IR o EEIRITERAI204,783,00078
T(ZE—NF+=—A=+—H
87,054,000 JT) 1% 4 [E & Fl) F
NF+=—A=+—8:
FFL4.4%57.8%)5T 8 ° FTBERITE

D #74.8%

o)
#93.3%
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27. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(b)

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® Bl ZZE MR

SERAT

27. BITREMER®

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has unsecured borrowing by RZZTZZTF=-A=+—H KEEBEE
with carrying amount of approximately HK$75,000,000 RERLZEBEERARZE2EWB AR
(31 December 2018: Nil) from Double Leads Investments BFRAREERAAD(EAMDEEEL A
Limited (“Double Leads”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of 75,000,000 8 L(ZE—NFE+=-A=
Wang On Group Limited and unsecured borrowing with +—B: E) 2 EEREREREMT
carrying amount of approximately HK$525,000,000 (31 HEERPER AN ZEENB AT
December 2018: Nil) from Winning Rich Investments Limited I EARAA(ERDEEEL A
(“Winning Rich”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wai Yuen 525,000,000 L (ZE—N\EFE+-_A=
Tong Medicine Holdings Limited. The unsecured borrowings +—B ) 2 EERER o EIERE
carry fixed interest rate at 10% per annum. HREEFFER10% o
The ranges of effective interest rates (which equal to (0 AEBEERZERFEGESZREH
contracted interest rates) on the Group's total borrowings MR)GE DT :
are as follows:
As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-B=2F RZZ—)\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Effective interest rate: ERF XK
Fixed-rate borrowings ERMER 3.3% to 10.0% 4.4% to 10%
3.3%%10.0% 4.4%%=10%
Variable-rate borrowings FEIER 3.0% to 7.1% 4.8% t0 6.7%
3.0%Z7.1% 4.8%%6.7%
The secured bank borrowings are secured by the land (d) HBHEMEBITERAMFE17R200TH

use rights included in investment properties and stock
of properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,633,382,000 (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$1,669,098,000) as set out in notes 17 and 20.

BEFERAEEBELA1,633,382,0007
T(—E—-—NE+_A=+—H8: 4
1,669,098,00078 1) Z & W ¥ K W%
TFER) T F AREER -
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28. BONDS 28. &%
Listed bond
Non-listed Non-listed maturity
bond maturity bond maturity in 2024
in2019 in 2020 (“Listed bonds
(“Bonds 2019”) (“Bonds 2020") 2024") Total
REZB-NE RIBZZF R-B-NF
E3)- 2] d 2
FLEmES FLEmESH EHES
=2-n& (=2=%F (=Z2-@O#F
&%) &%) tHEH] k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FAT FHT
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)
(F¥=E) (Ff3E2) (H3E3)
At 1 January 2018 R-ZZ—-\F—A—H 1,035,346 23,112 196,123 1,254,581
Add: Interest charge m:FEER 106,394 2,527 17,752 126,673
Less: Interest paid/payable BN EAFE (99,460) = (2,986) (102,446)
Less: redemption settlement B EBEIFIE (198,225) = (54,336) (252,561)
At 31 December 2018 and RZE—N\F
1 January 2019 +ZA=+—-HBkK
—E-hEF—R—H 844,055 25,639 156,553 1,026,247
Add: Interest charge m:MEER 75,278 2,258 24,065 101,601
Less: Interest paid/payable BB RS (69,894) (1,897) (3,620) (75,411)
Less: Redemption by loan o AR A EE
(note 28(a)) (Kf5E28(a)) (600,000) - = (600,000)
Less: Redemption settlement B EEIRIE (249,439) (26,000 = (275,439)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZZT_ZF
=A=+—H = = 176,998 176,998
Current portion IR o
At 31 March 2020 R-B-ZF
A=t+-H = = = =
At 31 December 2018 RZZ—N\F
+=-B=+—H 844,055 = = 844,055
Non-current portion FEEEH D
At 31 March 2020 R-E=-2F
=A=+-H = = 176,998 176,998
At 31 December 2018 RZT—N\F
+-B=+—FH = 25,639 156,553 182,192
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28. BONDS (Continued)

Notes:

On 4 October 2014, the Company entered into the subscription
agreement with the placing agent and the subscribers for the
issuance of the bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$1,400,000,000.

On 28 November 2014, the Company announced the Bonds 2016 in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$200,000,000 and the Bonds
2019 in the aggregate principal amount of HK$1,200,000,000 have
been issued to the subscribers with the interest rate of 8.5% and
10.0% payable annually. The Bonds 2016 and Bonds 2019 will be
matured and redemption by the Company on 27 November 2016
and 27 November 2019 respectively.

On 19 October 2016 and 24 October 2016, the Company has early
redeemed the Bonds 2016 and Bonds 2019 in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$200,000,000 and HK$40,000,000 respectively.

On 17 August 2018, 14 September 2018, 21 September 2018 and 17
November 2018, the Company has early redeemed the Bonds 2019
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$50,000,000, HK$50,000,000,
HK$50,000,000 and HK$50,000,000 respectively.

On 19 December 2017, the Company has early redeemed the Bonds
2019 in the aggregate principal amount of HK$110,000,000.

On 18 January 2019, 26 February 2019, 18 April 2019, 21 August
2019, 24 September 2019 and 15 November 2019 the Company has
early redeemed the Bonds 2019 in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$20,000,000, HK$30,000,000, HK$20,000,000, HK$40,000,000,
HK$30,000,000 and HK$110,000,000 respectively.

On 26 September 2019, the Company, Double Leads and Winning
Rich entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to which, Double
Leads and Winning Rich agreed to grant a loan to the Company
in the principal amount of HK$710,000,000 to refinance the
outstanding Bonds 2019 of the Company owed to Double Leads as
to the aggregate principal amount of HK$89,000,000 and Winning
Rich as to the aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$621,000,000. For the details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 26 September 2019. On 15 November 2019,
the Company had redeemed the Bonds 2019 in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$600,000,000 by way of such loan.

28. BEF

PR

REZZF—WF+AMNA  ARFHEREERIE
FIVRERE  ARBABRTASEES
1,400,000,00078 7T 2 (&% °
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ANREE ©

RZZE—REF+ATNAER=ZZ—"F1+A
Z+MHH - ARARBREBEREASBRES A
200,000,000/% 7T 540,000,000/ 7TH) =& —
NEBER T NEEE -

R=ZZF-—NENA+EA  ZZT—N\FNA
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NE+—A+tH  AAREREERASE
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28. BONDS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2020, the Company has no outstanding of Bonds 2019
(31 December 2018: aggregate principal amount of HK$850,000,000).

The fair value of the Bonds 2019 was approximately HK$842,003,000
as at 31 December 2018. The Bonds 2019 were classified as level 2 of
fair value hierarchy.

The effectively interest of Bonds 2019 was 10.3% per annum.

On 19 November 2014, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent for the issuance of the bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$26,000,000.

The Company has issued the Bonds 2020 in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$26,000,000 on 5 January 2015, 13 February 2015, 30
March 2015 and 17 April 2015 to the subscribers with the interest
rate of 3.00% payable annually on or before 18 February 2015 and
7.30% payable annually after 18 February 2015. The Bonds 2020 has
be matured and fully redeemed by the Company on 18 February
2020.

The fair value of the Bonds 2020 was approximately HK$25,028,000
as at 31 December 2018. The Bonds 2020 were classified as level 2 of
fair value hierarchy.

The effectively interest of Bonds 2020 was 10.4% per annum.

On 19 May 2014, the Company established a HK$1,000,000,000
medium term note program. The bonds issued under the program
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited by way
of debt issue to professional investors only. The Company further
announced that interest on the notes will be payable annually in
arrears at the interest rate of 1% per annum.

The Company has totally issued 40 batches with the principal
amount of HK$400,000,000 with 1% interest rate per annum on 30
May 2014, 11 June 2014, 25 June 2014, 2 July 2014, 10 July 2014, 18
July 2014, 28 July 2014, 29 July 2014, 26 August 2014, 30 September
2014, 6 October 2014 and 7 October 2014 respectively. The entire of
the Listed bonds 2024 will be matured on 30 September 2024.

%’%/—\Eﬁkiﬁiﬁﬁﬁi

“EF=A=+—HI-+hfEA
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(&)

#)

R-ZZE——ZTE=A=+—H " AQFLE
—E-)\F+ZA=+—8:FreLEA
850,000,000/ 7T) M AR EE 2 —F— NFE
%o

—NFEFR T —N\F+=ZA=+—
BB A F{E#) A842,003,00087C - —F— N
FEFDPERBAFEBRE-R -

—NFEEHFNERNEREF103% °

R-ZT—mE+—A+AhB  ARAEE
ERBIVEEHBEUNBRTASHLES
26,000,000/ 7T 2 (&5 °

PN £¢ AREHR - =ZF—
£¢ H+ E —HAE=A=+8H
&7%*£¢EH+tE¥ TASHBER
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AN RZF—RAF-_A+/\BXZAEFE
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FEFIERATEBRE-R -

—ECTFEFNERNERETF104% °
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1,000,000,00078 7T 2 F EAZE #R 5T 8] - BIRET
BRI EFURMBEREERITEBH
FRAREBHERSMBRAR LT - XA
R —SEGERFEETELM - FHE
1% ©
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28. BONDS (continued)
Notes: (Continued)
c. (Continued)
The information of Listed bonds 2024 are presented as follows:

Principal amount:

REHE

Interest:

FE -

Issue date:

FITHE : 2=

Maturity date:
ZH#E -

Redemption period by the Company:
ZNRE 0 B BARE

Redemption period for the bond holders:

BEHFAANER SR : +—fER

Redemption amount on maturity date:

REIHANER S

As at 31 March 2020, the Company has completed the purchase
of and cancelled the Listed bonds 2024 in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$110,000,000. The Listed bonds 2024 purchased by the
Company will be cancelled, upon which the Listed bonds 2024 in the
principal amount of HK$290,000,000 will remain outstanding.

The fair value of the Bonds 2024 is approximately HK$170,628,000
as at 31 March 2020 (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$165,505,000). The Bonds 2024 were classified as level 2 of fair
value hierarchy.

The imputed interest expenses on the Listed bonds 2024 were
calculated using effective interest method by using the effective

interest rate of 11.6%.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® FEIEZERRXHERD
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HK$400,000,000
400,000,0007%5 7T

1% p.a. payable annually
FF1%  ASFEXA

40 batches issued from 30 May 2014 to 7 October 2014
—NFERA=THE=ZT

—OE+ A-£ HET4EIR

30 September 2024
—ZE-MEARA=TH

Three specified redemption dates from 31 December 2023 to 30 June 2024
ZEEENBEERA T _=F+_/A=+—H%

—Y—P;qi/\ﬂ +E|

Twelve Specified redemption dates from 30 September 2021 to 30 June 2024
EMERARE T —FNA=+RAEZE-_NFA=+H

HK$387,400,000 (96.85% of principal amount)
387,400,000/ 7T (A< & #E#96.85%)

RZTZTFE=A=+—H0 " ARAE=
AR RN € 4% 5110,000,00078 70
M-_Z_MFLEMES - ARARBEN=
TN FETEFEETE MALEA
290,000,000/ LH) = = OF FiEHIAR
B -

R _NMELTEFR_T_TF=A=
+—HHAFELA170,628,000%E (==
—\F+=ZA=+—H : 49165,505,000/5
o) e ZE-EFE FEFSBEARATEER
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—ERCNE FHESHEENERAXERRE
A FORETE R ERAE311.6% °
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29. PROMISSORY NOTES

On 5 December 2007, the Company issued two promissory notes
with an aggregate amount of HK$376,000,000 as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Wuhan Baisazhou Market (the
“Promissory Notes”). The Promissory Notes bear interest at 5%
per annum and are repayable in five years from the date of issue.
The Company may, at its absolute discretion, pay all or any part of

% B 75 ¥R AR MY RE

“EF=A=+—HI-+hfEA

29. R EE

R-ZZ+E+-"FRHA  KAAFZTME
# &% /376,000,000 0 2 AR 2K 0 {E
BUREBRZEZADP NS ZBORE(EARE
Bl  AREBRRERER5%TE - BRI
BRI AFERER - ARA2ENEX
NERREBRZZ2PHEMBOREELSTE

the outstanding principal amount and interest of the Promissory RAE -
Notes.
The movement of the carrying amount of the Promissory Notes HE-_Z-_ZE=-A=+—BR-_ZT—\&F
during the period/year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 December TZA=+—ALERFE ARXEEZ
2018 is set out below: IREEZEHIIMT :
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 HR=-F—\F&—HF—H *
and 31 March 2020 —NF+=A=+—8"
—NF—A—AK
—E-TF=A=+—AH 376,000

The effective interest rate of the Promissory Notes before matured

and matured were 12.23% and 5.00% per annum respectively.

During the period ended 31 March 2020, the Group was pursuing a
litigation regarding the Promissory Notes. For details, please refer
to note 36.

FIHAT MBI AR ERCERFR RS
Bl 512.23%525.00% ©

REZE-ZT-_ZF=F=1+—HILHMH &
SEREASERIRR—IHFR - FHEFEL2H
BizE36 o
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 19 October 2016, the Company issued 7.5% denominated
convertible bonds with the aggregate principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”). Each bond entitles
the holder to convert into the Company’s ordinary share at a
conversion price of HK$0.4 and maturity on 19 October 2021.

The Company issued the Convertible Bonds for the principal
amount of HK$500,000,000 to raise additional funds for the
general working capital and repayment of indebtedness of the
Company.

The Convertible Bonds may be converted into shares of the
Company at any time on or after issue date up to the close of
business on the maturity date.

Unless previously redeemed, converted, purchased and cancelled,
the Company will redeem each Convertible Bonds at its principal
amount with accrued and unpaid interest thereon on the maturity
date.

The Company shall, at any time before the maturity date, have the
option to redeem the Convertible Bonds in whole or in part by
giving not less than seven clear business days’ prior notice. The
amount payable for any redemption shall be the relevant amount
of the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds so redeemed.

The Convertible Bonds bear interest from and including the issue
date at 7.5% per annum in arrears every six calendar months after
the date of issuance of the Convertible Bonds. The interest payable
amount is calculated by 7.5% to outstanding principal amount of
such Bonds.

The Convertible Bonds contain three components: redemption
option derivative, liability and equity elements. The redemption
option derivative and term extension derivative components are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. The equity element is presented in equity heading
“convertible bonds equity reserve”. The effective interest rate
of the liability component on initial recognition is 12.31% per
annum. The valuation of Convertible Bonds was performed by an
independent qualified professional valuer of the Company.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® Bl ZZE MR
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30. AR ES @)

R—_E—tEWMANBE-_Z—t&NA
+ B B9 58#380,000,0008& i 175 &
115,500,00008f% 5 - R=F—tF+=-A+
N B - K& 4% 537,000,000 7T A A] #2 % (5
HFRREHEAQAMEKRORE -

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

On 6 April 2017 and 19 April 2017, 380,000,000 shares and
115,500,000 shares have been converted. On 19 December 2017,
the Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$37,000,000 were used to set off the consideration of rights
shares of the Company.

RZE-_ZEF=A=+—0 X254
264,800,00078 T B Al IR B 55 M R 1 T1E » AT
SRR 15 fx % 5662,000,0000% °

As at 31 March 2020, the Convertible Bonds with the principal
amount of HK$264,800,000 were outstanding and the maximum
number of share to be converted is 662,000,000 shares.

—E-TE-A=+—8 ABRkELEZ
FAE#) 249,669,000 TC(ZE— NEFE+=
=+—8 : #1242,743,000/87T) * AJEIR(E
S AN FEERE=H -

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds of approximately
HK$249,669,000 (31 December 2018: approximately
HK$242,743,000) as at 31 March 2020. The Convertible Bonds were
classified as level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

3k o > %

WHRRESRZEHZFT

The Convertible Bonds information are presented as follows:

Convertible

Bonds

ARRES

HK$'000

FHET

Principal amounts: NEE

- as at 31 March 2020 -RZEZZEF=RA=+—H 264,800
interest: FIE in HKS settlement
7.5% p.a. payable

per six calendar months

after the date of issuance

BRI ARG A

BRAEBTAREMESE

X 17.5%

Issue date: FITAAE - 19 October 2016
—E—R"FETA+IA

Maturity date: FEAA - 19 October 2021
—E_—F+A+NAH

Conversion price per share: SRRER(E : HK$0.4
0.4/87T

Risk free rate: b R 0.64%
Discount rate: b 2% 12.39%

Liability component =Rt
As at 1 January 2018 R-—Z-N\F—-H—H 226,279
Imputed interest charge (note 7(a)) HE RS HFiE7@) 28,317
Interest paid EEREAIES (19,849)
As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZB-N\F+A=+—HK 234,747
—ZT-NF—H—H

Imputed interest charge (note 7(a)) HEN S W (T EE7() 36,944
Interest paid BERFLE (24,797)

As at 31 March 2020

R=S-®F=A=+—H

246,894
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 30. AR ES @
The Convertible Bonds information are presented as follows: AMRRES 2ERZ250T « (&)
(Continued)
Convertible
Bonds
AR ES
HK$'000
FET
Equity component ERIs
As at 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, 1 January RZT—N\F—A—H ZT—N\F
2019 and 31 March 2020 +=ZA=+—8 - =ZF—N&—A
—BRZZEZZTF=A=+—H 79,547
Redemption option derivative component BEBRETETIARS
As at 1 January 2018 RZZT—N\F—A—H (19,796)
Change in fair value N EES) 17,687
As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—HBRK
—ZET-hF—H—H (2,109)
Change in fair value NF{EEEF) 1,787
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-ZEF=ZA=+—H (322)
31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31. REMBRRKRZABH
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Income tax payable in the consolidated statement of (@) HZEMBKRAREMAESHERRPZE

financial position represents provision for PRC enterprise STl
income tax.




31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Continued)

(b)  Deferred taxation recognised:

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the period ended 31 March 2020 are as

follows:

(b) CHERETEHR :

Fair value
adjustments
of investment
properties and

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

31. ZEPBMRRRZHAEH @

BE_Z - ZTF=A=+—HIHH "
EREREMERARER ZELERIES
B2 HEKED REEBINT -

stock of Convertible
properties Bonds Total
REMER
MEFEZ
AT EFR AR E S e
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHAT
Deferred tax arising from: BELEHEEER :
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZE—N\F—HA—H 419,507 12,788 432,295
Exchange adjustments B 34, 78 (22,195) = (22,195)
Credit to profit or loss A= 13,793 (2,812) 10,981
At 31 December 2018 and R==F—N\F+=A
1 January 2019 =t+—BR=_ZT—hF
—H—H 411,105 9,976 421,081
Exchange adjustments (RIS (19,662) = (19,662)
Credit to profit or loss A 86,134 (4,032) 82,102
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-EF
=A=+—8H 477,577 5,944 483,521
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31. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 31. MEMBMRRRZFAEH @
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b)  Deferred taxation recognised: (Continued) (b) BRERELHE: (&)
As at As at
31 March 31 December
2020 2018

R-ZE-EF RZZE—N\F
=B=+—H +=-A=+—H

HK$'000 HK$’000
T FA&T
Net deferred tax liabilities TG MR R R IRIE
recognised in the consolidated MIEBEFHE
statement of financial position 483,521 421,081
(c) Deferred taxation not recognised () RERZIELEFIE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has obtained RBER -  AREERAFHIEES
the tax assessment in regarding to the accumulated tax BEEH IR - RIBHIEFT L - &
losses. In accordance to the tax assessment, tax losses of E-E-_TF=ZA=+—HILHHELH
approximately HK$383,339,000 for the period ended 31 383,339,000 L(HE_T— \F+=
March 2020 (year ended 31 December 2018: approximately A=+—HIEFE : 4369,152,000/%
HK$369,152,000) can be brought forward to offset the future JO)BIEEE I K R R ER T R | o
taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised I £ A TERIAR R U SRR+ Bl e R
due to the unpredictability of the future profit stream. The BEBIREE - RREER - AKEW
Group had no other significant deferred tax assets/liabilities HMEMBRAABRZECHBEELEE, &

not recognised as at the end of the reporting period. f& °
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 32. EXKf#EE
(@) Authorised and issued share capital (@) FEERBEITRA
As at 31 March 2020 As at 31 December 2018
R-B-EF=A=1+-A RZZ-N\F+=ZA=1—H
Number of Number of
shares Nominal value shares Nominal value
RAEE HfE RinE B EfE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEr TR
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of BREEOVET
HK$0.01 (Z2-N\F : 001
(2018: HK$0.01) each BI) 2 TRk 30,000,000,000 300,000 30,000,000,000 300,000
Ordinary shares, issuedand ZER - DHITR
fully paid: BR:
At the beginning and the end 78 /E4I K 5/
of the period/year FX 9,953,067,822 99,531 9,953,067,822 99,531
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TEREEABERRIRER RS
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to RERRAARz@Z LRERIE—
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary Eo-mBTARYRABFBREET=Z
shares rank equally in regard to the Company’s residual BRS#E -

assets.
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(a)
Notes:
(i)
(b)
(i)
(i)

Authorised and issued share capital (Continued)

On 4 October 2017, the Company proposed to raise gross
proceeds of not less than approximately HK$730 million. The
Company should allot and issue not less than 8,294,223,185
rights shares assuming the conversion rights under the
Convertible Bonds are not exercised on or before the
record date, on the basis of five rights shares for every one
existing share. The subscription price is HK$0.088 per rights
share payable in full. The rights issue was completed on 19
December 2017 and the aggregate net proceeds were of
approximately HK$697 million of which (a) approximately
HK$110 million was intended to be utilised towards the
offsetting of outstanding principal amounts of the bonds
issued by the Company to a subsidiary of Easy One Financial
Group Limited (“EOG”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“EOG Group”); (b) approximately HK$37 million was intended
to be utilised towards the offsetting of outstanding principal
amounts of the Convertible Bonds held by EOG Group; (c)
approximately HK$100 million was intended to be utilized
towards the repayment of outstanding principal amounts
on loans of the Group due to a subsidiary of Wang On Group
Limited (“WOG”, together with its subsidiaries the “WOG
Group”); (d) approximately HK$205 million was intended to
be utilized towards the repayment of outstanding interests
accrued on the bonds, loans and the Convertible Bonds
held by/owed to EOG Group, a subsidiary of WYT and WOG
Group; (e) approximately HK$235 million was intended to be
utilised towards the repayment of outstanding indebtedness
of the Group owed to independent third parties; and (f) the
remaining net proceeds of approximately HK$10 million was
intended to be utilized as general working capital of the
Group.

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by section 40 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the
nominal value of the Company’s shares repurchased
which has been paid out of the distributable reserves
of the Company.
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)
(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents (i) the difference
between the underlying net asset value of the
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the
shares of the Company issued pursuant to group
reorganisation in 1995, and (ii) contribution arising
from capital reorganisation in 2003 and 2009.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is available
for distribution to shareholders. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
distributions out of contributed surplus if:

- it is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and
its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.

Shareholders’ contribution

The shareholders’ contribution represents imputed
interest expense on the non-current interest-free loan
from ultimate holding company in 2005.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements into presentation currency of
the Group which is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(r).

Other reserve

The other reserve of the Group was the changes in
the Group’s ownership interests in its subsidiaries
that do not result in the loss of control.

Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represents the
conversion option of convertible bonds recognised
in the equity until either the bonds are converted or
redeemed.
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RE M mARMEE
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32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(viii) Statutory reserve

According to the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
Company Law and the Articles of Association of the
PRC subsidiaries of the Group, these companies are
required to transfer 10% of their respective after-tax
profits, calculated in accordance with the relevant
accounting principles and financial regulations
applicable to entities established in the PRC, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance
reaches 50% of the registered capital. The statutory
surplus reserve can be utilized, upon approval of the
relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses or
to increase registered capital of these companies,
provided that such fund is maintained at a minimum
of 25% of the registered capital.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company was nil (31 December 2018: Nil).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to strictly control the debt level. The Group
maintains a strategy on acquiring land only if the project
development can commence within a short period of time
so as to minimise the time period between acquisition and
development of the acquired land, thus the Group’s capital
can be efficiently deployed.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines net debt
as total debt (which includes bank and other borrowings,
bonds, convertible bonds and promissory notes) less
cash and cash equivalents. Capital comprises total equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —ZE —ZFF = A=+—HI-+A@A

32. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d)

Capital management (Continued)

2018 was as follows:

— T ZTFFHR e 2020 Annual Report

=

The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2020 and 31 December

32. EXR#E®

d) BEXEE®R

R-ZZB-FF=A=1+—BER=-ZF—N

F+-A=+—BZAEEENT

As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-E-ZF R=ZZE—N\F
=A=+—H +=—A=+—8H
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B3 FERT FHET
Current debts MENER
- Bank and other borrowings - SRITREMER 27 231,820 328,036
- Promissory notes - EHER 29 376,000 376,000
- Bonds - &% 28 = 844,055
Total current debts BNHEA(E TS 4258 607,820 1,548,091
Non-current debts IERBNERS
- Bank and other borrowings - IRITREMER 27 779,669 120,003
- Convertible bonds - AR ES 30 246,894 234,747
- Bonds - &5 28 176,998 182,192
Total non-current debts FEENERfETS 4A 58 1,203,561 536,942
Total debt BT 4AHE 1,811,381 2,085,033
Less: Cash and cash equivalents  J& : IR& MRS EH5E 24 (339,599) (488,415)
Net debt BIFEE 1,471,782 1,596,618
Total equity R 1,485,365 1,595,364
Net debt-to-capital ratio B FEEEARL R 99.1% 100.1%

externally imposed capital requirements.

Neither the Company not its subsidiaries are subject to

AR AR EHTE R RIS HAE BTN

Mz BEARRE -
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RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33. XA BERRKRRAERLE
AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY
(@)  Financial position of the Company (@) ARARZHEAR
As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-ZE-EHF RZZ—)\F
=g=+-8| +t=A=+-8
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHBT
Non-current asset FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBARZIEE 319,580 319,580
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b fEYGRIE 2,397,086 2,398,987
Financial assets at fair value through  Z2AF(E7I R KRB R EIE
profit or loss CEmEE 322 2,109
Cash and cash equivalents BeNIBeFR 24,520 52,733
2,421,928 2,453,829
Current liabilities A=k
Other payables H b3R8 646,296 303,517
Bonds EH = 844,055
Promissory notes AR B 376,000 376,000
1,022,296 1,523,572
Net current assets RBEEFHE 1,399,632 930,257
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBAE 1,719,212 1,249,837
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bonds (6 176,998 182,192
Other borrowing H b e 600,000 -
Convertible bonds AR E S 246,894 234,747
Deferred tax liability ERFFIA B & 5,944 9,976
1,029,836 426,915
Net assets FEE 689,376 822,922
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(@)  Financial position of the Company (Continued)

33.

KRR BRA KRR EEED

€2

@ ARAZHBAAREE)

As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-Z2ZRF RZZE—\F
EFEr=E +=RA=+—A~
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT THET

Capital and reserves EXRR#E
Share capital &N 99,531 99,531
Reserves G 589,845 723,391
Total equity RSB 689,376 822,922

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 29 June 2020.

Chan Chun Hong, Thomas
PR ¥ BB
Director

EE

R-B-_EFENA-+HLBESZEZ=SH

R RETIE

Leung Sui Wah, Raymond

REnEE
Director

EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33. ARAMHARRRKHiEE B
AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE #)
COMPANY (Continued)
(b) A summary to the Company’s reserves is as follows: (b) ARBRZFHEEBMENOT -
Capital Convertible
Share redemption Contributed bonds Shareholders Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserves  contribution losses Total
EARE TRRES
BRipiEE fiE  HAER 1 BRitE ZitER ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000

TEL TEL TAL TEL TEL TEL  ThR

At 1 January 2018 RZE-\fF
—R—-H 3,923,470 945 588,812 79,547 664 (3,654,4006) 939,032
Transaction costs BAfRZZSKA
relating to
right issue (323) - - - - - (323)
Loss for the year TEERR - - - - - (215318 (215318)
At 31 December RIE-NF
2018 and TZA=1+-A
1 January 2019 RZF-NF
—A-H 3,923,147 945 588,812 79,547 664 (3,869,724) 723,391
Loss for the period THRER - - - - - (133,546)  (133,546)
At 31 March 2020 et 2:3

=R=t-H 3,923,147 945 588,812 79,547 664 (4,003,270) 589,845
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on
3 May 2012 whereby the directors the Company are authorised,
at their discretion, to invite selected eligible persons (the
“Participants”) to take up options for their contribution to the
Group. The Scheme will remain in force for 10 years. Under the
Scheme, the board of directors (the “Board”) may grant options
to the Participants to subscribe for shares in the Company for a
consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options granted. The
exercise price is to be determined by the Board and shall not be
less than the highest of:

(@)  the official closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date
which must be a business day (and for this purpose, shall
be taken to be the date of the Board meeting at which the
Board proposes to grant the options);

(b)  the average of the official closing price of the shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date; and

(c) the nominal value of a share.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the maximum number of shares in the
Company in respect of which options may be granted when
aggregated with any other share option scheme of the Company
is not permitted to exceed 116,334,463 shares, representing
approximately 1.17% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of this report. Subject to the issue of a circular and the
approval of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting
and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing
Rules from time to time, the Board may refresh the limit at any
time to 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of
approval by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time.
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

35.

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to the Participants in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in
issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess
of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders
in general meeting. The participant and his associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) are abstained from voting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to
time. Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share
capital or with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved
in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period
at the time of grant of any particular option. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board
at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised
more than ten years from the date of grant.

No options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
during the period/year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 December
2018.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks (including interest
rate, currency risk and equity price risk) arises in the normal course
of the Group's business.

These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

(@) Creditrisk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade
and other receivables, loan receivables and cash deposits
with banks.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, loan
receivables and cash and cash equivalents represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

In relation to the Group’s deposits with bank, the Group
limits its exposure to credit risk by placing deposits with
financial institutions with high credit rating and no recent
history of default. The directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk on the bank deposits is low.
Management continues to monitor the position and will
take appropriate action if their ratings should change. As
at 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk in relation to deposits
with bank.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain
individual customers. At the end of each reporting
period, the five largest receivable balances accounted for
approximately 78% (31 December 2018: approximately 66%)
of the trade receivables and the largest trade receivable was
approximately 61% (31 December 2018: approximately 57%)
of the Group’s total trade receivables. The Group seeks to
minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have
good credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that
are neither past due nor impaired have no default payment
history.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
location is mainly in the PRC.

For loan and other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual assessment
on the recoverability of loan and other receivables based
on historical settlement records and past experience. The
directors of the Company believe that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of
loan and other receivables.

ﬁAMFﬁ%WH

“EF=A=+—HI-+hfEA

EEREEEERBE®

EERRE @
HRAREERRRITZERME - A&
BB BRI RN AR E RN
HIN B R4 8% 2 S BIEEE - FEUURE
FrEEZEERR - AR Té%w
AEBRRTEFZEERRRE - B2
BREETABIRN - I["%EMBZ%ZETF
FAEERRIEETY R _T_TF
ZA=+t—BR-ZE-NF+ZA=t
— B AEBYEFERTERZBE
EhEERK -

AEEEHE TENEFZEREER
b o REMEIMEHR - ARBURIALE

ﬁ%fﬁﬁ?&fuﬁz%ﬁ FIBHT78%(—ZT — \F
+=—A=+—H : #66%) ' MExAME
WE SFIENAEBERE SR IEE5E

#e1%(—E—N\F+=-_A=+—8H:
#957%) - REBIBEBEEERLERIT
ZRGEFERGUABBEERR - KEH
B R 180 HR TR R (B < FE W E 5 IR A 1T
B R ARG 8% o
AEBZHMENEE S EERBREE
SR AFRE -
RERREMERFIENS F BEES

ERNBTAELRBTEREERK
HLfth FE WSRO 2 BT (o) M SR AR R R
G MERFHE - ARAIEBEREBEAE
B 0 R A B R E i FE W R IB A fR I
EEREERR o

249



250

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z — =&

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of, a financial asset and whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at
the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

. internal credit rating;
. external credit rating;
. actual or expected significant adverse changes in

business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

. actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

. significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower; and

. significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including changes
in the payment status of borrowers in the Group and
changes in the operating results of the borrower.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has credit policy to monitor the level of credit
risk. In general, the credit record and credit period for each
customer or debtor are regularly assessed, based on the
customer’s or debtor’s financial condition, their capacity to
obtain guarantee from third parties, their credit records and
other factors such as current market condition. Management
overall considers the shared credit risk characteristic and
the days past due of the trade receivables to measure the
expected credit. The Group considered among other factors
including forward looking information, analysed historical
pattern.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 and
31 December 2018 was determined as follows for trade

B 7 L B

% B 75 ¥R AR MY RE

“EF=A=+—HI-+hfEA

EEEERBE®

FERR#®
AEBFEAEABRRERESRRK
Fo—RME  REFZLHEHANY
BRR - WERFE=TESERNE
N RENERLEARE RIS ARN
SFHMEZ - ERFEEETSXES
AHERRERERS - EIEJE%E;%
BE SRR ERIE SRR
MR EEMES - ZK%I%%%J?-E
REZERARBEETBEAEEER K
DITESL R -

RULEE - R-B-FTF=A=+—H
R=Z-N\F+-A=+—HNEKE

receivables: SHRENBEBEETOT
More than
90 days but
As at R-B=EF Less than less than More than
31 March 2020 =A=+-—H 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
%90H
£R90H  {BER180R %R180H e
Trade receivables FEWE 558
Expected loss rate TEHAES IR 7.6% 33.0% 95.5%
Gross carrying amount #2RREI{E (F7&7T)
(HK$'000) 3,196 551 5,929 9,676
Loss allowance EEEE(TET)
(HK$'000) (243) (182) (5,664) (6,089)
Net carrying amount  RTESFHE (FA L)
(HK$'000) 2,953 369 265 3,587
More than
90 days but
As at RZZT—)N\F Less than less than More than
31 December 2018 +=A=+—H 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
%90H
K790 H E{ER180H %1801 #E
Trade receivables FEWE 5338
Expected loss rate TEHAET IR R 10.6% 20.3% 62.5%
Gross carrying amount #2BREI{E (F&T)
(HK$’000) 2,111 605 15,966 18,682
Loss allowance EEEE(TET)
(HK$'000) (224) (123) (9,980) (10,327)
Net carrying amount  BRENFE(FHT)
(HK$'000) 1,887 482 5,986 8,355
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31
March 2020 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as

0 2=

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® B2 E MR

ZERRA

F=A=+—HIETHMER

B 7 L B

A

EEEERBE®

EERRE @
R-ZB_ZF=-A=+—HZRKES
FIA < HIR B IR B B R 1) B TR B 0

follows: HERWOT -

Trade receivables
EWE S HE
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2018 R=ZZT—N\F—HA—H 12,903

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss & AR 1B 25 FF HERR 2 B 1B B E 1L 0
during the year 1,487
Amounts written off as uncollectible SR Bl TR W EH SRR (3,466)
Exchange difference X EE (597)

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—BkK

—NE—HA—H 10,327

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss #1825 P 72 2 15 18 & 5 182 0
during the period 5,160
Amounts written off as uncollectible SR E] TR I EE IR (9,104)
Exchange difference ER%%E (294)
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-ZFF=A=+—H 6,089

The Group will monitor debtors with long outstanding
balances and will engage in enforcement activities to
recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made,
these are recognised in consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The Group
closely monitors trade receivables balance more than 30
days. Those trade receivables, due more than 90 days, with
financial difficulties, declining credit standing and poor
historical payment pattern will be considered as default.
The Group will write off these unrecovered receivables after
all possible means of debt recovery activities.

REBRKERRIAKREELERNES
/\ ’ IHﬁmEX?ﬁ%‘JﬁE)JLM&@é'JEﬁE‘%ﬁH&Z
o B AN EIFKIE - BIR4RE =
&;ﬁ\ﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁlmﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ ZERIE o RE
BRI EE308 W E 5 EWRERIE
ZEER o ZE B EEEE0R - AFW
BRE - AR TR RBAERER
RERE 5 YRR BEL - 1
{EHFT A Al e BETS W B HETE - ZR&
G2 B AR U S 2 FEWRIE ©
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

For loan and other receivables, the Group applies either a
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivables has occurred since
initial recognition then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.

In determining the 12-month or lifetime expected credit loss
for these receivables, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical payment experience and
the corresponding historical credit loss rates, and adjusted
for forward-looking macroeconomic data. In assessing
whether the credit risk on these receivables have increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on these receivables as at
the reporting date with the risk of default occurring on
these receivables as at the date of initial recognition.
Management would re-assess these factors periodically for
any deterioration or improvement indications to determine
if credit risk from these receivables has increased or
decreased.

The closing loss allowances for loan and other receivables
as at 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018 reconcile to the
opening loss allowances as follows:

BERREEBERBEE®

EERRE @

SER N EMEYGRIAN S - AKEE

R2EAEREEBER2HELE

e RTERERRB VBT LAK

BEBEEINMIE - ML VIaTERERE
FIRZIEERERHREZILM - AR

ER2HRNERESENE -

REEZERUGRIEM 1218 A 2 1
MWEMEEEER  AREEEEAER
AENEERENLER  BEBEEN
KaRARMAEEEBEEX - WRE
A ERER B BIRETTHE - R
ZE EUGIAR (E B R B 7116 HEB A
RRBAEIEIN - ANEE B2 5 UGK
HERE QA NENRREZERE

FIRR NI FER A BB A N ENRR
EITHE - BB EMEN T EZE
AE  MEEEMB IR ETR - #
& i TR IR EER R 2 R
s o

RIZBZZBF=A=+—ARZZ-N
FH-A=t—RZBREFRREAMmE
WskIE 2 BRI 1R R B R ) S 1R
EEERIT ¢

Deposits
Loan and other
receivables receivables
RER
EWER HttEWRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
At 1 January 2018 R—Z—\F—HF—H 187 304
Increase in loss allowance recognised in G A B 2SR FER 2 518 B
profit or loss during the year & 11 144
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R=_ZT—\F+ZA=+—HRK
—ZE-hF—H—H 198 448
Increase in loss allowance recognised in BN R IBeE P FER 2 BB EE
profit or loss during the period 0 735 722
Exchange difference &N EE (33) (42)

At 31 March 2020

R=-B-BF=A=+-AR

9200 1,128

253



254

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M mARMEE

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 2 —Z — =&

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® Bl ZZE MR

ZERRA

F=A=+—HIETHMER

B 7 L B

A

EEEERBE®

Liquidity risk (b) MEEZER
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to MENE © AR RARE BN EREIE
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Individual FroRBEBITEB 2B - REEET 2
operating entities within the Group are responsible for ﬁiML ERERTEBERSERT
their own cash management, including the short-term 15 BREREAMCEHARERERE
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to ghﬁ/(}r&“1¢ﬁﬁ\7qiﬁ/\$ﬁ + HE RN S FRGER
cover expected cash demands, subject to approval by the EERESHEAAESEARESSH
parent company’s board when the borrowings exceed A& - AT o ZK%.ZBZ%%E?E
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s ERERRESARDHESFTEURER
policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected REETEERZECRE  BREAKR
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending TR SHEREEZSHEIBEIEG
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of E%’@E’W%%Eﬁlﬁ AN AR RS
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major MBEEFTRK -RZETF=A=+
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements —ARZTE-N\F+ZA=+—H8" %
in the short and longer term. As at 31 March 2020 and 31 BARBACRITREREE ©
December 2018, there were no unutilised banking facilities.
The following table details the remaining contractual TREFIIAEBE RIS BRAGTA KRB,
maturities at the end of reporting period of the Group’ RAERERERZENTESRAE
s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on (BERE LT =k (nEZ B RRER
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest HHRBITZRR)FEZFEMNF) 2
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, FIRET OB - LRAEB RAQF]
based on rates current at the end of reporting period) EEEEBEREZZERAE
and the earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay:
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_TF=HA=+—H
Total More than More than
Weighted contractual Within Tyearbut  2years but
average Carrying  undiscounted 1year or less than less than More than
interest rate amount cashflows  ondemand 2 years 5years 5years
HEEN R —£# mE#
METHRIE BEE BeRESE HETR BRER BIRER LE#
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n FiEn TiEn TiEn Ti#n TiEn
Deposit and other Re REMERFUR
payables - 664,581 664,581 664,581 - - -
Bank and other RIREMER
borrowings 8.2% 1,011,489 1,249,456 310,028 129,782 717,555 92,091
Bonds &% 11.6% 176,998 303,062 2,900 2,900 297,262 =
Lease liabilities ek 9.0% 24,243 32,349 5,609 5,802 16,381 4,557
Promissory notes RHRIE 5.0% 376,000 376,000 376,000 = - -
Convertible bonds BRS¢ 7.5% 246,894 295,597 19,860 275,737 = =
2,500,205 2,921,045 1,378,978 414,221 1,031,198 96,648
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

BEEREEEERBE®

Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) MEBEZRERRE)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F=A=+—H
Total More than More than
Weighted contractual Within 1year but 2years but
Average Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
Interest rate amount cashflows  ondemand 2years 5 years 5 years
ATORER —R —F K
il BRp FHE RenEdE JEEK T BRER nER
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T Tibn T ThL
Deposit and other Re REMERFUR
payables - 716334 716334 716,334 - - -
Bank and other BARAMER
borrowings 5.5% 448,039 487,151 346,800 67,226 73125 -
Bonds &% 10.5% 1,026,247 1,480,057 1150017 29,155 8,700 292,185
Promissory notes ERE 5.0% 376,000 376,000 376,000 - - -
Convertible bonds BES e 7.5% 234747 320,408 19,860 19,860 280,688 =
2,801,367 3,379,950 2,609,011 116,241 362,513 292,185
Interest rate risk () FIE= P

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank and
other borrowings, bonds, convertible bonds, promissory
notes, and cash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise mainly cash at banks
and in hand, with the annual interest rates ranging from
approximately 0.001% to 1.95% as at 31 March 2020 (as at
31 December 2018: approximately 0.001% to 3.05%).

The interest rates of the Group’s bank and other borrowings,
bonds, promissory notes and convertible bonds are
disclosed in notes 27, 28, 29 and 30 respectively.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, bonds,
promissory notes and convertible bonds (see notes 27, 28,
29 and 30 for details).

AEEEYH 2N XEREZRERITR
HMbER - B THRRES  AELER
BARRERESEHE -

ReRReFHREERERITEBRTF
EIRE R_E_TF-A=t+—HH
FEFRNF40.001%2E1.95% (R =Z
—N\EF+ZA=+—H : £0.001%%
3.05%) °

AREERITREMER - EF - &K
ERRAIBRBRES T XD BN
27 ~ 28 ~ 2930 ©

AN 5 (B T i [ S ) SRR T R B AR A R
&S ARZBRERABBRESZ AT
BERERREGERM 27 - 28 29K
30) ©
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

()

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
respect of its variable-rate bank and other borrowings (see
note 27) and bank balances (see note 24) due to changes
of interest rates. It is the Group’s present policy to keep its
borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise
the fair value interest rate risk. The Group currently does
not have any interest rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group's profit after tax and increase/decrease accumulated
losses by approximately HK$1,496,000 (year ended 31
December 2018: increase/decrease the Group's loss after tax
and increase/decrease accumulated losses by approximately
HK$3,610,000). Other components of equity would not be
affected (year ended 31 December 2018: Nil) in response to
the general increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the end of reporting period and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis point
increase or decrease represents management’s assessment
of a reasonably possible change in the respective interest
rates over the period until the next annual reporting period.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018.

Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group's
transactions denominated and settled in the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions relate.
Most of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are
also denominated in the Group’s functional currencies.
Therefore, the Group has no significant currency risk
exposure as they are denominated in a currency same as the
functional currencies of the group entities to which these
transactions relate.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® Bl ZZE MR

SERAT

BEREEEERBE®

GIESENAE -2
MEREBHSAEBPMET BRITREAM
ER(FE2BME27) AR RITAE R (GE
24 EHRSREMNEE R -
RNEE B B2 R BT B FAR
BEAFENERER - NEE B L EE
ARIRERR - AT - EREERN
KRk - WEEA LR G EE RS LS
ERRESRITREMER -

EE AT
R-B-ZF=A=+—H  HiEH
KRB LR/ TH-—GEEE - mME
Eit R ERERSTE  AREZ RE
BRFEE ML, EINm R EEEE
20,/ # A 411,496,0008 T(BE_-Z
—NFEFTZA=+—HLLFE : A%E
Z BB BRI, R D T R E 1R
A0/ 84 #93,610,00078 7T) o B B8 Fij
R TRT e R R R 2 E A AR
DBEZE-N\F+A=+—HBIt
FEE) e

ERBURE DT TR R B E B R
SHRBEARCEANZ B FEZIT
AeBmTAZMEREBRMEL - 20k
BMO—BEERHKREREEHNENE
ET—EFERENILPESEEEE
)2 b5 o ZT—\F2HMIIREE
FIEAEETT o

SRR

A& B P ez SRR T A Th
BAXREBARHFDZBTINR BISEE
EB 2R EREHEREN - AREX
MoBEMEERABEN ARSI
EHEHE - Bt » AR5 B R A
EAEBRAR  DRARENEZERS
kB BRI EEBRERIIE
FREk -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through
its investment in listed equity securities. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with difference risk and return profiles. The
Group exposed to equity price risk arising from changes in
the Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the reporting
date. If equity price had been 5% higher/lower, the
Group’s net profit for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$3,600 (year ended 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$3,300). This is mainly due to the changes
in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Fair value of financial instrument

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

(i) the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market prices; and

(ii)  the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

The carrying amount of other financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortised cost, approximate their respective
fair values due to the relatively short-term nature of these
financial instruments.

BERREEBERBEE®

BBk

REFRTER EHERAERZRESH
AZEER - EEEEBEFTRE
B R BN 2 KBRS AR IR
R o REEAZIZ A TERMNMERS
RERZ CBMEEZSNES 2 BER

i o
2

T2 BRESN HERIERS B HIT
AEZZRERBRMIEL o MRE LA
TEk5% @ AEBEARFEZFnfle
E 0,8 493,6008 T (HEZE—N
F+ZA=+—RHLFE : £3,300%
70) ° LbEERBIZRAFMESRKRNIE
RREEZEREECEE) -

TRIAEZAFE
EREEREGRABZAFEHRNUTSE
HETE ¢

(i) AREGEFRGEHETRERTR
PERIMERGZEREER
EREBEZAFEZETSRE
EE Rk

iy HeREENEBRBEZIAT
ERRAREEEBIRIERR
EREDITEE °

HRZEEMTAZAEEMEE - &
R EE N SR E B2 REEREH
AT - ARERERBZAFE -
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2020 {2 —Z -4 = A=+—HIt+A@A

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

35. BiIEREEEERBE®

(f)  Fair value of financial instrument (Continued) H SMIAEZAFE®R
Fair value measurements recognised in the RS BT & HER A N FE AT
consolidated statement of financial position =3
The following table provides an analysis of financial TREHRYPERERATETEZ
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial SRTAZHN  UREBER-_T_FF
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based —A=+—-BRkR=_Z—)\&F+=-A=+
on the degree to which the fair value is observable as at 31 —HZATFEZABREEDRE—Z
March 2020 and 31 December 2018. =WoA¥E -
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived . F—MATEFEREHRER
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for M LEREEXKBEBEZRE
identical assets or liabilities. (TEEMAR)FE 2 A FER
= .
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived . FRATEFERIEEE &
from inputs other than quoted prices included within A2 RE AN Z AT E # (BNE )
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, sEEEVRERSL BR 2 H
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived BENAGEERE 28 ASESEN
from prices). ZATERE -
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived . F=BATEFTERIEREEL
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the FEERBRMIGHE 2 EESK
assets or liability that are not based on observable B EMESR AR (T B RE
market data (unobservable inputs). AR 2 HERMMEEZAF
Bt 2 °
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B -t B=H B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FHET FHET FER
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-FF
=A=+-—H
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value & QAT ETR KA B
through profit or loss REBZESRMEE
- Equity securities listed in - REA LT ZRA
Hong Kong ez 72 = = 72
Derivative financial MEEMIA
instruments
- Redemption option - BRI ENTE
derivative component TAHS = = 322 322
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Fair value of financial instrument (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2018 R-ZB-—N\F
+=A=+—H
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value & QAT EFR KA B
through profit or loss REBZEMEE
- Equity securities listed in - &AL ZIRA
Hong Kong &5
Derivative financial TEEMTIA
instruments
- Redemption option - Ol B AR i DT A
derivative component TAHD

5. UEREEEERBER®

Level 1
B
HK$'000
FET

66

TRTAEZAFEE
RERE R BN KR A) A F I

E#)

Level 2 Level 3 Total
F_M EF=R wzn
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

THET TET TET

- 2,109 2,109

There were no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in both
years. When a determination is made to classify an asset or
liability within Level 3, the determination is base upon the
significance of the unobservable inputs to the overall fair
value measurement.

PREFE & F-BRE=R
Z AR - REREEXEES
BRE=F  ARAETIRETAEE
BABBHERATEIABZEERE
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Fair value of financial instrument (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Valuation
Financial assets techniques
SREE (B 3 9l

Financial assets at fair value through ~ Binomial model
profit or loss

- derivative financial instruments

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® R B REMRZ ZHR QA

5. BEAREEEEREX®

(H SWMIAZRATE#E
REFE R BN KR A FIEE

E#)

As at As at
Unobservable 31 March 31 December
inputs 2020 2018
T B A —ECF —T-N\F
& =A=+—-8 |tZA=+—H
Discount rate 14.73% 12.05%

BATEIEREERREEY ZIHFER BhIR =
-PTESRTA

As at 31 March 2020, the discount rate used to compute the R-ZEBE-TE=A=+—0 " BR:tE
fair value is 14.73%. The higher the discount rate, the lower N EZ BB E314.73% © BHER K i
the fair value. = A EBIE -

For reconciliation Level 3 fair value measurements of EReREEZE =R AFEFEZSH
financial assets, refer to Note 30. IR - FE2EMIEE30 °

A
36. =F&k

36. LITIGATION

(A)

Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun

and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial
Development Co., Ltd. against the Company (“PRC
Action No.1")

1. On 7 January 2011, the Company received a writ (the
“Writ”) issued by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang”)
and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial
Development Co., Ltd. (“Tian Jiu”) (as plaintiffs)
against the Company (as defendant) and filed
with the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province
(the “Hubei Court”) of the PRC, together with the
related court summons dated 4 January 2011 (the
“Summons”). The Writ also joined Wuhan Baisazhou
Agricultural By-Product Grand Market Company
Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”) as third party to
such civil proceeding.

(A EFBEREIRERNIZERER
RARRPERARREL 2K

(THhEISE—®<R])

1. RZE——F—A+tR: &2
AR ESBELZLT(EL2E )R
REZRANIEEHRABBRAA(X
M) (ERRS)SHE AR R (fE
BWE)RTEBIEEERAR
Eb (A ER DR 2 <M
€R)  ERABPHA=ZT——
F—AMNABZHE@EEREE(E
E]) o 2RI RZEADMEE]
ERATSERAR(ADME
RERNEAZE=FAESAZE
REZERF -
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36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. EFEA(®)
(A)  Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (A TFHEHAZTRRERNTIZERSB

[RARNFBEMARFELZ <M
(THEE-—®mTR) @@

and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial
Development Co., Ltd. against the Company (“PRC
Action No.1") (Continued)

1o

(Continued)

Major allegations of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as set out
in the Writ are as follows:

(@) itis alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged
a share transfer agreement (the “Contended
Agreement”) in relation to the acquisition
of Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Acquisition”)
wherein consideration for the Acquisition was
understated and the manner of settlement of
the consideration was inaccurately described;

(b) itis alleged that Baisazhou Agricultural forged
the related documentation for filing with the
PRC Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM”") and
the Hubei Administration For Industry and
Commerce (the “Hubei AIC"), and that such
documentation and the Contended Agreement
involved forged signatures; and

(c) it is alleged that MOFCOM and the Hubei
AIC approved the Acquisition and processed
the related filings on the basis of the above
documents that are allegedly forged.

At the relevant time of the Acquisition, none of
the current Directors or senior management of the
Company as at the date of this report were involved
in the Acquisition.

According to the Writ, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu were
seeking an order from the court that the Contended
Agreement, to which the Company is a party, is void
and invalid from the beginning and should therefore
be terminated, and claimed against the Company
and Baisazhou Agricultural all relevant profits of
Baisazhou Agricultural which were attributable to Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu, together with costs of the legal
proceedings.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(A)

Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun
and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial

Development Co., Ltd. against the Company (“PRC
Action No.1") (Continued)

2.

On 18 November 2011, the Hubei Court made an
interim order that the 8% equity interest held by the
Company in Baisazhou Agricultural be subject to a
freezing order pending determination of the Writ. The
percentage of equity interest held by the Company
in Baisazhou Agricultural subject to a freezing order
was subsequently reduced from 8% to 1.3%. On
26 May 2015, a decision was issued by the Wuhan
Intermediate People’s Court discharging this freezing
order. It follows that the freezing order no longer has
any effect on the Group.

On 18 June 2014, the Company received the
judgment (the “Hubei Court Judgment”) dated 31
May 2014 from the Hubei Court in relation to PRC
Action No. 1. In the Hubei Court Judgment, the Hubei
Court dismissed the claims of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu,
and they were ordered to bear the legal costs of the
matter.

On 4 July 2014, the Company received the notice
of appeal to the Supreme People’s Court of the PRC
(the “Supreme People’s Court”) from Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu regarding PRC Action No. 1 (the “Appeal”).
In the Appeal, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu sought an order
from the Supreme People’s Court that the Contended
Agreement was void.

On 13 January 2015, the Company received the
judgment dated 31 December 2014 handed down
from the Supreme People’s Court in relation to the
Appeal (the “Beijing Judgment”). In the Beijing
Judgment, the Supreme People’s Court ordered
that: (a) the Hubei Court Judgment be revoked;
(b) the Contended Agreement was void; and (c)
acknowledged that the HK$1,156 million sale and
purchase agreement (the “SPA”) shall be the actual
agreement being performed by the Company, Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu.
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36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. EFEA(®)
(A)  Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (A TFHEHAZTRRERNTIZERSB

[RARNFBEMARFELZ <M
(THEE-—®mTR) @@

and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial
Development Co., Ltd. against the Company (“PRC
Action No.1") (Continued)

5. (Continued) 5o €)
As advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company: BARRFREDEZERNER
(@)  The Supreme People’s Court only ordered the (@ EmeARZERIFAARAFE
Contended Agreement void, but it did not Wl R - B0 Y UREE
make any ruling regarding the Acquisition SEAS R/ REABHR
itself, and/or the approval of the Acquisition T EF+—AFEEN
issued by MOFCOM in November 2007. Uk B8 18 2 O (B A
FIR o
(b)  The Beijing Judgment will not directly lead (b) RFABTIEEEER
to any immediate change of ownership BOMNBREIERESRER
of Baisazhou Agricultural. The Company ERBIREE o AQAH
continues to be the legal owner of Baisazhou BEROPMNEIERD
Agricultural until and unless the revocation of: BEHBAN  BEEKKIHE
sH
(i)  the approval of the Acquisition from () EBHEBEWEEIE
MOFCOM; and HLE ¢+ M
(i)  the registration of the transfer of (i) MATIEBEED
shareholding by the Hubei AIC. IR RS -

6. On 23 June 2015, the Company submitted an 6. MWITE—RAFAAZT=H K
application to the Supreme People’s Court for a NEIA &S ARER R BES
retrial, requesting that the Beijing Judgment be set i ESRIEEIL AR
aside.

7. On 21 July 2015, the Company received the written 7. RIE-—RE+A-t+—H &K
Notice of Acceptance of the retrial application from NREE S S ARER 2 BEH
the Supreme People’s Court. AEXEBAE -

8.  On 22 December 2015, the Supreme People’s Court 8. MWIE—RAF+_HAZ+=H"
dismissed the Company’s petition (the “December B AREREKBIARD R K BE
2015 Judgment”). The Company received the (ZZ2—AF+ZAHR]) - K
December 2015 Judgment on 7 January 2016. The ANEIRZE—RF—AEBKE
December 2015 Judgment s final. —ZE-RFE+ZRAHR - ZF—

FF+ZRHREHZEFR o
9.  The Company is also seeking legal advice as to the 9. ERTX(D)EHBeRHEI 21

possible impacts of the Beijing Judgment on the
Group, if any, in view of the development as set out
in Paragraph 6 of Section (D) below.

& - RRB IR —EERIERHR
HAREEZ AR EINR)BR
ERBH -
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36. LITIGATION (continued) 36. EFEA(®)
(A)  Writ issued in the PRC by Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (A TFHEHAZTRRERNTIZERSB

[RARNFBEMARFELZ <M
(THEE-—®mTR) @@

and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial
Development Co., Ltd. against the Company (“PRC
Action No.1") (Continued)

10.

If event 5(b)(i) and/or 5(b)(ii) outlined above do
happen, possible impacts on the Group may include,

but are not limited to, the following:

(a)

(@]

Baisazhou Agricultural ceasing to be a
subsidiary of the Company. For the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2020, Baisazhou
Agricultural contributed approximately the
following to the Group: (i) approximately
HK$231 million in revenue; (ii) approximately
HK$108 million in profit attributable to
owners of the Company; (iii) approximately
HK$1,694million in assets; (iv) approximately
HK$696 million in liabilities, and (v)
approximately HK$998 million in total equity
attributable to owners of the Company;

the Company cancelling the provision for
payment of the two outstanding instruments
purportedly described as promissory notes in
the respective sale and purchase agreement
between the Company and Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu. As at 31 March 2020, the instruments
were recorded at book value of approximately
HK$376 million, together with interest payable
in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$642 million; and

the Company may take all necessary actions
to seek (i) the return of the remaining balance
of approximately HK$706 million, being the
consideration paid for the Acquisition, and (ii)
the investments made by the Company over
the years in Baisazhou Agricultural.

However, at this stage it is premature for the
Company to provide any definitive view on the
possible overall impact on the Group if events
5(b)(i) and/or 5(b)(ii) above occur.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(B)

Writ issued in the PRC by the Company and Baisazhou
Agricultural against Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and others

1.

On 28 January 2011, the Company and Baisazhou
Agricultural commenced court proceedings at the
Hubei Court against, inter alia, Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu for the return of assets and operating profits
of Baisazhou Agricultural which were unlawfully
misappropriated etc.

On 16 October 2014, the Company applied to the
Hubei Court to withdraw its claim in the proceedings.
The Company’s application was granted on 22
October 2014. Baisazhou Agricultural remains as
plaintiff of the proceedings.

On 12 January 2016, the Hubei Court issued a
notice to the parties, informing the parties that the
composition of the judges for the proceedings would
be changed.

On 27 March 2017, the Hubei Court made an order
that since the outcome of the legal proceedings
against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (see
Section (D) below) would affect the trial of these
proceedings, these proceedings should be stayed.

On 2 July 2020, the Hubei Court issued a notice

informing the parties that these proceedings would
be resumed on 15 July 2020.

As at the date of this report, the case is still ongoing.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(@]

Writ issued by the Company against Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu in Hong Kong

1.

On or about 24 October 2011, the Company issued
a Writ of Summons in the Hong Kong Court of First
Instance (the “Court”) against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.
The Company (as purchaser) sought damages from
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of
various provisions of the SPA for the Acquisition.

On 5 October 2012, the Company obtained a court
order from the Court to the effect that undertakings
(the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu not to: (i) indorse, assign, transfer or
negotiate the two instruments (purportedly described
as promissory notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments”);
and (ii) enforce payment by presentation of the
Instruments until the final determination of the
court action or further court order. Pursuant to the
Undertakings, the Instruments will no longer fall due
for payment by the Company on 5 December 2012.

On 9 June 2017, upon the parties’ joint application
to the Court, the Court varied the Undertakings to
the effect that the Undertakings shall stand save
that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu can make a counterclaim
under the present action as per the draft attached to
the Consent Summons filed by the parties on 2 June
2017.

The trial took place in February, March and June 2019
for 23 days. The parties are waiting for the Court to
hand down judgment.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(D)

Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu

36. HFRA(®)
D) EIETRAAUEBIRIEESR

N

1.

On 4 May 2015 and 5 May 2015, Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu had jointly commenced two separate
legal proceedings against MOFCOM alleging that
MOFCOM failed to discharge its statutory duties for
handling their application submitted in January 2015
for revoking the certificate of approval and letter of
approval in relation to the Contended Agreement
(the “Application”). The cases have been accepted by
the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court (the
“Beijing Court”).

On 20 May 2015, MOFCOM had filed its defence and
each of the Company and Baisazhou Agricultural has
then made an application to join the cases as third
party.

On 25 May 2015, the Beijing Court issued a notice to
the Company regarding submission of evidence.

On 8 January 2016, the Company received a judgment
dated 31 December 2015 issued by the Beijing Court,
by which the Beijing Court demanded MOFCOM to
handle the Application again within 30 days.

On 15 February 2016, an inquiry was held by
MOFCOM where the relevant parties to the legal
proceedings were invited to attend and make
submissions.

On 23 May 2016, the Company received a decision
issued by MOFCOM dated 19 May 2016 (the
“MOFCOM Decision”) to the effect, inter alia, that its
approval issued in November 2007 in relation to the
Contended Agreement shall not be revoked and shall
remain to be in force.

According to a writ dated 3 August 2016, Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu requested the Beijing Court to revoke
the MOFCOM Decision and to order MOFCOM to
make a decision to revoke the approval. According to
a notice issued by the Beijing Court together with the
writ which was served on the Company, each of the
Company and Baisazhou Agricultural has been added
as a third party to the proceedings by the Beijing
Court. Three hearings have taken place in the Beijing
Court so far.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(D) Legal proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu (Continued)

8.

10.

11.

12.

On 18 April 2017, the Company received the
judgment of the Beijing Court dated 31 March
2017 (the “31 March Judgment”) stating that the
request made by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu to revoke
the MOFCOM Decision lacked both legal and
factual basis and was not supported by the Beijing
Court. Accordingly, the Beijing Court dismissed the
application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

On 10 May 2017, the Company received a Notice of
Appeal dated 8 May 2017. By the Notice of Appeal,
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 31 March
Judgment and requested for an order that (a) the 31
March Judgment be set aside and that (b) MOFCOM
to make a decision to revoke the approval issued in
2007 in relation to the Contended Agreement.

On 24 December 2018, the Company received the
judgment of the Beijing High People’s Court dated
20 December 2018 (the “20 December Judgment”)
dismissing the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu and
upholding the ruling of the Beijing Court as set out in
the 31 March Judgment.

On 4 March 2020, the Company noted the judgment
of the Supreme Court dated 31 December 2019 (the
“31 December Judgment”). By the 31 December
Judgment, the Supreme Court dismissed the
application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu for retrial and
for dismissal of the 31 March Judgment and the 20
December Judgement. The 31 December Judgment is
final.

In other words, the approval issued by MOFCOM
in November 2007 in relation to the Contended
Agreement shall not be revoked and shall remain to
be in force.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(B)

Writ issued by the Company against Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu in Hubei

1.

On 22 May 2015, in view of the Beijing Judgment
(as disclosed in Section (A) above), the Company
upon being advised by the PRC legal adviser of the
Company and out of an abundance of caution, issued
a writ against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. The Company
seeks an order from the Hubei Court that Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to
discharge its contractual duties under the SPA to
make the necessary filing with MOFCOM.

On 26 May 2015, the writ was accepted by the Hubei
Court.

On 15 June 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu brought a
jurisdiction objection to the Hubei Court.

On 25 August 2015, the Hubei Court dismissed the
jurisdiction objection.

On 6 September 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
appealed to the Supreme People’s Court regarding
the dismissal of jurisdiction objection.

On 30 October 2015, the Supreme People’s Court
dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

On 20 July 2016, the Hubei Court issued a notice to
the parties for attendance at the pre-trial review on
11 August 2016

According to the counterclaim filed by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu dated 6 August 2016, they sought for
a declaration from the Hubei Court that the SPA no
longer has any force.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(B)

Writ issued by the Company against Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu in Hubei (Continued)

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

On 11 August 2016, the Company submitted an
application to modify its claims. The modified claims
include: (1) to confirm that the SPA has been legally
made; (2) to seek an order from the Hubei Court that
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist the Company and
Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its contractual
duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing
with MOFCOM; (3) to seek an order from the Hubei
Court that if Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu fail to assist as
abovementioned then the Company and Baisazhou
Agricultural shall have the right to make the
necessary filing with MOFCOM on their own; and (4)
to seek an order from the Hubei Court that Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu shall bear the costs of the proceedings.

On 27 March 2017, the Hubei Court made an order
that since the outcome of the legal proceedings
against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (see
Section (D) above) would affect the trial of these
proceedings, these proceedings should be stayed.

On 26 April 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to
the Hubei Court for a freezing order in respect of the
Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural.
The Hubei Court refused the application by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu on that occasion.

On 10 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the
Hubei Court again for a freezing order in respect of
the Company’s 70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural.
According to the order of the Hubei Court dated 26
May 2017 (the “26 May Order”), the Hubei Court
granted the freezing order as against the Company’s
70% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural.

On 26 May 2017, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to
add a counterclaim for return of the Company’s 90%
interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (70% for Ms. Wang
and 20% for Tian Jiu).

On 5 June 2017, the Company applied to the Hubei
Court for review of the 26 May Order. According to
the order of the Hubei Court dated 12 June 2017, the
application by the Company was dismissed.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(B)

Writ issued by the Company against Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu in Hubei (Continued)

15.

16.

17.

18.

On 10 April 2019, in light of the outcome of the legal
proceedings against MOFCOM by Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu (see section (D) above), the Company applied to
the Hubei Court for withdrawal of the Company’s
claim. The application of the Company was granted
on 11 April 2019.

According to the order of the Hubei Court dated 23
December 2019 (the “23 December Judgment”),
the counterclaim made by Ms. Wang and Tianjiu was
dismissed by the Hubei Court.

Pursuant to a notice of appeal dated 19 January
2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the
23 December Judgment and requested from the
Supreme People’s Court for an order that (a) the 23
December Judgment be set aside, (b) the SPA no
longer have any force, and (c) the Company’s 90%
interest in Baisazhou Agricultural be returned (70%
for Ms. Wang and 20% for Tian Jiu).

As at the date of this report, the case is still ongoing.

Writ issued by Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-
Product Exchange Market Company Limited against
Mr. Cui Zhanjun

1l

On 3 April 2017, Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and
By-Product Exchange Market Company Limited
(“Luoyang Hongjin”) issued a writ against Mr.
Cui Zhanjun (“Mr. Cui”) seeking an order from the
Laocheng District People’s Court (the “Laocheng
Court”) for return of security deposit in relation to
the construction works in the sum of RMB2,721,500
with interests by Mr. Cui.

Upon mediation between the parties, the Laocheng
Court made a mediation order that (1) Mr. Cui
shall pay RMB2,721,500 to Luoyang Hongjin by 31
December 2017 and (2) in the event of default by
Mr. Cui, interest shall accrue on the said sum of
RMB2,721,500 at the benchmark interest rate of the
People’s Bank of China.

By 31 December 2017, Mr. Cui had failed to pay
the sum of RMB2,721,500 to Luoyang Hongjin.
Luoyang Honjin applied to the Laocheng Court for
enforcement action against Mr. Cui.
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36. LITIGATION (Continued)

(F)

Writ issued by Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-
Product Exchange Market Company Limited against
Mr. Cui Zhanjun (Continued)

4. By 21 January 2020, Mr. Cui has paid the sum of
approximately RMB2,693,172 to Luoyang Hongjin
through the Laocheng Court.

5. The case has now come to an end.

Writ issued in the PRC by Jiangsu Shenglong Zhengtai
Trade and Commercial Development Co., Ltd

against Huai’an Mingyuan Agricultural Development
Company Ltd and Mr. Wang Yong Gang

1. On 4 November 2018, Jiangsu Shenglong Zhengtai
Trade and Commercial Development Co., Ltd
(“Jiangsu Shenglong”) issued a writ against Huai’an
Mingyuan Agricultural Development Company Ltd
(“Huai’an Mingyuan”) and Mr. Wang Yong Gang (“Mr
Wang"), seeking an order from the Nanjing Xuanwu
District People’s Court, inter alia, that (1) the Business
Cooperation Agreement and Supplemental Business
Cooperation Agreement signed by the parties shall
be terminated; (2) Huai’an Mingyuan shall pay
Jiangsu Shenglong RMB30,000,000 as compensation
for breach of the Business Cooperation Agreement;
(3) Huai'an Mingyuan shall pay Jiangsu Shenglong
RMB2,029,250 and RMB5,795,000 as compensation for
breaches of the Supplemental Business Cooperation
Agreement; (4) Mr. Wang shall be held responsible for
Huai’an Mingyuan'’s aforementioned compensations
to Jiangsu Shenglong; and (5) the defendants shall
be jointly liable for the costs of the proceedings and
Huai’an Mingyuan shall be liable for the legal fees of
Jiangsu Shenglong.

2. On 16 December 2018, Huai'an Mingyuan issued
counterclaim against Jiangsu Shenglong, seeking an
order from Nanjing Xuanwu District People’s Court,
inter alia, that (1) the Termination of Cooperation
Notice issued by Jiangsu Shenglong dated 17
September 2018 does not have any force against
Huai’an Mingyuan; and (2) Jiangsu Shenglong shall
be liable for the legal fees of Huai’an Mingyuan.

3. As at the date of this report, the case is still ongoing.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, so far as the
Directors were aware, (i) the Group was not engaged in
any litigation or claims of material importance, and (ii) no
litigation or claims of material importance is pending or
threatened against the Group.
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 August 2018, Super Treasure Holdings Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as vender entered into
the Sale and Purchase Agreement with independent third party,
as purchaser, to dispose of the entire equity interests in Jackmax
Investment Limited and its subsidiary (collectively, the “Jackmax
Group”) and sale of shareholder loan. The total cash consideration
for the sale of the entire issued share capital of Jackmax
Investment Limited amounted to RMB78,000,000. The completion
of the disposal of the Jackmax Group took place on 10 October
2018.

An analysis of the net assets of the Jackmax Group at the date on
which the Group lost control (i.e. 10 October 2018) were as follows:

37. HEWEB AT

RZZE—NENAZ+=A ' KRR ZME
2EMBARZEERERARMEAE ;M
BUE=FEREFLEEWZE - AH
EREREERAAREMB AR (F5HEE
EEED22HREREERRER - HE
BEREARAREMHEBRITRANERSNK
{B4a%E 5 AR¥78,000,0007T ° R —ZT—/\F
TATHTEREEREEE -

RAEEREZEGEZ AHEI T N\F+
ATH)  BREKEENEEFESTNT

HK$’000

FHET
Stock of properties MERFE 41,223
Cash and cash equivalent ReERREERE 2
Other receivables H A pE I F IR 10
Amount due to a shareholder RN —ERREHE (42,686)
Net liabilities disposal of HEFAaE (1,451)
Gain on disposal of the Jackmax Group: BB B M Ias
Cash consideration received ERFESNRE 88,405
Release of exchange difference upon disposal o B B B] 2 FE =58 (1,353)
Less: Assignment of shareholder loan B EERRE K (42,686)
Less: Net liabilities disposed of B HEFEE 1,451
Less: Cost related to disposal B B E B RRI R (5,971)

39,846
An analysis on net cash flows arising from the disposal:  FLHEELMNB L REFEN DN
Net cash consideration ReREFE 88,405
Less: Cost related to disposal W ELHE BB (5,971)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed B RERBFEERE (2)
Net proceeds received from disposal of subsidiaries o BT B A R FTS SR IE 58 82,432
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38. COMMITMENTS 38. A&iE
(@) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2020 not (@ RIZE-_ZTFE=F=+—H WTERY
provided for in the financial statements were as follows: MERBEZRBITEARNFENT ¢
As at 31 March | As at 31 December
2020 2018
R-B=2F RZZT—)\F
=HA=+—H +=—A=+—8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Capital expenditure authorised and ERMATIER RERTHNZ
contracted for in respect of: BARAY
- construction costs - BEK A 397,717 213,695
(b) At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease by RZZE—N\F+=—A=+—H " RBRET
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are ARGHGEHERN 2R RFKEREE
payable as follows: BT :
As at 31 December
2018
R=ZZE—-N\F
+=A=+—H
HK$’000
FHT
Within one year —FR 6,247
After one year but within five years —FRERAFH 17,258
Over five years REE 6,807
30,312
The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties NEFAZHEBERKEHESE 2ME
held under operating leases. The leases typically run for an ZEMT - BEBEN—RILBHRE
initial period of two to five years. The leases did not include FF - HAWEB S EHEEE - L
extension options. None of the leases includes contingent B AS sk R FE S o

rentals.
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TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group has the following material related party

transactions:

(a)

Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in note 9 and certain of the highest paid
employees as disclosed in note 10, is as follows:

39. EXBAEALIRS

BERE M BRERSAHEEI -
VIATERBEALRS :

AEBEDET

HIBZEEAENRS

MR EsAEEETREE AR (BT
EXNFARBAESE 28 k10
BEZETHESHFMATOFMMOT

As at 31 March | As at 31 December

2020 2018

R-B-ZHF R=F—\F

=A=+—H +=-—A=+—8

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

Short term employees benefit EHEERH 22,879 11,183
Post-employment benefits BERL 2R 199 124
23,078 11,307

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
7(b)).

Balances with related parties

Details of the balances with related parties as at 31 March
2020 and 31 December 2018 are set out in note 28.

Material related party transaction

Peony Finance Limited Peony Finance Limited
- AT A A B
BMEERRAT

- A ERAE
SRR ERR AT

- HA B L

= Interest on Convertible Bonds
Double Leads Investments Limited
— Interest on other borrowings
Winning Rich Investments Limited
— Interest on other borrowings

FONEBEENATE IR A (G2

T7(b)) °

(b) E2EEE AT &R
R-EBE-_ZTF=ZA=1+—HE=_ZT—N
F+ZA=+—HEBEEATZEHH
FIEH M EE28 o

(00 BEEREEALRS

As at 31 March
2020
R-Z-ZF
=H=t+—H
HK$’000
FHET

14,370

1,233

8,630

As at 31 December
2018
R=ZZT—N\F
+=-—A=+—A1
HK$'000

FHET

11,015
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40.

41.

42.

FINANCE GUARANTEE

As at 31 March 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
provided guarantees of approximately HK$126,000 to our
customers in favor of a bank for the loans provided by the
bank to the customers of our project (as at 31 December 2018:
approximately HK$204,000).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

During the COVID-19 epidemic, the PRC government have
imposed various measures to constraint the spread of the virus.
This included limiting the locomotion of people and vehicles and
strengthening the markets hygiene controls. These measures lower
the market trading activities and related commission income.
Since agri-products exchange market is a critical link on daily
necessaries supply chain, the local governments closely monitored
markets’ operation and assisted the operation back to normal via
different measures. These included reducing governmental fees
and taxes, and compensating business loss during the epidemic.
As the epidemic began to be under control, the trading volume
and income of our markets have been gradually restored to normal
level.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2020.

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ® Bl ZZE MR
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

b:ibi1d

Wuhan Baishazhou Agri-Products Market, Special
Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling Country, Hongshan
District, Wuhan City, Hubei Province, the PRC
MltERETRILESERTEGE 5%
READMERIERKTS

No. 58 Huahu Avenue, Gang District, Huangshi City,
Hubei Province, the PRC

WAt E | AT R AES85E
BAREREERTS

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, west of Luoji Expressway, Old town
District, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC

A EARG T Z R & R EE T

SR R B E M BRI O

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, south of Kaigi Highway and East of
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC

A RE TR AR A R AR R ZRA
PR R B EE e BB A L

Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Market,
East of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan District,
Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

TERB RN TR LM E KSR
BMNRBIERROMETIS

—Z TR o 2020 Annual Report

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
Y 2 5 18

BREWF

Use

Jik:S

Agricultural produce
exchange market

REMRHNH

Agricultural produce

exchange market

BREMRHMH

Agricultural produce

exchange market

REMRHMH

Agricultural produce
exchange market

RERZHTS

Agricultural produce

exchange market

RESZHTS

Tenure

£

Medium term lease

T EAFE A

Medium term lease

T EATR A

Medium term lease

R EATR A

Medium term lease

HEATE A

Medium term lease

R EATE A

Attributable

interest of

the Group
rEEEGER
100%

80%

100%

100%

51%
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
MEFS

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Location
b3k

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, West of Luoji Expressway, Old town
district, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC
AR T ZMRIE & R B E A

RIE R ERIEMBEEYRT O

Henan Puyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, Area No.033, No.112 Street, Puyang
City, Henan Province, the PRC

AR E RS T 12453803318

RS R R BIE m B PR O

Henan Kaifeng Hong-Jin Agri-Products International
Logistics Centre, South of Kaigi Highway and east of
Xilin Public Cemetery, Kaifeng City, Henan Province,
the PRC

A FE MR AR AL AR AR A Z R A
AR R B B MR O

Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products
Market, South of the Second Ring North Road, Yuzhou
District, Yulin City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, the PRC

Bt & Boa R F M@ Z 3R i A
EMEE R BIE Mt H5 — 5

Phase Il of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-Products
Market, South of the Second Ring North Road and
North West of Longbiao River, Yuzhou District, Yulin
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC
Btk BaER F M@ Z R KR AlRE R

AP R EMRE B BIE Mt 3 mi% — 5

China — ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products Market,
north of Jinhaiwan West Avenue (Entrance of North
and South Highway), Qinzhou City, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC

Bt ik Ba R SN T8 & i R At Al
(FdbmEm B A R)RE - R (M) REM
PNGEE
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Approximate
saleable
floor area
(square feet)
BOBERAEE
(EER)

1,001,000

214,000

104,000

480,000

227,000

1,633,000

SERAT

FHEW =

Use
JizkeS

Agricultural produce
exchange market

BEMRHMH

Agricultural produce
exchange market

BEMRHMS

Agricultural produce
exchange market

BEMRZHMH

Agricultural produce
exchange market

Agricultural produce
exchange market

BEMRHMH

Agricultural produce
exchange market

BEMZXHT%

Attributable
interest of
the Group

rEHE
bR

100%

75%

100%

65%

100%

100%



PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location

3k

Phase | of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-
Products Market, South of the Second Ring
North Road, Yuzhou District, Yulin City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,

the PRC
EFEtEEREEME R EE
INEERBERSETS—H

Phase Il of Guangxi Yulin Hong-Jin Agri-
Products Market, South of the Second Ring
North Road and North West of Longbiao
River, Yuzhou District, Yulin City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC
EFEtEEREEME R EE
ERIBLAERRERBIERLE
M55

Use

R#&

Agricultural
produce
exchange
market

Agricultural
produce
exchange
market

—Z TR o 2020 Annual Report

Estimated

approximate

Approximate gross
site area floor area
(square feet) (square feet)
CREEE)

BALEER BEER
(EHR) (FAR)
448,000 541,000
448,000 758,000

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

E9ELEYE S

Estimate
completion
date

fet
eLEE

2020

20204

2022

20224

Stage of
completion

TR

Construction in
progress

FRATE

Planning in
progress

RENETT

MEFS

Attributable
interest of
the Group

F5E
LT

65%

100%
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Fifteen
months from
1 January
2019 to
31 March
2020
B-ZE-h%F
—A—HZE Year from 1 January to 31 December
nl-ng 23 B—A—BEE+-A=t—HILEE
=A=+-—H 2018 2017 2016 2015
t+HE@EA —T-N\F —T—+F ZE—RF —T—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEr FHT FHT FET FHT
Results ES
Turnover B 1,091,437 778,857 790,059 603,132 365,192
Profit/(loss) before BR AR
taxation (E518) 171,800 (114,079) (301,257) (852,442) (493,558)
Income tax FrisHt (138,475) (65,240) (36,314) 73,884 (382)
Profit/(loss) for the B,/ EREF
period/ year (E518) 33,325 (179,319) (337,571) (778,558) (493,940)
Attributable to: AT AL :
Owners of the Company V/NGIESZ=DN 5,880 (212,596) (340,970) (740,997) (489,117)
Non-controlling interests FERRR RS 27,445 33,277 3,399 (37,561) (4,823)
33,325 (179,319) (337,571) (778,558) (493,940)
As at
31 March As at 31 December
2020 R+=—A=+—H
R-B-ZF 2018 2017 2016 2015
=A=+-—H —E-N\F —T—+tF —T—RF —E—AF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET FAL FHET FET
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets BEE 5,138,673 5,603,672 6,111,476 5,957,204 7,043,243
Total liabilities wark (3,653,308) (4,008,308) (4,153,873) (4,798,198) (5,265,457)
1,485,365 1,595,364 1,957,603 1,159,006 1,777,786
Attributable to: AT AL REM -
Owners of the Company KATHEBA 1,091,640 1,208,971 1,588,311 805,616 1,341,198
Non-controlling interests IR 393,725 386,393 369,292 353,390 436,588
1,485,365 1,595,364 1,957,603 1,159,006 1,777,786
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